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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Jianxiang (appointed on 25 February 2016
and resigned on 1 April 2016)

Mr. Siuming Tsui (appointed on 6 December 2015)

Mr. Chen Zhi

Mr. Hong Pei Feng (resigned on 29 January 2016)

Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (resigned on 25 February 2016)

Mr. Yu Shi Quan

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Wei Dong (appointed on 1 April 2015)

Ms. Chen Min

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 20 February 2016 and
resigned on 17 March 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry

Mr. Cai Jian Quan

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 19 November 2015 and
resigned on 20 February 2016)

Mr. Ng See Yuen (appointed 20 February 2016)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ching Yi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Siuming Tsui
Ms. Chan Ching Vi

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (Chairman)
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren
Mr. Cai Jian Quan
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Mr. Shi Jianxiang (appointed on 25 February 2016
and resigned on 1 April 2016)

Mr. Siuming Tsui (appointed on 6 December 2015)

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 19 November 2015
and resigned on 20 February 2016)

Mr. Ng See Yuen (appointed on 20 February 2016)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong and U.S. law:
DLA Piper Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Grandall Law Firm (Fuzhou)

As to Cayman Islands law:

Maples and Calder

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Co., Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Limited

STOCK CODE
01831

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.shifangholding.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND SUMMARY
MBRERBE

RESULTS ES

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+-BLFE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
-5 _T-mF =—T-=Ff ZT--F ZT——F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Revenues WA 66,972 183,556 270,326 377,242 529,034
Gross (loss)/profit (E8)/EH (5,849) 46,352 76,047 111,875 266,305
Operating (loss)/profit g2 (B8)/&8H (159,294)  (252,746)  (499,116)  (112,912) 82,041
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AT &IEEN
(B#]) /&7
() Equity holders of the Company () A EH#ER
BAEA (163,792)  (304,174)  (516,834) (137,940) 52,978

(i) Non-controlling interests i) FEEMRER (3,388) (2,930) 2,499 7,568 6,043
(Loss)/earnings per share — Basic BR(ER)/BN-EAX

(RMB) (AR®) (0.1755) (0.3621) (0.6153) (0.1799) 0.0727
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

As at 31 December

R+=ZA=+-H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“2-1f TN —Z-=f —T--F C—E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTL AREBTT AR®TL ARETR

Total assets BEE 227,070 307,040 595,576 1,308,971 1,414,639

Total debt BEE 13,579 - - 44,539 49,685

Total liabilities EEY =N 81,352 100,709 82,911 246,966 258,589
Equity attributable to: AT BIEREG RS
() Equity holders of the Company () ARARER

BEA 140,763 211,207 502,861 1,018,831 1,119,045

(i) Non-controlling interests (i) FEEBES 4,955 (4,876) 9,804 43,174 37,005

+ABERERAT —T-AFER 5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND SUMMARY

MBRRERME

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross profits margins:
(i) Overall
(i) Newspaper advertising
(i) Marketing, distribution
management, consulting
and printing services
(iv)  Online services
(v)  Television and radio advertising
Operating margins
Net margins
Return on equity "
Return on assets @
Trade receivables turnover (days)
Trade payables turnover (days)

Gearing ratio

Notes:

2015
—Z-1fF
ERE:
() 28 (8.7%
(i) BAES (25.1)%
(i) & HHEER
@Ak
E il A 7% 7.9%
v) AR 80.3%
v) BERRESES -
BERNEE (237.9)%
R (249.6)%
RAREEO (114.7)%
BERHE (73.6)%
BORWFEAEX (B) 148
BORNIEAER(R) 241
BEARLE 6.0

(1) Return on equity is calculated based on (loss)/profit for the year

divided by total equity.

(2)  Return on assets is calculated based on (loss)/profit for the year

divided by total assets.
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For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+-BLFE
2014 2013 2012
—T-mE —T-Zf ZT-Cf

25.3% 28.1% 29.7%
27.8% 21.4% 19.9%
16.8% 45.0% 51.5%
46.8% 38.9% 67.2%
51.3% (4.3%) (95.3%)
(137.7%) (184.6%) (30.0%)
(167.3%) (190.3%) (34.6%)
(148.8%) (100.3%) (12.3%)
(100.0%) (86.4%) (10.0%)
90 171 226
66 50 7
- - 3.4%

B &L -

50.3%
41.9%

63.4%
92.2%

(174.1%)
15.5%
11.2%
5.1%
4.2%
177

3.5%

(1) BAEHXZFERN (HE) afRAEEE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of ShiFang
Holding Limited (the “Company”) hereby presents the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the

year ended 31 December 2015.

In 2015, China’s economy entered a “New Normal”. Being
dependent on the performance of other sectors, the advertising
industry, particularly the traditional newspapers, radio and
television (TV) advertising segments, suffered a severe blow. In
response to the challenging economic environment, the Group
actively sought new revenue streams and implemented stringent
cost control. The Group streamlined its structure and curtailed
costs and expenses by disposing of unprofitable subsidiaries in
order to divert resources to the core cultural, advertising and
media business. On the other hand, it has further developed
new Internet media platforms with technologies and channels so
as to realise the integration of its online and offline businesses,
and encourage interaction between netizens and readers. It was
also actively seeking development opportunities that can create
synergies with its existing businesses to surmount the challenges

brought by advertising market and media restructuring.

However, these initiatives were still primitive and not yet fully
effective. Therefore, revenue from the Group’s core business for
the year was approximately RMB67.0 million, while net loss after

tax amounted to approximately RMB167.2 million.

Nevertheless, the Group believes that demand for quality cultural
and entertainment products will continue to rise and the related
industries will be fostered by the sophisticated entertainment
culture as well as the rising consumption power of the Chinese.
As such, the Group is actively exploring new opportunities in the
cultural media industry, especially cultural, film and TV media, to
capitalise on the established media platforms under the Company,

foster business growth and improve performance.

EXEOHRES

THEBEAERAR ([RAARDEE([EF])
S([EFSEMREARTERENE R
Al(nREIAEE)BE_T—R"F+_H
=t BUEFEZFR-

—ZE-nF PFEKEEATEROFTE.
EEEAKMUKEERX RAKIEENTT
Xz— BHIREFRNGE EaRERGE
T HHKEBERENEERE AEEEEH
RERR > — AR AR AR hERR
RENHBRR UEFERERETEHXL
NEESERER: S THE - FREMER
BIHEZFNEBRPEREYe BERGLE
TRA BMERRK BENLE RESKE
BREASEXGEZOMERBE BHES
MG MR AR BN -

KM - MAREHEER®E MR AELHEHE
B FEANAEEXTEEBRANARARYE
67.08& T WEHEHEFEROARK167.2
B&IT

BEWL AKERE PEXXCRELEES
Z MEHEEENTEH R HEE RS
MR RKBERBARE THRAERNER-
At REBEBERRRCERER  J 52
MERERERITROMEE FENRAL
AIRANREFERENED REXTTE—
TERRE EREERR-

THERERAT —T—HAFFR
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS' STATEMENT
EEEHRES

To tap into the enormous potential of the Chinese film market and
speed up the development of its cultural and media business, the
Group actively strengthened its professional management with
the aim of steering the Company towards long-term sustainable
development. For instance, Mr. Siuming Tsui (“Mr. Tsui”), a famous
Hong Kong director and producer, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company during the year under review.
The Board is confident that with Mr. Tsui’s extensive experience
in film production, outstanding leadership and management skills
as well as great insight into the market, the Company will lay
a solid foundation for its future development and maximise the

shareholder’s value with new strategies and new ideas.

Last but not least, the Board would like to thank the management
team and the entire staff for their efforts and selfless contributions
throughout the years. The Board would also like to express its
sincere gratitude and humble request to our valued shareholders,
Directors, management, staff, business partners and other

stakeholders for their unceasing support to the Group.

The Board

Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

Influenced by the complex international situation and increasing
downward pressure, China’s economic growth further slowed
down in 2015. According to the data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics, China’s annual gross domestic product (GDP)
in 2015 was RMB67.7 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 6.9%, which was the lowest since 1990. In particular, growth
rate in the fourth quarter dropped to 6.8%. During the year, the
advertising sector was under pressure as the growth of fixed asset
investment slowed down and the continuous credit crunch had
directly affected the real estate and other investment-oriented
industries, which also indirectly affected consumer’s consumption
sentiment in China. On the other hand, “Internet Plus” is having
a profound impact on the way of operation of all industries as
well as the way of living and this is materially affecting traditional
industries. Advertising strategies have been altered by the rapid
development of new media, and the industry is undergoing

structural reforms.

According to the latest statistics published by China Advertising
Association and CVSC — TNS Research (“CTR"), it was noted that
the traditional media advertising market continued to shrink as
a whole by 7.2% in 2015, indicating a comprehensive decline
of the entire market. As shown in the report, the segments
of television (TV) advertising, radio advertising and outdoor
advertising contracted by 4.6%, 0.4% and 0.2%, respectively in
2015. Among those print media advertising segments with severe
decline, magazine advertising fell by 19.8% while newspaper
advertising recorded the sharpest decrease among traditional
media of 35.4%. The performance of newspaper advertising was
the most worrying with four consecutive years of downtown
as the decline rate has increased from 7.3% in 2012 to 18.3%
in 2014 and then further to 35.4% in 2015. Among the top
six advertising segments, spending from the real estate, retail,
entertainment and leisure, and finance dropped by 44.8%,
37.3%, 16.5% and 6.5%, respectively.

BEENWEDH

T¥EE

—E R mE RGBS
MR E TITE S PR EIERE— PN
ZoBEBEERGHAREBEAGELN —T—1F
2FHANEERLE([GDP))ABARBE7.78
L B R6.9% Bl — NN TFURKIE
giw - AR ENFERRNET6.8% - FA -
Wi EFEEEREILRBE  FERRSER
B THEZFURER/RLENTEZIEEN
TE ARTHEZEERHEBEN HRE
ETENEREXKEN -S—HE - [GH#HE+]
ERAMGBEETENEESRMEFSA
HEGEBERK —ENTE MEBHORRE
RS TESRMAKR  STETHRER
M.

BEFEESHBEMAKRTHHAR ([CTR])
BNEANSHEE — S FERNEE
EMHEEETREI2% BATE2E NENR
H-ZBREHBRER —T—AFEREST
fR4.6%  BHEES TFR0.4%  FINES TR
0.2% ° NREBHEKARKN FEERT  ME
EETFE19.8%  HBAESEIBEEAREEF
RKE354% FERH MEAEENBERES
ABE BRBEBEIFERTRBY BEH=
T - HEBENRLETRIZ% J=_ZF—m
FRRBMRE183% M_T—AFMNFR LK
18 SE3#35.4% R ANMEITEFR FHERES
FA4.8%  TEXMBEEBBMIEIT 3% RERIK
BTFE16.5% BIBZIMITESRMETRT
6.5% °

THERERAT —T—HAFFR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWED

As stated in the Report on the Development of China’s Media
Industry (2015) ( (P EIEEE X2 E %5 (2015)) ), the
structural adjustment of the media industry has intensified
and the Internet is replacing the traditional media. Portable
electronic media will gradually become a junction point of media
convergence. The report outlined four pillars of the media industry
namely print media, radio and TV, the Internet, and mobile
network, the last one of which was the most promising. Statistics
from iResearch showed that from 2014, the Chinese mobile
advertising market has been expanding at an annual rate of over
100%. In 2015, its market size has reached RMB59.25 billion and
is expected to surpass RMB250 billion by 2018.

From the above figures, internet and mobile advertising are the
main driving forces for the rapid growth of the domestic media
industry. On the other hand, traditional media has entered a
recession, and some experts even commented that the newspaper
sector is experiencing a cliff fall. Against the backdrop of overall
economic slowdown, traditional print media are prone to
increased pressure, and the Group’s newspaper advertising agency
business, which is still the largest source of the Group’s revenue,

will continue to struggle with challenges.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The slowdown in China’s economic development and the decline
of certain industries have adversely affected the advertising
spending of the respective industries, thereby posing challenges
to the operating environment of the Group in 2015. In view
of the restructuring of the advertising market, the continuous
switch of advertising platform from print media to new media
and the Internet, as well as the reduced advertising spending
in certain industries including the real estate industry due to
their decline, revenue from newspaper advertising, online
services and marketing and promotion services has dropped.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a
revenue from core businesses of approximately RMB67.0 million,
representing a decline of 63.5% as compared with the previous
year. Gross loss for the year was approximately RMB5.8 million,
representing a significant fall of 112.5% from gross profit of
approximately RMB46.4 million in 2014. Gross loss margin was
8.7% (2014: gross profit margin of 25.3%). Net loss after tax for
the year amounted to approximately RMB167.2 million (2014:
approximately RMB307.1 million). The performance of the Group's
principal business, newspaper advertising, was adversely affected
by the increasing threat from new online media and the receding
economy in China. As a result, the Group generated a lower
revenue and experienced a slower restructuring progress of some
of its businesses, such as online media services, than what was

originally projected.

BEENWEDH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEWET AN

In response to increasing market challenges and the changing
operating environment, the Group has sought new revenue
streams and implemented stringent cost control by actively
seeking development opportunities that can create synergies
with its existing businesses and adjusting its business model
and development approach. Mr. Siuming Tsui, a famous
director and film producer in Hong Kong, was appointed as an
executive Director in December 2015. The Group also entered
into a memorandum of understanding with Shanghai Hehe Film
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hehe Film") to use and exploit the existing
media-related capabilities of both the Company and Hehe Film
with a view to jointly investing in, developing, marketing and
managing the production and distribution of motion pictures,
thereby giving new growth impetus to the Company. On the
other hand, the Group also streamlined its structure by disposing
of the entire equity interest in two unprofitable subsidiaries
during the year, namely Greatest Ocean Ltd. and Hung Hing To
Publishing Ltd., to achieve a better utilisation of its resources and
curtailed costs and expenses. The Group also restructured some
of its independent divisions with a view to further centralising
and streamlining internal operation and better allocating jobs
and resources. Investments have been made in reliable resource
providers and business partners have been selected in a timely
manner. To ensure there were sufficient resources available for
the development of core teams and major markets, a team of
competent personnel with expertise in new technologies and new
media was trained, and segments that were not in line with the

Group's future strategic requirements have been scaled down.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, having analysed and reviewed its existing operations
and the prevailing market conditions, the Group has identified
a business model and market segmentation strategy that were
appropriate for its established markets which could bring in new
streams of revenue. The Group further improved and refined its
services and products based on the change in preferences of and
interactions with its clients. The Group took advantage of its
established clientele and resource base in the print media market
and accurately identified the trends of market segmentation
and innovation in order to consolidate existing relationships and
to be ready to improve its operations and to seize any market

opportunities that may arise.

Consolidating client base and expanding into new markets
following business restructuring

The Group has a long-standing and stable client base of
advertisers from various sectors such as consumer products, real
estate, 3C (computer, communication and consumer products),
telecommunications, home appliance retailing, automotive, home
construction materials, healthcare and medicine, education and
classified advertising. This client base has remained basically the
same as compared with the previous year, despite the fact that

advertisers have placed less emphasis on newspaper advertising.

Owing to the shift in consumer needs and the emergence of
mobile Internet advertising, the traditional media advertising
market in China was challenging in 2015. Major indicators of the
domestic property market, such as sold area, sales and investment,
grew at lower rates in 2015 owing to the slower-than-expected
growth of the overall Chinese economy and, in particular, the
credit crunch in the real estate industry. Under such circumstances,
the Group’s traditional advertising business was unavoidably
affected. Despite the considerable pressure on revenue and profit,
the Group managed to maintain a stable clientele owing to the
operational resources accumulated by the Group and the healthy
relationships with clients over the years.

BEENWEDH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWED

The Group believes that given the continuous rapid growth of
the Internet, mobile network and other new communication
media, the Group’s online and new media business is presented
with ample opportunities. Clients’ trust and support form the
engine of the Company’s long-term growth amid a external
environment. Although traditional advertisers have reduced their
spending, the Group has actively expanded its client portfolio
and revenue source by exploring the advertising market of fast-
moving consumer goods, which saw rising spending and are
closely related to everyday life. Such a move has diversified the
Company’s business and demonstrated our cautious but flexible
hand in dealing with external challenges and achieving balanced
growth. In addition, the Group also strives to develop various
media advertising channels so as to become a comprehensive
multi-channel marketing solution provider by providing
comprehensive advertising solutions to clients with the Group’s

diversified online and offline media resources in the future.

Moreover, the Group is committed to improve its services by
tracking and analysing the consumption behaviour of readers,
with the view to expanding the Group’s client base with
innovative advertising solutions that encompass new technologies
and new media. While the business restructuring is at a stage
of adjustment and development, the Group believes that such
initiative will be the basis for establishing a stable business
growth in the long run and will contribute to the Group's future

profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NEWSPAPER ADVERTISING

In recent years, the exponential growth of new media advertising
and mobile Internet advertising channels have diminished
advertising spending and volume in traditional print media. As
such, the traditional media advertising segment has suffered
a severe blow. Coupled with the cessation of Lifestyle Express
beginning from 30 June 2015 due to financial difficulties, this
segment saw a drop in revenue. Furthermore, the Group has
been establishing a platform to integrate its traditional print
media and new media businesses, but the new technology is
only being tested before officially going online and this new
initiative is currently at its investment stage with limited revenue
contribution during the year. As a result of the above factors, the
Group recorded revenue from newspaper advertising of RMB34.8
million for 2015, down by 74.1% vyear-on-year. Revenue from
marketing, distribution management, consulting and printing
services, and outdoor advertising services and activities for 2015
was RMB31.7 million, representing a drop of 32.4% year-on-year.
Despite the drop in revenue, the newspaper advertising business
remained one of the Group's principal businesses and accounted
for approximately 51.9% of the Group's total revenue, a drop

from 73.3% for the corresponding period of the previous year,

demonstrating less reliance on the traditional advertising platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEREWED N

As at the end of 2015, the Group had two media partners,
comprising Southeast Express and City Lifestyle Weekly. In the
face of the pressure and risk brought by new media and the
Internet, the Group has implemented stringent cost controls
and actively sought new sources of revenue during the year to
improve its operations. For the purpose of improving the internal
organisational structure, restructuring was carried out at the

management level and manpower was streamlined.

ONLINE SERVICES

To give its full support to the development of the Internet, the

central government advocated the “Internet Plus” strategy.

Against this backdrop, it is expected that mobile Internet will

flourish in terms of user coverage and become a key source of

information for the public. The Group believes that the mobile
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internet presents enormous business opportunities and will be
the key drivers of future growth in the advertising, cultural and
media industries. To take advantage of the huge market demand
from such development trends, the Group is continuously refining
its business structure by diverting resources from less profitable
segments to online services so as to step up the integration of the
expertise of its traditional businesses with new technologies. In
2015, the Group’s online services continued to consist mainly of
Fangke Web, DNKB (www.dnkb.com.cn) and Duk (www.duk.cn).
The Group has further developed these new Internet media
platforms with technologies and channels that complement
the traditional media in terms of resources and technological
standards so as to realise the integration of its online and offline

businesses.

During the year under review, the Group’s developing Internet
media platforms have yet to deliver any results. Revenue from this
business increased by 66.7% to RMBO0.5 million as compared with
the corresponding period of the previous year. Gross profit was
RMBO.4 million, up by 100% as compared with the corresponding
period of the previous year, accounting for only 0.7% of the
Group’s overall revenue. The Group has high hopes for the
development of its online media business, and will seek suitable
partners in the establishment of comprehensive multi-media
platforms to achieve business transformation, shift its business
focus to mobile Internet operations, expand its market share and

increase its revenue in the long term.

During the year under review, Duk, which is owned by the Group,
had online cooperative publishing rights with over 300 publishers,
860 magazine publishers and 5,000 magazines, as well as digital
cooperative publishing rights with 16 metropolitan daily, evening
and commercial newspapers, making it one of the largest digital
media publishing platforms in China. The Group maintained
paid subscriptions and a profit-sharing system with licensors and
witnessed an increase in the number of active website members.
The Group will continue to grow its online services operation
and seize additional market share. As for e-magazine publishing,
the Group will continue strengthening its technical support
capabilities and speed up the restructuring of its service team to
keep up with the rapidly-developing mobile Internet market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWED

As part of the restructuring process, the Group will actively
launch new and integrated versions of Duk, which will become
an essential part of the Internet cloud platform of the Group. By
cooperating with third-party digital platforms, the Group aims
to establish marketing channels for institutional users. Duk will
also strive to become an information and servicing website, and
will promote the concept of city directories in order to explore
business opportunities and enlarge its readership. Duk will
concentrate on developing a one-on-one service and marketing
model for advertisers with its events and promotional spaces.
To enlist business partners/clients, Duk will make marketing
effectiveness its top priority. Furthermore, it will offer more highly

readable leisure and entertainment content to raise its value.

DNKB boosted the technological capabilities of its existing
products during the year under review in accordance with the
latest market developments. It has already launched its own
mobile application, which has been tested online, with promising
results in terms of the number of advertisers and operating
revenue. With a clearer separation of the healthcare, travel,
automobile and property sections, the links will be more user-
friendly and will greatly enhance the value of DNKB, and will also
encourage interaction with publishers, netizens and readers. In
addition, DNKB has successfully rolled out a new marketing model
with graphics, stories and videos tailored for events such as car

shows.

The overall performance of Fangke Web (www.fangke.cc), the
Group's advertising platform operated by Fujian Fangke Network
Technology Corporation Limited mainly for the property market,
was unsatisfactory due to the general economic slowdown in
China and the slide in property sales. Key features of Fangke Web
include a property information portal, an online property selling
system, an online agency system, an agency software named

“Agency Finder” and management software for property selling.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the areas of online services and mobile Internet, the Group's
technology and product portfolios were still primitive and not
yet profitable notwithstanding continuous business integration
and technological developments. The Group has developed
several end-user applications and unique products, collected and
classified numerous databases and rolled out practical products
which are the necessary technological and product support for the

development of the Company's cloud computing platform.

MARKETING, DISTRIBUTION MANAGEMENT,
CONSULTING AND PRINTING SERVICES

During the year under review, the competitiveness and market
of print media continued to be hard hit by the boom in online
new media. The marketing, distribution management, consulting
and printing service business has a narrow client base. Further,
the paper-based printing operation received a huge blow from
the cessation of one of the Group’s media partners at the end of
June 2015 due to financial difficulties. As a result, revenue from
this segment for the year under review fell by 32.4% to RMB31.7
million, though it accounted for an impressive 47.3% of the
Group’s total revenue due to the plummeting revenue from the

other business segments.

The Group will endeavour to maintain exclusive co-operation
with its existing newspaper partners by selling their advertising
spaces and providing them with integrated services as well
as certain additional services, such as printing, distribution
management, consulting and marketing advice. In relation to
distribution and management services, the Group continued to
provide comprehensive services for Southeast Express. For the
printing service business, the Group's factory in Fuzhou operated
smoothly and printed Southeast Express, China Securities Journal
and Shanghai Securities News. As one of our media partners
ceased publication, the factory in Kunming ceased to provide
related printing service to the media partner and operation was
suspended in July 2015. Nonetheless, the Group will carry on with
its stringent control of the printing quality of its publications so as
to ensure the quality of its advertisements as well as strengthen

the partnerships with its existing media partners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWED

Meanwhile, Fangke Web faced immense challenges in 2015
as sales of the property market slipped as a result of the
macroeconomic slowdown. During the year, planning fees and
commissions from the Group's planning and marketing services
provided to property projects, together with the revenue from
Fangke Web, amounted to RMB22.6 million.

TELEVISION AND RADIO ADVERTISING

As the TV and radio advertising projects failed to deliver expected
returns, the Group ceased cooperation with all TV and radio
stations during the year under review. As a result, revenue from TV
and radio advertising dropped from RMB1.9 million for 2014 to nil

for the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Total revenue decreased significantly by 63.5% from RMB183.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB67.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, primarily due
to the reduced advertising spending in certain sectors, such as
real estate, who have entered an adjustment cycle triggered
by the domestic economic slowdown, the continuous switch
of advertising platform from print media to new online media,
the shift in clients’ promotion strategies and the restructuring
of the advertising market. Revenue from newspaper advertising
decreased from RMB134.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to RMB34.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 and revenue from marketing, distribution
management, consulting and printing services decreased from
RMB46.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to
RMB31.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross (loss)/profit and gross (loss)/profit margin

Gross profit decreased by 112.5% from RMB46.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2014 to gross loss of RMB5.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015. Gross profit margin
decreased from 25.3% for 2014 to gross loss margin of 8.7% for
2015, which was primarily attributable to the significant drop in
revenue caused by the unsatisfactory performance of newspaper
advertising and marketing, distribution management, consulting

and printing services.

Other income

Other income decreased by 57.6% from RMB3.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB1.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015, primarily due to the decrease in

income from sale of newsprint papers.

Other losses — net

Net other losses amounted to RMB15,231,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2015 mainly represented the provision
for impairment of intangible assets while the net other losses
amounted to RMB62.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2014 was mainly due to provision for legal claims related to
lawsuit between the Group and Shenyang Media Corporation,
provision for impairment of receivable from Yueyang City
Intermediate People’s Court and provision for administrative
foreign exchange penalty imposed by Fujian Province Branch of

the State Administration of Foreign Exchange.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by 42.0% from
RMB29.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to
RMB17.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly

due to the drop in revenue during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWED

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by 5.0% from
RMB84.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to
RMB88.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly
due to the increases in provision for impairment of trade
receivables and properties held for sale of RMB15.6 million and
RMB14.6 million respectively, which were offset by the decrease in

staff cost.

Provision for impairment of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Provision for impairment of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables decreased significantly by 73.2% from RMB126.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB33.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly because
provision for majority balances of prepayments, deposits and other

receivables were made in the year ended 31 December 2014.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the above factors, loss before income tax for
the year ended 31 December 2015 was RMB168.2 million,
representing a drop of 44.5% as compared to loss before income
tax of RMB302.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Income tax credit/(expense)

Income tax expense decreased by 123.3% from RMB4.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2014 to income tax credit of
RMB1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 as a result

of the decrease in taxable income for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss for the year of RMB167.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015, mainly attributable to the
decline in newspaper advertising revenue, and the provisions for
impairment of trade receivables, certain prepayments, deposits
and other receivables due from certain metropolitan newspaper
publishing partners, properties held for sale and interests in

associates.

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests

As a result of the above factors, loss attributable to non-
controlling interests increased from RMB2.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014 to RMB3.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2015.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company

As a result of the above factors, loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company decreased from RMB304.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014 to RMB163.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2015.

BEEWED T

FAEIE
BE-_ZTZ—hAF+-_A=1+t—BILFE K&
BB FNEEFEARKIG7T2AE L £2

ERRHAESBATE &5 EEEIRAR
BRE BURETAEITHRLRENE TR
IR Re R EAMBUKFIRNRERE  #F
R EMERRERBARREE R R NER
B R B P ER

FEREREMLER

AR P ZE R ERELEEREZE
Z-ME+_A=+T—HIEFENARK29
BEETENEHE T —hF+=-HA=1+—H
LtFEENAREI4ABE T

KRR FEARLEER

MR EREE AAGREHFEARGEER
BE-T-—NF+_A=ZT-BLEFEHNAR
BI04 2BEB LRV EBEZE_T—HF+2H
=t+—HBILEFREAR¥KI163.8BE T

THERERAT —T—HAFFR

23



24

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s management monitors current and expected liquidity
requirements regularly to ensure the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet its future obligations as and when they fall due.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a
net loss of RMB167.2 million and a net cash inflow of RMB77.0
million. The management closely monitors the Group's liquidity

position and is implementing measures to improve the Group's
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cash flow.
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—B=+—BLEE
2015 2014
—E-hF —E-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Net cash used in operating activities LR EB AR )55 (17,534) (55,398)
Net cash (used in)/generated from WEES (FrA) /3
investing activities BEeFE (12,380) 33,274
Net cash generated from financing activities BEREFSR TR 106,919 700
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeMReSEER
cash equivalents #in, GRd)FEa 77,005 (21,424)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F ¥R & R\ & EEHIAR 32,487 53,911
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRORSERRESEFMEIEAE 109,492 32,487
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash flows used in operating activities
For the year ended 31 December 2015, net cash used in operating
activities amounted to RMB17.5 million, primarily attributable to

the net loss for the year amounted to RMB167.2 million.

Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2015, net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB12.4 million, mainly due to the
acquisition of a property and the addition of equipment, which

were partially offset by release of term deposits.

Cash flows generated from financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2015, net cash generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB106.9 million, mainly
attributable to the proceeds from issuance of 167,000,000

ordinary shares at HK$0.70 each under a general mandate.

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures incurred are mainly for the renovation of
office and the purchase of a property, printing machinery and
office equipment. Capital expenditures were RMB1.7 million and
RMB18.4 million for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31

December 2015, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEN WD

Trade receivables — net B EWFHE - BE
The following table sets out the aging analysis of the Group's TREIINATABAEEE S EYGKIEN R
trade receivables at the dates indicated: e AT -

As at 31 December

Rt+=-—B=+—H
2015 2014
—E-hF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
Aging analysis of trade receivables B S REWIENIRER DT ARMET T ARBTT
1 - 30 days 1£30H 2,402 8,739
31 - 60 days 31£60H 713 7,609
61 — 90 days 61£90H 540 4,263
91 - 180 days 91%180H 1,711 20,258
181 — 365 days 181%365H 4,021 19,901
Over 1 year —F M E 16,075 23,134
Total Bt 25,462 83,904
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables  J&f - & 5 & U 2k 18 5L (B B 5 (15,748) (38,411)
Total trade receivables — net BWE S EWGRIE—F5 9,714 45,493

Trade receivables decreased by 78.7% from RMB45.5 million as at BHORWHRIEBEH_ZE-—NMNF+_A=+—H
31 December 2014 to RMB9.7 million as at 31 December 2015. WARBASSEBITRADTS TN E-_T—HF
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the drop in revenue and TZA=T—HHMARKITEE L T EREH

the recovery of balances of trade receivables during the year. RERWAR D R EE 5 YR IE 4 R
ﬁ o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Properties held for sale

BEENWEDH

KFELHEMR

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8

2015 2014
—E-FF —E=—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Properties held for sale RIEHEME

Properties are classified as properties held for sale when their
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. The amount
of proceeds received or receivable from the sales of properties
held for sale was RMB7.9 million and RMB5.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Trade payables

51,527 78,191

EVENRASBETZAZRFEERFHKE A
WERREERSETHE VMESOBERFE
HTEME-BE-_T—RAFER-_T—NF+=
A=+—HILFE BHERIEEEMERK
FEBOAERES R RARKETIBAE TR
ARBES6AETTC

B2 ENFR

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2015 2014
—E-FF —E—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Trade payables E S EMRE ARET ARBTT
1 - 30 days 1£230H 521 1,294
31 - 90 days 31&290H 1,087 702
Over 90 days 90H A I 2,880 3,893
Total et 4,488 5,889

Trade payables decreased by 23.8% from RMB5.9 million as at 31
December 2014 to RMB4.5 million as at 31 December 2015. Trade
payables turnover days increased from 66 days for the year ended
31 December 2014 to 241 days for the year ended 31 December
2015, which was mainly due to the longer settlement period of

payables for the year.

BoRNHREBEH-_ZE—NEF+=-_A=+—H
MARBSIAE TR P238%E_T—HF
TZA=+t—HMARK4ISAE T -EHEN
REAEHSAEE T NF+_A=1+—
HIEFERREMEBEZE_T—HF+_H
—+—BLFEM4IB FEEHRFAL
REE BN RIB LR BIR AT B
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27



28

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Indebtedness
Indebtedness consists of obligations to lenders, including

commercial banks and certain related parties and companies.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group obtained
mortgage loans amounting to RMB15.5 million, which were drawn
on 27 February 2015. The mortgage terms are 7 years and are
denominated in RMB. The mortgage loans are carried quarterly
adjusted floating interest at 1.15 times the benchmark loan
interest as prescribed by the People’s Bank of China for loans of a

similar length.

Gearing ratio, being the proportion of the Group’s total
borrowings to total assets, increased from 0% for the year ended
31 December 2014 to 6.0% for the year ended 31 December
2015.

Commitments
(a) Commitment for exclusive cooperative agreements

The future aggregate payments under non-cancellable

(R

BEEBRERERA (BREHERITUNETEH
BALRRAR)BEE-
RBE_Z-AF+t_A=+—HLEEFE &K
SEIF E%fﬁ\/\ﬁﬁg155§%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ/\\:
T-RF AT LARR-RBFHRTF
UARBFHE - ZEREBERRTIEFEE
BAAEATERARRITHRBUFHETREN
HEEEHRNENIE BFHE-

REBEZE-_ZT—RAF+-A=+—HLFE"
zkié%tt?z(uxﬁﬁgfam@%ﬁifﬁﬁﬁéF%
Ol E) B E—_T—HF+_A=+—H
IEFEM0% EFAE6.0% °

e
() BRAEBRERE

TR REBRA EIHZEN B RN KEHE

exclusive cooperative agreements are as follows: AN
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+-—H
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREF T
Not later than 1 year —FUT - 63,800
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FUAERAFUT - 227,000
Later than 5 years HFELE - 795,000
- 1,085,800
(b) Other capital commitments (b) Hfth&EAHEIE
As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any other RZE—RAF+ZA=1+—8 x&EIW
capital commitments. A A B AN E -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent liabilities

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine when contingent
liabilities should be recognised, which requires significant

judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible obligation
has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed by future events
outside the Group's control, or when it is not possible to calculate
the amount. Realisation of any contingent liabilities not currently
recognised or disclosed could have a material impact on the

Group's financial position.

The Group reviews any significant outstanding litigations in order
to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors considered
are the nature of the litigation, legal processes and potential level
of damages, the opinions and views of the legal counsel, and
the management’s intentions to respond to the litigations. To the
extent the estimates and judgements do not reflect the actual
outcome, this could materially affect the results for the year and

the financial position.

(a) Lawsuits between the Group and Shenyang Media

Corporation

Regarding the judgement of first instance issued by the
Shenyang Intermediate People’s Court on 30 August 2012
in favour of Shenyang Media Corporation against Liaoning
Aohai, the Group made a provision of RMB17,250,398 in
the year ended 31 December 2014 after a series of attempts
to appeal with unsatisfactory results. To facilitate the
streamlining of the Group's structure, Liaoning Aohai was
disposed of to an independent third party of the Group on
30 November 2015.

BEENWEDH

FEEE
AEBEERER G EREI7R (B A
BERABEE|NESIBEERMAKERRE
BE MERKAFELERHE-

ERAARELRT METERSAZBIFAN
£ B FTRE IR BB R R EAFRESE « B TRl RERT
Sxgmied NeRBEXARE-TMH
AIABHRRAKIBEENXBRAE-BER 57
RRERNEENTERRNEREATE -

:m

AEEGEBIAERNFIRFA UM
BEREARBE -MERNEXRBIEFRAN
HE~E$ﬁEW%¢kF&‘EK$~&¢
B E R & R KR E IR E 4 0 R A
F»ﬂ°1@1E§+&#IJ>9%T\HZ&B%E:B%&@%'E\IJﬁJab
BB EFNEERMBAR -

(o) AEEERFEERQTHFR

HBEBEMHRBRARZEZRER-_Z—ZFN
A=Z+RELHETEGEERRBEF
REERGHFN —FHR REEK
BERXELFIRE REBEE-T—NF
TZA=ZT—BLFEARBEARYE
17,250,3987T ° 7%%&@}%%”%%2!&%! 21
BFERJSENR-_ZT—RFT+—A=T1H
m%%$$§—%ﬁlﬁzﬁ°
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

(b) Enforcement order issued by Yueyang City
Intermediate People’s Court against certain Group
subsidiaries
Regarding the two enforcement judgements issued by the
Yueyang Intermediate People’s Court on 22 September 2013
in favour of Yueyanglin Paper Co., Ltd. against Fuzhou Aohai
Advertisement Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou AoHai”) and Kunming
AoHai Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Kunming AoHai"), the Group
made a provision of RMB22,000,000 in the year ended
31 December 2014 after a series of attempts to appeal
with unsatisfactory results. To facilitate the streamlining of
the Group's structure, Fuzhou AoHai and Kunming AoHai
were separately disposed of to independent third parties
of the Group, on 12 May 2015 and 31 December 2013

respectively.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately 291 full-
time employees. Total staff costs including directors’ remuneration
for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately
RMB51.8 million (2014: approximately RMB73.3 million).

The remuneration of the directors is evaluated by the
remuneration committee and the committee makes
recommendations to the Board. In addition, the remuneration
committee reviews the performance, and determines the

remuneration structure, of the Group's senior management.

The Company operates an employee share option scheme, the
purpose of which is to incentivise or reward eligible individuals
who provide services to the Company for their contributions and
their continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company,
and for other purposes as the Board may approve from time to

time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subscription Agreements

On 22 December 2015 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into two subscription agreements with Mr. Shi Jianxiang
and Summit Yield Developments Limited (the “Subscribers”)
respectively, pursuant to which the Subscribers have conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, 200,000,000 new Shares in aggregate
at the subscription price of HK$0.80 per subscription share (the
"Subscription”). The completion of the Subscription is subject
to conditions precedent as set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 29 December 2015. The proceeds of the
Subscription was applied as consideration under the Agreement

(as defined below).

Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company had
issued 200,000,000 shares at HK$0.8 each on 19 February 2016
to the Subscribers. Proceeds from the share issuance amounted to
HK$160,000,000 (approximately RMB134,730,000).

On 22 February 2016, the Group entered into a movie investment
agreement (“Agreement”) with Hehe Film, pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to acquire 55% of the target income right of
a movie, Ip Man 3, for 30 years. The consideration for the target
income right amounted to RMB110,000,000 or equivalent HK$
translated at central parity rate published by People’s Bank of
China. The consideration has been satisfied by HK$131,168,000
(approximately RMB110,451,000) on 23 February 2016.

BEENWEDH

RB =

RZTE—AF+ZAZ+=H (XRFHHERE) -
RARAGEFEERSZBRERBRAA ([R
BADTIMORERR Bt REACE
B4R ERERANARE B MR =A% &3
714 200,000,000 51 %15 * SR IBE A SRR
BERR170.80/8 T ([REEE]) - REHEETK
SARRBHA-ZT—AFt+-_A=-+IEH
NEFMEEERGHRR - RIEFERATIEH
BEEREIMNZBHE (EERTX) THRE-

HEHERER

RB|ERRE  ARREZZE—X"FZA+A
B M52 88 A #17200,000,000% B 15 © 1EE SR
0.8 7T« 81T IR {0 BV BT 15 5018 /160,000,000
77T (#) AR #134,730,0007T) °

RZEBE-—RE_AZ+ZH AEEHGRY
BRI —HhBEXRE W= ([&ZiHE]) Bt
AEBREREEY (EM3) BREKREERN
55% RH30F - BERWRENRERARK
110,000,0007T ( sk #Z 4 B A K #R17 A 16 & (&
EHHEBERENSEETLERE) AKEER
ZE—RNFZ A=+ =HDB131,168,0008 7T
(49 AR ¥110,451,00070) &5 RE -

THERERAT —T-—HAFFR

31



32

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Prospects

In 2015, the Chinese film market broke box office records with
a year-on-year surge of 48.7%, totaling RMB44.069 billion. In
February 2016 alone, total box office receipts in China amounted
to approximately RMB6.9 billion, setting a new monthly record
and surpassing North America as the largest market in the world
for the first time. It is expected that the Chinese film market will
enter a golden age of development. The Group believes that the
spending of the Chinese consumers on films, TV dramas and other
cultural products will continue to rise and the film and TV drama
markets are promising. As the film and TV industries are closely
linked to the advertising and media industries, in which the Group
operates, the Group is confident that it will benefit from this
development.

As such, the Group plans to reform its business structure in 2016.
While carrying on its existing cultural and media businesses in
a prudent manner, the Group will expand into the film business
to create synergies. To foster its long-term development, the
Group appointed Mr. Siuming Tsui as an executive Director in
December 2015 and as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
in January 2016. Mr. Siuming Tsui, who has extensive experience,
broad network and great insight in the mainland and Hong Kong
film industries, will provide able leadership to the Group’s film
and media business development while creating synergies for
the Group's traditional advertising business by bringing in new
connections and insights.

The Group has formulated short-, medium- and long-term
development strategies for its film business. In the near future
where the film business is still in an early stage, the Group will
enlarge its immediate income stream by actively identifying quality
film projects in progress for collaboration. In the medium-term, it
will seek film partnership opportunities with seasoned production
teams. Once the business has established a solid foothold, the
Group will consider its own film production with the aim of
providing quality entertainment while completing the Group’s
business model with short-, medium- and long-term incomes.

While progressively implementing these strategies, the Group has
prepared itself for a strategic development in the Chinese cultural,
media, film and TV markets where huge potential for growth
presents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at the date of this announcement, the Group has already taken
various strategic measures to lay a solid foundation for its long-
term and sustainable growth. These measures, which include: (1)
entering into a full partnership with Hehe Film in mid-February
2016 to acquire the target income right, being 55% of the net
income from the box office in China of the movie Ip Man 3, at
a consideration of approximately RMB110.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$131.2 million) with contractual guarantees
in favour of the Group (such as an investment cap of RMB110.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$131.2 million) and a
minimum total income from the target income right of RMB16.5
million (approximately HK$19.7 million) within one year from the
first day of release) (as of the date hereof, box office receipts of Ip
Man 3 has reached almost RMB800.0 million); and (2) appointing
Mr. Siuming Tsui to join the Board and as the chief executive
officer, and Mr. Ng See Yuen, Honorary Permanent President of
the Hong Kong Film Directors’ Guild, Chairman of the Federation
of Hong Kong Filmmakers and a famous filmmaker, as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group, will continue to

strengthen the Board.

In the long run, the gradual recovery of the Chinese macro-
economy and the rising consumption power of the overall Chinese
population will boost the Group’s film, TV, cultural and media

businesses.

BEENWEDH
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming Siuming, aged 62, is the chief executive officer
and an executive Director. Mr. Tsui is a famous director and
producer in Hong Kong. He is the founder and the president of
Hong Kong Television Association, was awarded in 2013 “World
Outstanding Chinese” by the World Chinese Business Investment
Foundation. Mr. Tsui holds a Master degree from Jinan University
and an honorary doctorate from Ohio Northern University of the
USA. Mr. Tsui has extensive experience in operations management,
and has served as senior vice president of Asia Television Limited,
chief executive of the Emperor Motion Pictures Group, executive
director of i-Cable Entertainment Limited, chief operating officer
of i-Cable Satellite Television Limited and president of Sundream
Motion Pictures Limited. His film and television work has won
several awards. Mr. Tsui has held directorship in China Trends
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8171) in the last three years
preceding the date of this report. Mr. Siuming Tsui was appointed
as an executive Director of the Company on 6 December 2015
and was appointed as the chief executive officer on 29 January
2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Chen Zhi, aged 50, is an executive Director. He is a qualified
accountant as conferred by the Ministry of Finance. Mr. Chen
was a cadre of the Fuzhou Minhou Tax Bureau from 1982 to
1989 (during which he was granted leave from 1985 to 1988
to pursue his studies at Fujian Radio and Television University),
deputy section chief of the Fuzhou Economic and Technology
Development Area Tax Bureau from 1989 to 1993, and
subsequently the section chief from 1993 to 2002. He joined our
Group in 2003 and pioneered our distinctive business model of
cooperating with newspaper partners to provide integrated print
media services to advertisers, undertook the main decision-making
role in the management of our overall operations and oversaw
the strategic development of our Group. He was appointed as
the chairman, chief executive officer and an executive Director
of our Company on 9 December 2009. He was resigned as the
chief executive officer of the Company on 29 January 2016 and
was resigned as the Chairman of the Company on 25 February
2016. Mr. Chen has accumulated more than ten years of relevant
experience from developing the business of our Group and
possesses a deep understanding of the PRC print media and
advertising industries. Mr. Chen graduated from Fujian Radio
and Television University in 1988 with a diploma in financial
economics. Mr. Chen is one of our controlling shareholders. He
is also a director of TopBig International Development Limited
(“TopBig International”). Mr. Chen is the spouse of Ms. Zheng
Shou Ling and the brother of Ms. Chen Min, a non-executive

Director of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEEBE

Mr. Yu Shi Quan, aged 39, is an executive Director and the chief
financial officer. He is a qualified accountant as conferred by the
Ministry of Finance. Mr. Yu was an accountant at Fujian Lan Tian
Tax Accounting Co., Ltd. from 1996 to 1997, the finance director
of Fujian Huanyu Investment Development Co., Ltd from 1997 to
1998 and the finance director of Fujian ShiFang Investment Co.
Ltd. (“Fujian ShiFang”) from 1998 to 2000. He joined our Group
in 2000 and was head of finance of Fujian ShiFang until 2008
when he became the head of finance of Olympia Media, and,
subsequently, vice president of finance of China TopReach Inc.
in 2009, and was appointed a Director of our Company on 20
December 2011. He graduated from Fujian Radio and Television
University in 1996 with a diploma in finance and accounting.
Mr. Yu has gained significant management experience from his
work with the overall financial operations of our Group and was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Group on 9 June
2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Wei Dong, aged 44, is a non-executive Director. He
was appointed as our Director on 1 April 2015. He is currently
the managing director of China Science & Kingwin Investment
Management Limited, a position which he has been serving for
more than five years since January 2010. He served as the deputy
director of business of Shenzhen China Science & Merchants
Capital Management Group Co., Ltd., from January 2003 to
December 2009. From March 1996 to December 2012, Mr. Chen
held the position as an assistant general manager of EFIZER &
#HR AR (Xiamen Huamin Packaging Co., Ltd.). In addition,
he also had approximately six years of experience working in the
Local Taxation Bureau of Pingyu County, Henan Province. Mr. Chen
received his Bachelor's degree from the 4% & £ of the
Xiamen University in China in 2006, and has been enrolled in the
Executive Master of Business Administration programme of School

of Management of the Xiamen University since September 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Ms. Chen Min, aged 46, is a non-executive Director. She
graduated from the Faculty of Arts, Fujian Normal University with
a bachelor’s degree in arts in June 1993 and a master’'s degree
in arts specialising in contemporary Chinese drama in June 2002.
She also obtained a doctorate degree in arts specialising in
theatrical aesthetics from the Central Academy of Drama in June
2006. Ms. Chen had taken up various academic teaching posts
at the College of Chinese Language and Literature Fujian Normal
University between September 1993 and May 2007 and has been
an associate professor of drama literature at the Central Academy
of Drama since May 2007. Ms. Chen has also served as a secretary
and a member of council of the China Branch of The International
Association of Theatre Critics and a member of the expert panel
of academic degrees and graduate education of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC since May 2007. She was appointed as our
Director on 20 December 2011 and is also the sister of Mr. Chen

Zhi, an executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren, aged 68, is an independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as our Director on 8 November 2010,
and is a qualified senior economist as conferred by the Fujian
Provincial Department of Personnel. Mr. Zhou was appointed as
the chairman of the Qingliu Country Party Committee in 1990.
He was engaged in the newspaper industry in the PRC and held
several positions including the deputy bureau chief and editorial
board member of Fujian Daily from 1996 to 2002, and the general
manager, senior economist and Party Committee deputy secretary
of the Fujian Daily Newspaper Group from 2002 to 2008. In
addition, Mr. Zhou was the vice chairman and, later, chairman
of the Fujian Province Newspaper Industry Association during
the same periods, before retiring in 2008. He graduated from
Fujian Provincial Party School of the CPC in 1986 with a diploma
in politics. Mr. Zhou has extensive print media experience and
expertise with particular knowledge of the Fujian newspaper

industry.

ESNGHREEEBE

Rzt 46p FATEF - R —NAN=
FRARENBREMBABRXER  HHEZE
LEELTEM YR -_FT_F/NANEFEH
HEREE T EELBMA IR —EERF
Tﬂ%¢%ﬁﬂg&ﬁ%xm%ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁ
BrR2L -RETER-NAN=FNLAZE
TLFAANEREEMEANSHEESXE
RAEZEEXRTHBYE XA —_TTLFH
A RS B JE TR X2 & B HUX -
RLLIE —TTLF 0 AREBBEERBET
wRBEFEIEGWE BERPERE S
R REREEREAKE - N T ——F
TZAZtBREZERARAES TRARA
AMITEERERENEIK-

nlw

BIYKHITES
FELCEE 685 BUFRITES MR
—ZEF+—A/\BEZERARRES I
EREEANFBERUAARREBEMER
%imfnhgﬁﬁéE%$%%ﬁ%%§%
ot BREARPEMBETE WIREZE
B BER-—ANAFE_TT_FA (&
EH®R BHERRGBGEZE URRKRZTEZ
E TEEN\FAEEZOBMEEHEALE -
M ER R EZRER LN AEEZR
E%Eﬁ%éﬁ%%@%%%fﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁi
B EBEE_ZZENFRR MR —-NANREFE

ERPHEREERR BICAB R A%
AREYENEREERREENG R
B R TE -

THERERAT —T—HAFFR

37



38

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEEBE

Mr. Wong Heung Ming Henry, aged 47, is an independent
non-executive Director. He was appointed as our Director on 8
November 2010. Mr. Wong took some senior positions, by serving
as the finance directors and the internal audit director, for some
multinationals, the United States and Hong Kong listed companies
engaged in fast-moving consumables, real estates, shopping
malls operation and media industry. Prior to that, Mr. Wong had
worked for two international accounting firms, Deloitte Touch
Tohmatsu and PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Wong graduated
from City University in Hong Kong in 1993 with a bachelor’s
degree in accountancy and also obtained a master's degree in
electronic commerce from the Open University of Hong Kong
in 2003. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants as well as a certified internal auditor. Mr.
Wong has accumulated more than 23 years in financing, internal
controls and corporate governance experience and is currently the

president of a multi-national fast-consumer goods corporation..

Mr. Cai Jian Quan, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as our Director on 20 December 2011.
He graduated from the Anhui University of Finance Economics
with a bachelor’s degree in financial accounting in July 1984. Mr.
Cai was a finance manager of the finance department of Shanghai
Baihuo Headquarters Watches and Glasses Branch between July
1984 and June 1992. He was the general manager of the sales
department of Shenyin & Wanguo Securities Co. Ltd. between
June 1992 and June 2002. He has also been the chairman of the
board of directors of Shanghai Guantong Investment Co. Ltd.

since September 2002.
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Mr. Ng See Yuen, aged 72, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Ng is a renowned film-maker with over 40 years of
experience in the film industry. Mr. Ng is the founder of Seasonal
Film Corporation. Over the years, Mr. Ng has produced numerous
films locally, in the United States of America and in the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Ng served as an independent non-executive
director of Imagi International Holdings Limited (stock code:
0585) from 2004 to 2010. Mr. Ng is the Honorary Permanent
President of Hong Kong Film Directors’ Guild and the Chairman of
Federation of Hong Kong Filmmakers. Mr. Ng was decorated with
a 'Bronze Bauhinia Star’ in 1998, was appointed Justice of the
Peace in 2001 and was the recipient of Hong Kong Film Awards
2013 '‘Lifetime Achievement Award’. Mr. Ng was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20
February 2016.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Xu Kai Ning, aged 41, is the assistant to the president of
the Group assisting the chief executive officer to manage the
new media business. Mr. Xu served as a director and the general
manager of ShiFang YaQi Culture Communication (Xiamen)
Co. Ltd from 2004 to 2008 and also took the role of chairman
of Shenyang ZhuQin ShiFang Media Development Co., Ltd.
from 2007 to 2008. He served as the general manager of the
Investment and Development Center and the general manager of
the Media Commerce Center of the Olympia Media Group and the
vice president of the Integrated Marketing Center of the ShiFang
Holding Group since 2008 until he assumed the role of the
president of the new media division of ShiFang Holding in June
2012.
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EENGREEEBE

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, aged 46, is the assistant to the president
assisting the chief executive officer to manage the asset
management business. Mr. Zheng joined the Group in 2002 and
served as the deputy general manager and general manager of
Quan Zhou ShiFang Advertising Company Ltd. from 2002 to 2006.
He later served as the general manager of the Tangshan branch of
Fujian ShiFang from 2006 to 2010 and the general manager of &
N+ ERESEBRRQEF from 2010 to 2011,

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ching Yi, aged 41, is our company secretary. She

is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy and has accumulated more than 19 years of financial
and auditing experience. She is currently the company secretary of
Zheda Lande Scitech Limited (stock code: 8106), a company listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market Board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Chan joined our Group in August 2010.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of ShiFang Holding Limited (the
“Company”) present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the

"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the business of publishing and
advertising (the “Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015

are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income on page 109.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 and proposed that

loss for the year be retained.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of

this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended
31 December 2015 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the “Financial
Highlights and Summary” section on pages 5 to 6 of this annual

report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 13
May 2016 to 17 May 2016, both days inclusive, during which
no transfer of shares will be registered. To determine eligibility
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road

East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 May 2016.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 18 November 2015, the Company and Orient Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed to
place, on a best effort basis, the placing shares comprising up
to 167,988,424 new Shares at the placing price of HK$0.70 per
placing share (“Placing Price”) to not less than six independent
placees. The closing price of the shares as at 18 November 2015
was HK$2.14. On 1 December 2015, a total of 167,000,000
Placing Shares were successfully placed to seven placees at the
Placing Price of HK$0.70 per placing share. The net price per
placing share is 0.69. The net proceeds of the placing after
deducting all the placing commission and all relevant expenses
are approximately HK$114.6 million, which will be utilised as
additional funds to finance the potential acquisition activities
as identified by the Group from time to time and for its
future developments. In addition, the placing will broaden the
Company’s shareholder base and strengthen its capital base and

working capital position.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year of 2015, the Group had acquired property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB18.4 million.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year of 2015 are set out in

note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company's share capital during
the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”), or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 38 and 20 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The amount of the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 December 2015 was approximately
RMB41.8 million.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations has been made by the Group

during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year of 2015, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's five largest customers comprised approximately 19.5% of
the Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group's
largest customer were approximately 5.5% of the Group's total

sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year of 2015 attributable
to the Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 54% of
the Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier were approximately 32% of the Group's

total purchases.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is subject to a number of laws and regulations in
China concerning overall environmental protection, impact to the
environment, noise pollution and environmental protection for

development projects.

The Group places high emphasis on complying with relevant
environmental laws and regulations. We require its own staff and
construction contractors to comply with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations relating to the quality of construction including
environmental, labour, social and safety regulations, as well as its

own standards and specifications.

The Group believes that it is in compliance in all material respects

with applicable environmental laws and regulations in China.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group's establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC. During the Year, the Group has complied, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, with the relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were as follows:

Executive directors:

Mr. Shi Jianxiang, chairman (appointed as
a Director on 25 February 2016 and
resigned on 1 April 2016)

Mr. Siuming Tsui, chief executive officer
(appointed as a Director on 6 December 2015)

Mr. Chen Zhi (appointed as
a Director on 9 December 2009)

Mr. Hong Pei Feng (appointed on 18 January 2010
and resigned on 29 January 2016)

Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (appointed on 18 January 2010
and resigned on 25 February 2016)

Mr. Yu Shi Quan (appointed on 20 December 2011)
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Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chen Wei Dong (appointed on 1 April 2015)
Ms. Chen Min (appointed on 20 December 2011)

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed 20 February 2016
and resigned on 17 March 2016)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren (appointed on 8 November 2010)

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (appointed on 8 November 2010)
Mr. Cai Jian Quan (appointed on 20 December 2011)

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 19 November 2015

and resigned on 20 February 2016)
Mr. Ng See Yuen (appointed 20 February 2016)

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election, at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Moreover,
the Directors appointed during the year will hold office until the

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and will be

eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 40
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Chang Ren, Mr. Wong
Heung Ming, Henry, Mr. Cai Jian Quan and Mr. Ng See Yuen a
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of its independent non-

executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, which may be terminated by not less than six months’
(in case of executive Directors) and by not less than 2 months’
(in case of non-executive Directors) notice in writing served by
either party on the other. Each of the independent non-executive
Director has been appointed by the Company for a term of three
years and shall be terminable by either party by giving not less

than two months’ prior notice in writing.

During the year, none of the Directors had a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members of the Group was based on their individual performance
as well as market trends and practices. In addition, each of the
executive Directors and the non-executive Directors is entitled
to a discretionary bonus provided that the aggregate amount of
the bonuses payable to all the executive Directors at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Company. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 39 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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The emoluments paid to the senior management (excluding the
Directors) during the year ended 31 December 2015 were within

the following bands:

REE-Z—AF+_A=+t—-BIEE B
NEREEE (EERINOISN T TIE
B

Number

of Senior

Management

EREEEAY

RMB300,000 to RMB400,000 AR #300,0007TE A R #400,0007C 0
Total: et 0

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN
OR DEBT SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Other than the pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) adopted by written resolutions
of its shareholders on 26 February 2010 and the post-IPO share
option scheme of the Company (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the written resolutions of its shareholders
on 8 November 2010, at no time during the year of 2015 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including

debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or

fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, approved

by written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company passed

on 26 February 2010, were set out as follows:

(a)

the purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible participants for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Company and to enable the Company and

its subsidiaries to recruit and retain high-caliber employees;

the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be 27,456,156, representing approximately 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

approval of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme;

the subscription price for the Shares under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 100% of the
fair market value of the Shares on the date of grant of
the option as valued by the valuer to be appointed by the

Company;

save as otherwise stated in the letter of grant, a maximum
of 40% of the total number of the options shall only be
exercisable from the expiry of the first anniversary of the
commencement date; a maximum of 70% of the total
number of the options shall only be exercisable from the
expiry of the second anniversary of the commencement date;
and all the total outstanding number of the options will be
exercisable from the expiry of the third anniversary of the

commencement date;
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subject to the termination provisions in the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period commencing on 26 February
2010, being the date on which the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is adopted by the Shareholders, and ending on
the day immediately prior to the Listing Date (both dates
inclusive), after which period no further options pursuant
to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will be granted but
in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, and options which are granted during the life of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable

in accordance with their terms of issue; and

the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall take effect subject to
the passing of the necessary resolution to adopt the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme by the shareholders of the Company.
The option granted may be exercised during the option
period which shall commence on the expiry of the first
anniversary of the commencement date and end on the date
immediately before the fourth anniversary of the Listing Date
(subject to the provisions for early termination contained in
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme). In the event that dealings
in the Shares have commenced on the Stock Exchange, the
exercise after the Listing Date of any option granted will be
conditional upon the Listing Committee granting approval
of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares which
may fall to be allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise of

any options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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As of the date of this report, options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 27,456,156 Shares (representing approximately
2.3% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of this report) were granted by the Company under the Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme have been lapsed on 2 December 2014.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by the shareholders
of the Company on 8 November 2010, the Company adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to (i) any full-time
or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any Directors (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive Director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or (iii) any advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or

any subsidiaries (each "Eligible Person”).
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The Board may, at any time within 10 years after the date of
approval of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, make an offer to
grant options to any Eligible Person. The subscription price for
shares granted pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and

shall be at least the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer;

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date on

which such offer is made; and
(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date, 73,216,512 Shares, without prior approval from the
shareholders of the Company. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted, and yet to be exercised, under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme to each Eligible Person (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company. Any further grant of share options in excess of

this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, if shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to a participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
any of their associates, in any 12-month period (i) represent in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue,
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant of option must be approved by

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is RMB1.00. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years from the date
of grant of the relevant option. There is no minimum period for
which an option must be held before the exercise of the option

except otherwise imposed by the Board.

As at 31 December 2015, no share option had been granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares (the
“Share(s)") of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers, were set out as follows:

EERROREBRONVERSR

NN
2y

RZE—AF+-_A=+—H EFHRARQA
FEMEBZE(ERRESHF RBEBKIEXV
) el A KRR D ([R5 1) A HEBZEER
*EHJ% B4R EEPIE3S2EARTAFED
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IRESFRIE A g AR 7] KB P A R 2 Sk
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(i) Long position in the Company (i) REQXTNHEFER
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest
EEHE B Mg ' &vig S 4E| EaginEs
Mr. Chen Zhi Interest in controlled corporation 159,362,041 15.8%
(note 1)
BREEHE O S A2 ) [ ) 159,362,041 15.8%
(BH5E1)
Mr. Chen Zhi Beneficial Owner 7,032,655 0.7%
BRE £ BE=EB A 7,032,655 0.7%
Mr. Hong Pei Feng (resigned on Interest in controlled corporation 13,338,027 1.3%
29 January 2016) (note 2)
HIFEEE (RZE—RF PO S K B B 13,338,027 1.3%
—ﬂ:ﬂ—ﬂEl%iE) (FFzE2)
Mr. Yu Shi Quan Beneficial Owner 892,196 0.1%
REFELE EmfEE A 892,196 0.1%



Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by TopBig International, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi.

(2)  These Shares are held by Blazing Sun, which is wholly-owned

by Mr. Hong Pei Feng.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

o 3 :

(1) ZERHBEREEEZEHRENHITH
BREsE -

(2 ZEBRMHARBELEZERFNRG
FHe

FERRRBRORABRGNVESR

RZEBE—RAF+-A=+—H UTAL(E
ERARAEFITHRAEBRN EETHENR
BESFMPEEMEI6EARRETENE
AR D RARE R D R SOX B

Long positions in Shares: RBROBER:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest
=z B REME ROBE HEZBNEIHL
TopBig International Beneficial Owner (note 1) 159,362,041 15.8%
7T BfR BEmBEAA (1) 159,362,041 15.8%
Notes: Bt 5T

(1) TopBig International is a company incorporated under the laws of
the BVI, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen, the executive director

and chairman of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has not been notified of
any other person (other than a Director or a chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 December 2015.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out below
which will be regarded as continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules and subject to the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise defined,
capitalised terms below has the same meanings as those defined
in the Prospectus.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS

Structure Contracts — (1) Beijing BaiChuanDuKe

The Structure Contracts were entered into to establish a situation
in which Fuzhou ShiFangCe Culture Media Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou
ShiFangCe”) has obtained effective management, operational
and economic control over Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and has an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the entire equity
interest of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe when and to the extent
permitted by the PRC law. Beijing BaiChuanDuke's registered
capital amounted to RMB1 million and its registered holders
were Zheng Bo Ling and Xu Kai Ning (Zheng Bo Ling contributed
RMBO.6 million and held 60% of the shareholding interest, and
Xu Kai Ning contributed RMBO0.4 million and held 40% of the
shareholding interest). Starting from 17 December 2015, a party
to the Structure Contracts was novated from Fuzhou ShiFangCe
to Fuzhou DingCe Culture Communication Co. Ltd. ("Fuzhou
DingCe").
an independent third party on 24 December 2015. Pursuant

Fuzhou ShiFangCe has been indirectly transferred to

to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
jointly promulgated by The National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC and The Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC on 31 October 2007 (with subsequent revisions, the latest
being the version that came into effect on 10 April 2015), news
websites and online publication services are classified as industries
in which foreign investors are prohibited from investing, and
value-added telecommunication business (Chinese parties as
controlling shareholders) and printing of publications (Chinese
parties as controlling shareholders) is classified as an industry in
which foreign investors are restricted from investing. As such, the
Company is currently prohibited from acquiring an equity interest
in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, which, together with its subsidiaries,
principally engages in value-added telecommunication business,
news websites, online publication services and the printing of
publications, to incorporate its businesses into our Group.
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The transactions under the Structure Contracts (except those
under the Service Agreement) constitute continuing connected
transactions for our Company under the Listing Rules and are
subject to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules following the Listing.

Reasons for the transactions

The Structure Contracts, taken as a whole, have established a
contractual position which allows the economic benefits of Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe's businesses to flow to the Company. In addition,
all the directors of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe are to be nominated by
the Company. Through the control over the directors of Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe, the Company is able to monitor, supervise and
effectively control the business, operations and financial policies
of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and its relevant subsidiaries, so as to
ensure due implementation of the Structure Contracts. Also, the
Structure Contracts are to ensure that any possible leakage of
assets to the registered equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
is prevented. Based on the terms of the Structure Contracts, the
arrangements under the Structure Contracts also enable us to
acquire the equity interest of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe at the agreed
price. of RMB1.0 million respectively or, in the event that such
agreed price is lower than the lowest price permissible under PRC

law, the lowest price permissible under PRC law.
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Description of the transactions

The Structure Contracts comprise five agreements, namely (i)
the Loan Agreement, (ii) the Equity Pledge Agreement, (iii) the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, (iv) the Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement and (v) the Service Agreement, which were all (except
the Service Agreement which was entered into between Fuzhou
DingCe and Beijing BaiChuanDuKe) entered into between Mr.
Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Xu Kai Ning and Fuzhou DingCe. Mr. Zheng Bo
Ling is an associate of Mr. Chen Zhi and therefore is a Connected
Person of the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Xu Kai Ning, being
a shareholder of Keep Profit International Capital Limited and
a party acting in concert with Olympia Media Holdings Limited
which are controlling shareholders of the Company, is also a

Connected Person of the Company.

(1) The Loan Agreement
Fuzhou DingCe has entered into the Loan Agreement with
Mr. Zheng Bo Ling and Mr. Xu Kai Ning respectively pursuant
to which Fuzhou DingCe loaned RMB600,000 to Mr. Zheng
Bo Ling and RMB400,000 to Mr. Xu Kai Ning, respectively,
on an interest-free basis, to fund their payment, as Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe's equity holders, of the acquisition price
for the entire equity interest in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe. The
term of the Loan Agreement is ten years commencing on 17
December 2015 and the agreement automatically renews
for a further five-year period thereafter unless a written
notice to the contrary is served by Fuzhou DingCe within 30
days prior to the expiration of the initial term of the Loan

Agreement.
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2)

3)

Each of Mr. Zheng Bo Ling and Mr. Xu Kai Ning is not
permitted to repay any of the sums borrowed under the
Loan Agreement without the prior written consent of Fuzhou

DingCe.

The Equity Pledge Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling and Mr. Xu Kai Ning, who, together,
constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
have entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement with
Fuzhou DingCe and Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, pursuant to
which each of them pledged all of their relevant equity
interests in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe respectively to Fuzhou
DingCe to guarantee the repayment of the loans under
the Loan Agreement and the payment of the service fees
under the Service Agreement. Pursuant to the Equity
Pledge Agreement, Fuzhou DingCe is entitled to all of the
benefits arising from the pledged equity interests, including
dividends.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling and Mr. Xu Kai Ning, who, together,
constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
have entered into the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement with
Fuzhou DingCe and Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, pursuant to
which each of them granted to Fuzhou DingCe and its
designee(s) the power to exercise all relevant voting rights
in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe including but not limited to those

relating to:

(i)  the amendment of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe’s articles of

association;

)

3)
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(i)

(iii)

the appointment, election or dismissal of the
directors, supervisors or senior management of Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe;

the transfer or disposal otherwise of all or part of the

equity interest in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe;

the increase or reduction of the registered capital
of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe or other amendment of
the registered capital, or approval of merger, split-
up, restructuring, dissolution or liquidation of Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe, and exercise of other rights of the
equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe as given under

its articles of association or under PRC laws; and

the right to inspect or otherwise review all documents
and information relating to Beijing BaiChuanDuKe,
including but not limited to its business, operation,

customers, financial status or the employment of staff.

Moreover, under the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, none of

the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe may transfer all

or any part of their equity interest in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe

without the prior written consent of Fuzhou DingCe.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement took effect upon

signing and may be terminated either (i) by written mutual

agreement between the parties thereto; or (ii) upon the

transfer by the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe of

their respective interests in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to Fuzhou

DingCe or its designated transferee.
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4)

The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling and Mr. Xu Kai Ning, who, together,
constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
have entered into the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement
with Fuzhou DingCe and Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, pursuant to
which each of them irrevocably granted Fuzhou DingCe or
its designee(s) an exclusive option to purchase, at any time
if and when permitted under PRC laws, all or part of their
equity interests in Beijing BaiChuaDuKe at the agreed price
of RMB1.0 million respectively, or, in the event that such
agreed price is lower than the lowest price permissible under
PRC laws, the lowest price permissible under PRC laws.
The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement took effect upon
signing and may be terminated either (i) by written mutual
agreement between the parties thereto; or (ii) upon the
transfer by the equity holders of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe of
their respective interests in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to Fuzhou
DingCe or its designated transferee. Beijing BaiChuanDuKe is
deemed as the wholly-owned subsidiaries and therefore are

not Connected Person under the Listing Rules.

4)
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(5)

The Service Agreement

Fuzhou DingCe has entered into the Service Agreement with
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, pursuant to which Fuzhou DingCe
agreed to provide to Beijing BaiChuanDuKe consulting services,
including (i) market research; (ii) business development and
market consultation; (iii) consulting services in respect of labor
matters; (iv) construction and maintenance of information
networks and network security; (v) technical support for the
software and technology required by Beijing BaiChuanDuKe;
and (vi) such other services as may be required by Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe and agreed to be performed by Fuzhou DingCe
for Beijing BaiChuanDuKe exclusively in relation to its business
operations in exchange for service fees according to the nature
of the service content and time spent based on market price.
The term of the Service Agreement is ten years commencing on
17 December 2015 and the agreement automatically renews
for successive periods of five years provided Fuzhou DingCe
does not issue any notice of termination 30 days before the

relevant termination date.

The Company’s PRC legal advisor has advised the Company
that:

- each member of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe has been duly

established and is validly existing under the relevant

PRC laws and regulations;
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- each of the Structure Contracts has been duly
authorised, executed and delivered by the parties
to the Structure Contracts and such contracts are
legal, valid and binding under relevant PRC laws and
regulations, enforceable against the parties to the
Structure Contracts in accordance with the terms and

conditions thereunder;

- the execution, delivery and performance of the
Structure Contracts do not violate or result in a breach
of or default under any PRC laws and regulations
or the respective articles of association of or any
material contracts to which any member of Beijing

BaiChuanDuKe is a party;

- none of the terms and conditions in any of the
Structure Contracts (taken individually or together as a
whole) nor the legal structure of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
contravene any applicable PRC laws and regulations;

and

- the execution, delivery and effectiveness of the
Structure Contracts do not require any approvals from
or filings with PRC governmental authorities except for
the Equity Pledge Agreement, which has been properly
filed with the local Administration for Industry and

Commerce.

The PRC legal advisor further advised that it is not an
administrative function of PRC governmental authorities to
issue formal confirmations regarding agreements that do not
require examination by and approval of relevant authorities
under PRC laws. As such, the Company has not formally filed
a request with any authority in the PRC for confirmation on

the legality of the Structure Contracts.
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The Company has complied in good faith in all material
aspects with relevant PRC laws and regulations and its
operation in China was and is legal and valid before and
after implementation of the Structure Contracts except
as disclosed in this report. However, the PRC legal advisor
has advised that there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations,
including those governing its business and the performance
and the enforcement of these contractual arrangements.
As such, there can be no assurance that the relevant PRC
authorities will not take views contrary to the above in the

future.

Accounting policies and Financial Information

This consolidated financial information include the financial
information of the Company, its subsidiaries, and special purpose
entities (“SPEs”) where the Company is deemed the primary
beneficiary. Fuzhou DingCe, one of the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiaries, entered into contractual agreements with Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe (the “Structural Agreements”), where Fuzhou
DingCe provides consulting services to Beijing BaiChuanDuKe,
and is entitled to (1) receive a substantial portion of the
economic benefits from Beijing BaiChaunDuKe; (2) exercise
effective control over Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, and (3) have an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests
in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe when and to the extent permitted
by the PRC laws. By virtue of the contractual arrangements,
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe is an SPE and deemed as subsidiary of
the Company under the requirements of IFRS 10 “Consolidated

financial statements”.
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When assessing whether to combine an SPE, the Group evaluates
a range of factors, including whether (1) the activities of the SPE
are being conducted on behalf of the Group according to its
specific business needs so that the Group obtains the benefits
from the SPE’s operations, (2) the Group has decision-making
(3) the Group
obtains the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE,

powers to obtain the majority of the benefits,

and (4) the Group retains the majority of the residual ownership
risks related to the assets in order to obtain the benefits from
its activities. The Group consolidates an SPE if an assessment
of the relevant factors indicates that it controls the SPE. Based
on the contractual arrangements, the Company consolidated
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe's results, assets and liabilities in financial
statements of the Company.

PRC laws strictly prohibits foreign investment in, and ownership
of, companies engaging in the news websites and online
publication services, and place significant restrictions on foreign
investment in, and ownership of, companies engaging in the
value-added telecommunication business (Chinese parties as
controlling shareholders) and printing of publications (Chinese
parties as controlling shareholders). The Company is considered
as a foreign-invested enterprise, and is required to comply with
the PRC laws and regulations applicable to foreign-invested
enterprises. Due to such restrictions, the Company does not and
are not permitted to have direct ownership of any interest in
Beijing BaiChaunDuKe as Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, together with its
subsidiaries, holds a Permit for Internet Publication ( B B 48 H Ak &F
A[# ), an Operation Permit for Value-added Telecommunication
Business (2B E5 X 4L Z 7 A1 &) and an Operation Permit for
News Publication Printing ( 7 & ) iir 47 ) Joll 8 & &F 7] 3%
the Company conducts the above operations in China principally

. Instead,

through contractual arrangements among its subsidiary Fuzhou
DingCe on the one hand, and Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and its
shareholders, on the other. These contractual arrangements permit
the financial results of Beijing BaiChaunDuKe to be consolidated
with and effectively all of the economic benefits of its business to
be transferred to Fuzhou DingCe. The contractual arrangement is
not related to any regulations other than the restriction on foreign

investment.
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For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, revenue
generated from the printing and online services businesses
through Beijing BaiChaunDuKe was RMB7.3 million and RMBO0.5
million and RMB15.9 million and RMBO0.3 million, respectively,
which accounted for 10.9% and 0.7% and 8.7% and 0.2%;
revenue and gross loss contributed by Beijing BaiChuanDuke
and the relevant businesses in 2015 were RMB26.8 million and
RMB10.2 million (2014: revenue of RMB45.7 million and gross
profit of RMB21.9 million), respectively, which accounted for 40%
and 174.1% of total revenue and total gross loss (2014: 24.9%
and 47.2% of total revenue and total gross profit), respectively;
and the assets of Beijing BaiChuanDuke and the relevant
businesses amounted to RMB89.2 million (2014: RMB126 million).
As Beijing BaiChuanDuke and the relevant businesses have not
contributed any significant profit to the Group in the past, Beijing
BaiChuanDuke and the relevant businesses were insignificant to
the Group. respectively, of total revenue. The Company relied
on and expects to continue to rely on, contractual arrangements
with Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and its shareholders to operate the
printing and online services business components in China. The
PRC legal advisor has advised the Company that the contractual
arrangements are in compliance with and enforceable under the
relevant PRC laws. However, there exist uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations
regarding the performance and enforcement of such contractual
arrangements. As such, there can be no assurance that the
relevant PRC regulatory authorities will not in the future determine
that the contractual arrangements are in breach of applicable PRC
laws. If the contractual arrangements are found to be in breach
of any existing or future PRC laws, the relevant PRC regulatory
authorities would have broad discretion in dealing with such
violations, including revoking the business and operating licenses
held by Beijing BaiChaunDuKe, restricting or prohibiting any
transactions between the Company and Beijing BaiChaunDuKe,
imposing penalties or other requirements with which the
Company may not be able to comply, or requiring the Company to
restructure the relevant ownership, control or operating structure
of the Company or its business. The imposition of any of these
penalties or requirements could result in a material and adverse
effect on its business, and could even result in us being required
to cease the printing and online services businesses completely.
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In addition to the possibility of administrative penalties or other
requirements being imposed upon us due to the relationships
with Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and its shareholders, the Company
may not be able to effectively enforce such contractual
relationships in a cost-effective manner or at all. Under the current
contractual arrangements, if Beijing BaiChaunDuKe or any of
their shareholders fails to perform their respective obligations
under these contractual arrangements, or are required to incur
substantial costs to do so, the Company may be forced to incur
substantial costs and resources to enforce such arrangements
or to rely on PRC law to obtain remedies, including specific
performance or damages, and we may not be successful in
obtaining such remedies or obtaining such remedies might be cost
prohibitive. In the event the Company is unable to enforce these
contractual arrangements, its business, financial condition and

results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Fuzhou ShiFang Printing Co., Ltd., Kunming HanDing Printing
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. and Guizhou ShiFang Printing
Co., Ltd, which are subsidiaries of Beijing BaiChaunDuKe,
currently hold Operation Permits for News Publication Printing (%7
B Bl 40 ED il 45 /& 3F AT 2
& Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Beijing BaiChaunDuKe,
currently holds a Permit for Internet Publication ( & B 48 H! hix & 7]

. Xiamen DuKe Information Science

#&) and a Operation Permit for Value-added Telecommunication
Business (G E B ¥ K& & T A %) for the operation of
www.duk.cn. Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (MR & E X #58 B %) jointly promulgated
by NDRC and MOFCOM on 31 October 2007 (with subsequent
revisions, the latest being the version that came into effect on
10 April 2015), news websites and online publication services are
classified as industries in which foreign investors are prohibited
from investing, and value-added telecommunication business
(Chinese parties as controlling shareholders) and printing of
publications (Chinese parties as controlling shareholders) is
classified as an industry in which foreign investors are restricted
from investing. These views have been confirmed by our PRC legal

advisor.
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The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
Beijing BaiChaunDuKe's financial results are consolidated into
the Company’s financial statements as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the flow of economic benefits from its business to
the Company, places the Group in a special position in relation
to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Structure Contracts
technically constitute continuing connected transactions for
the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable
and would impose unnecessary administrative costs on us to be
subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, in relation to the transactions
regarding Beijing BaiChaunDuKe, the Company has applied
for and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict
compliance with the reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval, annual cap and agreements with fixed
term of no more than three years requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected
transactions under the Structure Contracts for so long as the

Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
In accordance with the relevant Structured Contracts, no dividends

or other distributions has been made by Beijing BaiChaunDuKe to

their shareholders.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Structure Contracts and the above continuing connected

transactions.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive

Directors:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the continuing connected transactions carried out during
the year are in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Structure Contracts so that
the revenue generated by Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and the
subsidiaries of the Company have been mainly retained by

the Group;

the continuing connected transactions were entered into
either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there
is no available comparison, on terms that are no less
favourable to the Group than terms to or from independent

third parties;

no dividends or other distributions have been made by
Beijing BaiChaunDuKe to their shareholders; and
any new Structure Contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and the
Company during the relevant financial period are fair and
reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Company are
concerned and in the interests of our shareholders as a

whole.
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Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction which
needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2015.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company to report
on the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers
has reported the results and their work to the Board, confirming
that the transaction has received the approval of the Directors,
has been entered into in accordance with the relevant Structured
Contracts and that no dividends or other distributions has been

made by Beijing BaiChaunDuKe to its shareholders.
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Structure Contracts — (2) Beijing HongXinTu

The Structure Contracts were entered into to establish a situation
in which Fuzhou ShiFangCe Culture Media Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou
ShiFangCe"”) has obtained effective management, operational and
economic control over Beijing HongXinTu Culture Communication
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing HongXinTu") and has an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the entire equity interest of Beijing
HongXinTu when and to the extent permitted by the PRC law.
Beijing HongXinTu's registered capital amounted to RMB30 million
and its registered holders were Zheng Bo Ling, Qiang Yi Bin and
Xu Kai Ning (Zheng Bo Ling contributed RMB12.0 million and
held 40% of the shareholding interest, Qiang Yi Bin contributed
RMB9.0 million and held 30% of the shareholding interest, and
Xu Kai Ning contributed RMB9.0 million and held 30% of the
shareholding interest). Fuzhou ShiFangCe has been indirectly
transferred to an independent third party on 24 December 2015,
and Beijing HongXinTu has also been indirectly transferred to an
independent third party. Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries
for Guiding Foreign Investment jointly promulgated by The
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC and
The Ministry of Commerce of the PRC on 31 October 2007 (with
subsequent revisions, the latest being the version that came into
effect on 10 April 2015), the classification of Beijing HongXinTu's
principal business of general distribution of books, newspapers,
periodicals and electronic publications was changed from an
industry in which foreign investment is restricted to an industry in
which foreign investment is encouraged. As such, if the Company
had not disposed of Fuzhou ShiFangCe, the Company would be
permitted to acquire an equity interest in Beijing HongXinTu to

incorporate its businesses into our Group.
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The transactions under the Structure Contracts (except those
under the Service Agreement) constitute continuing connected
transactions for our Company under the Listing Rules and are
subject to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules following the Listing.

Reasons for the transactions

The Structure Contracts, taken as a whole, have established a
contractual position which allows the economic benefits of Beijing
HongXinTu's businesses to flow to the Company. In addition,
all the directors of Beijing HongXinTu are to be nominated by
the Company. Through the control over the directors of Beijing
HongXinTu, the Company is able to monitor, supervise and
effectively control the business, operations and financial policies
of Beijing HongXinTu and its relevant subsidiaries, so as to
ensure due implementation of the Structure Contracts. Also, the
Structure Contracts are to ensure that any possible leakage of
assets to the registered equity holders of Beijing HongXinTu is
prevented. Based on the terms of the Structure Contracts, the
arrangements under the Structure Contracts also enable us to
acquire the equity interest of Beijing HongXinTu at the agreed
price of RMB30.0 million respectively or, in the event that such
agreed price is lower than the lowest price permissible under PRC

law, the lowest price permissible under PRC law.
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Description of the transactions

The Structure Contracts comprise five agreements, namely (i)
the Loan Agreement, (ii) the Equity Pledge Agreement, (iii) the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, (iv) the Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement and (v) the Service Agreement, which were all (except
the Service Agreement which was entered into between Fuzhou
ShiFangCe and Beijing HongXinTu and the Loan Agreement which
was entered into between Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin,
Mr. Xu Kai Ning and Fuzhou ShiFangCe) entered into between
Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin, Mr. Xu Kai Ning and Fuzhou
ShiFangCe and Beijing HongXinTu. Mr. Zheng Bo Ling is an
associate of Mr. Chen Zhi and therefore is a Connected Person of
the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Xu Kai Ning, being a shareholder
of Keep Profit International Capital Limited and a party acting
in concert with Olympia Media Holdings Limited which are
controlling shareholders of the Company, is also a Connected

Person of the Company.

(1) The Loan Agreement
Fuzhou ShiFangCe has entered into the Loan Agreement
with Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Mr.
Xu Kai Ning respectively pursuant to which Fuzhou
ShiFangCe loaned RMB12,000,000 to Mr. Zheng Bo Ling,
RMB9,000,000 to Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and RMB9,000,000 to
Mr. Xu Kai Ning, respectively, on an interest-free basis, to
fund their payment, as Beijing HongXinTu’s equity holders,
of the acquisition price for the entire equity interest in
Beijing HongXinTu. The term of the Loan Agreement is ten
years commencing on 13 May 2014 and the agreement
automatically renews for a further five-year period thereafter
unless a written notice to the contrary is served by &/ &%
within 30 days prior to the expiration of the initial term of

the Loan Agreement.

Each of Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Mr. Xu Kai
Ning is not permitted to repay any of the sums borrowed
under the Loan Agreement without the prior written consent

of Fuzhou ShiFangCe.
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2)

3)

The Equity Pledge Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Mr. Xu Kai Ning,
who, together, constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing
HongXinTu have entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
with Fuzhou ShiFangCe and Beijing HongXinTu, pursuant
to which each of them pledged all of their relevant equity
interests in Beijing HongXinTu respectively to Fuzhou
ShiFangCe to guarantee the repayment of the loans under
the Loan Agreement and the payment of the service fees
under the Service Agreement. Pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement, Fuzhou ShiFangCe is entitled to all of the
benefits arising from the pledged equity interests, including
dividends.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Mr. Xu Kai Ning,
who, together, constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing
HongXinTu have entered into the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement with Fuzhou ShiFangCe and Beijing HongXinTu,
pursuant to which each of them granted to Fuzhou
ShiFangCe and its designee(s) the power to exercise all
relevant voting rights in Beijing HongXinTu including but not

limited to those relating to:

(i) the amendment of Beijing HongXinTu's articles of

association;
(i) the appointment, election or dismissal of the
directors, supervisors or senior management of Beijing

HongXinTu;

(iii)  the transfer or disposal otherwise of all or part of the

equity interest in Beijing HongXinTu;
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(iv)

the increase or reduction of the registered capital
of Beijing HongXinTu or other amendment of the
registered capital, or approval of merger, split-up,
restructuring, dissolution or liquidation of Beijing
HongXinTu, and exercise of other rights of the equity
holders of Beijing HongXinTu as given under its articles

of association or under PRC laws; and

the right to inspect or otherwise review all documents
and information relating to Beijing HongXinTu,
including but not limited to its business, operation,

customers, financial status or the employment of staff.

Moreover, under the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, none of

the equity holders of Beijing HongXinTu may transfer all or

any part of their equity interest in Beijing HongXinTu without

the prior written consent of Fuzhou ShiFangCe.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement took effect upon

signing and may be terminated either (i) by written mutual

agreement between the parties thereto; or (ii) upon the

transfer by the equity holders of Beijing HongXinTu of

their respective interests in Beijing HongXinTu to Fuzhou

ShiFangCe or its designated transferee.

(iv)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

1% hn 3K R AE TR R B R T B A=K
EMEAMEAMEET S EL R
EREETTHE 2 BA B
HER ARITEREILFBEE
MAEERARXPBEEZRENL
RERERSFAANEBER:
&

mEFNEM T AEHEBIL RS
BEMWMEXMHRER (BREES
RINEEERE 2& FF BH
AR ERE )RR -

AN RIFRERRRZEHH  ERE
BMTHRFLAZERBEOBRLT bR
BEEREREANSEZRARNIE B
BB &2 B AEMRE D ARAE -

IERARREZEBENEBREN LA
(VBFTHESTHESEHE KRR
ERERGHBEABRESERIERS
BEEMNESERTEM T IRLEETE
EGEAR R -

THERERAT —T—AFFR

75



76

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

“4)

(5)

The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Mr. Xu Kai Ning,
who, together, constitute all of the equity holders of Beijing
HongXinTu, have entered into the Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement with Fuzhou ShiFangCe and Beijing HongXinTu,
pursuant to which each of them irrevocably granted Fuzhou
ShiFangCe or its designee(s) an exclusive option to purchase,
at any time if and when permitted under PRC laws, all or
part of their equity interests in Beijing HongXinTu at the
agreed price of RMB30.0 million respectively, or, in the
event that such agreed price is lower than the lowest price
permissible under PRC laws, the lowest price permissible
under PRC laws. The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement
took effect upon signing and may be terminated either (i) by
written mutual agreement between the parties thereto; or (ii)
upon the transfer by the equity holders of Beijing HongXinTu
of their respective interests in Beijing HongXinTu to Fuzhou
ShiFangCe or its designated transferee. Beijing HongXinTu is
deemed as the wholly-owned subsidiaries and therefore are

not Connected Person under the Listing Rules.

The Service Agreement

Fuzhou ShiFangCe has entered into the Service Agreement
with Beijing HongXinTu, pursuant to which Fuzhou ShiFangCe
agreed to provide to Beijing HongXinTu consulting services,
including (i) market research; (ii) business development and
market consultation; (i) consulting services in respect of labor
matters; (iv) construction and maintenance of information
networks and network security; (v) technical support for the
software and technology required by Beijing HongXinTu; and
(vi) such other services as may be required by Beijing HongXinTu
and agreed to be performed by Fuzhou ShiFangCe for Beijing
HongXinTu exclusively in relation to its business operations in
exchange for service fees according to the nature of the service
content and time spent based on market price. The term of the
Service Agreement is ten years commencing on 13 May 2014
and the agreement automatically renews for successive periods
of five years provided Fuzhou ShiFangCe does not issue any
notice of termination 30 days before the relevant termination
date.
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The Company’s PRC legal advisor has advised the Company
that:

- each member of Beijing HongXinTu has been duly
established and is validly existing under the relevant

PRC laws and regulations;

- each of the Structure Contracts has been duly
authorised, executed and delivered by the parties
to the Structure Contracts and such contracts are
legal, valid and binding under relevant PRC laws and
regulations, enforceable against the parties to the
Structure Contracts in accordance with the terms and

conditions thereunder;

- the execution, delivery and performance of the
Structure Contracts do not violate or result in a breach
of or default under any PRC laws and regulations or
the respective articles of association of or any material
contracts to which any member of Beijing HongXinTu is

a party;

- none of the terms and conditions in any of the
Structure Contracts (taken individually or together as
a whole) nor the legal structure of Beijing HongXinTu
contravene any applicable PRC laws and regulations;

and

- the execution, delivery and effectiveness of the
Structure Contracts do not require any approvals from
or filings with PRC governmental authorities except for
the Equity Pledge Agreement, which has been properly
filed with the local Administration for Industry and

Commerce.
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The PRC legal advisor further advised that it is not an
administrative function of PRC governmental authorities to
issue formal confirmations regarding agreements that do not
require examination by and approval of relevant authorities
under PRC laws. As such, the Company has not formally filed
a request with any authority in the PRC for confirmation on

the legality of the Structure Contracts.

The Company has complied in good faith in all material
aspects with relevant PRC laws and regulations and its
operation in China was and is legal and valid before and
after implementation of the Structure Contracts except
as disclosed in this report. However, the PRC legal advisor
has advised that there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations,
including those governing its business and the performance
and the enforcement of these contractual arrangements.
As such, there can be no assurance that the relevant PRC
authorities will not take views contrary to the above in the

future.

Accounting policies and Financial Information

This consolidated financial information include the financial
information of the Company, its subsidiaries, and special purpose
entities (“SPEs”) where the Company is deemed the primary
beneficiary. Fuzhou ShiFangCe, one of the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries, entered into contractual agreements with
Beijing HongXinTu (the “Structural Agreements”), where Fuzhou
ShiFangCe provides consulting services to Beijing HongXinTu, and
is entitled to (1) receive a substantial portion of the economic
benefits from Beijing HongXinTu; (2) exercise effective control
over Beijing HongXinTu, and (3) have an exclusive option to
purchase all or part of the equity interests in Beijing HongXinTu
when and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws. By virtue of
the contractual arrangements, Beijing HongXinTu is an SPE and
deemed as subsidiary of the Company under the requirements of

IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements”.
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When assessing whether to combine an SPE, the Group evaluates
a range of factors, including whether (1) the activities of the SPE
are being conducted on behalf of the Group according to its
specific business needs so that the Group obtains the benefits
from the SPE’s operations, (2) the Group has decision-making
powers to obtain the majority of the benefits, (3) the Group
obtains the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE,
and (4) the Group retains the majority of the residual ownership
risks related to the assets in order to obtain the benefits from
its activities. The Group consolidates an SPE if an assessment of
the relevant factors indicates that it controls the SPE. Based on
the contractual arrangements, the Company consolidated Beijing
HongXinTu's results, assets and liabilities in financial statements of
the Company.

Originally, PRC laws placed significant restrictions on foreign
investment in, and ownership of, companies engaging in the
general distribution of books, newspapers, periodicals and
electronic publications. The Company is considered as a foreign-
invested enterprise, and is required to comply with the PRC laws
and regulations applicable to foreign-invested enterprises. Due to
such restrictions, the Company does not and are not permitted
to have direct ownership of any interest in Beijing HongXinTu as
Beijing HongXinTu held an Operation Permit for Publications (
hi ) 4% & 7 7] 38
operations in China principally through contractual arrangements

. Instead, the Company conducts the above

among its subsidiary Fuzhou ShiFangCe, on the one hand, and
Beijing HongXinTu and its shareholders, on the other. These
contractual arrangements permit the financial results of Beijing
HongXinTu to be consolidated with and effectively all of the
economic benefits of its business to be transferred to Fuzhou
ShifFangCe. The contractual arrangement is not related to any

regulations other than the restriction on foreign investment.
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For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, revenue
generated from the newspaper distribution business through
Beijing HongXinTu was RMBO0.2 million, which accounted for 0.3%
of total revenue; revenue and gross profit contributed by Beijing
HongXinTu and the relevant businesses in 2015 were RMBO.2
million (2014: RMBO0.2 million) and RMB0.2 million (2014: RMBO.1
million), respectively, which accounted for 0.3% (2014: 0.1%)
and 3% (2014: 0.1%), respectively, of total revenue and total
gross profit; and the assets of Beijing HongXinTu and the relevant
businesses amounted to RMB1.7 million (2014: RMB5.2 million).
As Beijing HongXinTu and the relevant businesses have not
contributed any significant profit to the Group in the past, Beijing
HongXinTu and the relevant businesses were insignificant to the
Group. The PRC legal advisor has advised the Company that the
contractual arrangements are in compliance with and enforceable
under the relevant PRC laws. However, there exist uncertainties
regarding the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations regarding the performance and enforcement of such
contractual arrangements. As such, there can be no assurance
that the relevant PRC regulatory authorities will not in the future
determine that the contractual arrangements are in breach of
applicable PRC laws. If the contractual arrangements are found to
be in breach of any existing or future PRC laws, the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities would have broad discretion in dealing with
such violations, including revoking the business and operating
licenses held by Beijing HongXinTu, restricting or prohibiting
any transactions between the Company and Beijing HongXinTu,
imposing penalties or other requirements with which the
Company may not be able to comply, or requiring the Company to
restructure the relevant ownership, control or operating structure
of the Company or its business. The imposition of any of these
penalties or requirements could result in a material and adverse
effect on its business, and could even result in us being required

to cease the newspaper distribution business completely.
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In addition to the possibility of administrative penalties or other
requirements being imposed upon us due to the relationships
with Beijing HongXinTu and its shareholders, the Company may
not be able to effectively enforce such contractual relationships
in a cost-effective manner or at all. Under the current contractual
arrangements, if Beijing HongXinTu or any of their shareholders
fails to perform their respective obligations under these
contractual arrangements, or are required to incur substantial
costs to do so, the Company may be forced to incur substantial
costs and resources to enforce such arrangements or to rely
on PRC law to obtain remedies, including specific performance
or damages, and we may not be successful in obtaining such
remedies or obtaining such remedies might be cost prohibitive.
In the event the Company is unable to enforce these contractual
arrangements, its business, financial condition and results of

operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
Beijing HongXinTu's financial results are consolidated into the
Company’s financial statements as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the flow of economic benefits from its business to
the Company, places the Group in a special position in relation
to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Structure Contracts
technically constitute continuing connected transactions for
the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable
and would impose unnecessary administrative costs on us to be
subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.
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Pursuant to the Listing Rules, in relation to the transactions
regarding Beijing HongXinTu, the Company has applied for and
the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance
with the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval, annual cap and agreements with fixed term of no more
than three years requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions under
the Structure Contracts for so long as the Shares are listed on the

Stock Exchange.

In accordance with the relevant Structured Contracts, no dividends
or other distributions has been made by Beijing HongXinTu to

their shareholders.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Structure Contracts and the above continuing connected
transactions. In the opinion of the independent non-executive

Directors:

(i)  the continuing connected transactions carried out during
the year are in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Structure Contracts so that the
revenue generated by Beijing HongXinTu and the subsidiaries

of the Company have been mainly retained by the Group;

(i) the continuing connected transactions were entered into
either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there
is no available comparison, on terms that are no less
favourable to the Group than terms to or from independent

third parties;

(iii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by

Beijing HongXinTu to their shareholders; and
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(iv) any new Structure Contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between Beijing HongXinTu and the Company
during the relevant financial period are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Company are concerned and

in the interests of our shareholders as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction which
needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2015.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company to report
on the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers
has reported the results and their work to the Board, confirming
that the transaction has received the approval of the Directors,
has been entered into in accordance with the relevant Structured
Contracts and that no dividends or other distributions has been
made by Beijing BaiChaunDuKe and Beijing HongXinTu to its

shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at

the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Siuming Tsui
Executive Director (Chief Executive Officer)

Hong Kong
29 March 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognises the importance and value of achieving
high standards of corporate governance practices. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is an essential element
in maintaining and promoting shareholder value and investor

confidence.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with the
former and revised code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance since the date of the listing of the shares
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 3
December, 2010, which shall also be revised from time to time
in accordance with the Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed below,
the Board considers the Company has complied with the code

provisions as set out in the CG Code.

Set out below the corporate governance principles and the
practices adopted and observed by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

THE BOARD

The Board provides effective and responsible leadership for the
Company in setting the strategic decision and overseeing the
Company's overall operations. The Board meets regularly and each
Director has to make decisions objectively in the best interests of

the Company and its shareholders.

Board Composition

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 9 Directors, 3 of
whom are executive Directors and 2 of whom is non-executive
Director and 4 of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
The Composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having extensive knowledge, experience and expertise relevant
to the business operations and development of the Group. The
biographies of all Directors are set out on pages 34 to 39 of this
annual report. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors has any other financial, business, family or other material

or relevant relationships among members of the Board.
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The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2015. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board of the Company which includes but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee made an annual review on the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, made
recommendations on changes to the Board that are relevant to the

Company’s business growth.

Chairman and Chief Executive officer
Under Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
Chairman and Chief executive officer should be separate and

should not be performed by the since individual.

Mr. Chen Zhi, during the financial year ended 31 December 2015,
acted as the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company.
The Board met regularly to consider and review the major and
appropriate issues affecting the operations of the Company. As
such, the Board considers that the sufficient measures had been
taken and it would not have impaired the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management. Mr. Chen
ceased to be the chief executive officer of the Company on 29
January 2016 and the chairman of the Company on 25 February
2016.

Board Proceedings

The Company will hold at least four board meetings at
approximately quarterly intervals and will also meet at such other
times when necessary. Formal agenda of all Board meetings are
distributed to the Directors for comments and approval, generally,
at least 14 days before the meetings. Adequate time and sufficient
resources will provide to all Directors to discharge their duties
at which the Directors actively participate and hold informed
discussions. All minutes of Board meetings will record in sufficient

detail the matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.
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During the period under review, the Board convened 1
shareholders’ general meeting, 11 board meetings, 4 Audit

REOBESE EF805
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REZEEH WAERE
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Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting and BEEEE
3 Nomination Committee meeting respectively. The attendance BEERREREN &% 28 BRZEE: %?
of individual Directors at general meetings and meetings of MEZEEeRREAZESTERNLEERNT
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee is as follows:
Meeting attended/held
4/ BEERE
Shareholders' Extraordinary
general general Audit Remuneration  Nomination
meeting meeting Board  Committee  Committee  Committee
REAXE RRHAAE 32 EHRZEE HMzZEE REZEE
Executive Directors HiTES
Shi Jianxiang (Chairman) (appointed on 25 R (1)
February 2016 and resigned on 1 April 2016)  (R=F—7F
ZAZFRAEZFR
R-E-— EmMA—A
i) N/A N/A - N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER TER TER
Chen Zhi (Executive Director) BT (H7EE) 1 1 11 N/A N/A 3
TER TER
Siuming Tsui (Chief executive officer) R (7TE 85 )
(appointed on 6 December 2015) (R-F—7%F
TZANBEEF) N/A 1 7 N/A 1 2
TER TER
Hong Pei Feng (resigned on 29 January 2016)  iE& (R-T—X%
-AZ +j1 AEHE) 1 - 6 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER
Zhang Tie Zhu (resigned on 25 February 2016)  RER (R-F—R%E
“AZ +£ AEHE) - - 7 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER
Yu Shi Quan (Chief Financial Officer) Rtk (EEIHE) 1 1 11 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Chen Wei Dong (appointed on 1 April 2015)  BER(R-Z-1% - 1 11 N/A N/A N/A
MA—BEZA) TER TER TER
Chen Min e 1 - 11 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER
Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 20 February BHA(R=2-1F
2016 and resigned on 17 March 2016) et Jr =t ZE@E&
RZE-R"E=ATtA
BE) N/A N/A 2 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER TER TER
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHTES
Wong Heung Ming, Henry el - 1 9 3 1 3
Zhou Chang Ren BEC - - 1 4 1 N/A
TER
Cai Jian Quan 2R 1 - 11 4 N/A 3
TER
Zhou Xu Xiang (appointed on 19 November — F#M#l (R =E—1E
2016 and resigned on 20 February 2016) +-AtNBEZER
RZZ-"E-A=+H
BE) N/A 1 5 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER TER
Ng See Yuen (appointed on 20 February 2016) 2E& (R -T—1#F
“R-tREZE) N/A N/A 2 N/A N/A 1
TER TER THER TER
THERERAT T —HFFH
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All the Directors have access to relevant and timely information.
They also have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company, who is responsible for providing the
Directors with Board papers and related materials. Where queries
are raised by the Directors, prompt and full responses will be given

if possible.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial
shareholder of the Company or a Director arise, the matter will be
discussed in a physical Board meeting, as opposed to being dealt
with by a written resolution. Independent Non-Executive Directors
with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings dealing

with such conflict issues.

Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. An
updated list of the Directors identifying the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and the roles and functions of the Directors is
maintained on the website of the Company and the website of

the Stock Exchange.

Roles and responsibilities of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success and
interest of the Group through its leadership and supervision. The

principal tasks of the Board are to:

(i)  provide entrepreneurial leadership for the Company with a
framework of prudent and effective controls which enables
risks to be assessed and managed;

(i) set the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the

necessary financial and human resources are in place for the

Company to meet its objectives and review its management

performance; and
(iii) set the Company’s values and standards and ensure that its

obligations to its shareholders and others are understood

and met.
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No event or condition of material uncertainties was found R EIEEHAAI &30 G TR ERTHA Sk
that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to BRI EHARNRELGRELSERENSE-
continue as a going concern during the period under review. The EZERIRBEREENRTE RERTESE
Directors were responsible for the preparation and the true and AFEHEEMAFH 2 ARA R BEHRE -
fair presentation of the financial statements of the Company, in
all material respects, in accordance with applicable regulatory

requirements.

Skills, knowledge, experience and attributes of Directors Efee A8 CREREY

All Directors of the Board had served in office during the period EECMEESROBERBET  SE2AH
under review. Every Director commits to give sufficient time KHEARBERIENREBRARRAIEHK EF
and attention to the affairs of the Company. The Directors also MERBTRITBNESIKENLEE R -H
demonstrate their understanding and commit to high standards TEFFRERNEEEBRARANT HRERE
of corporate governance. The Executive Director brings his BAEEZ N TEBRBIIFNTESEL
perspectives to the Board through his deep understanding of A FE 7R 5 80 B pe I a8 B - AR [ 2 RIS Y
the Group’s business. The Non-Executive Directors and the THAREERTIGO R AANEEEBIE
Independent Non-Executive Directors contribute their own skills HER - ARRIBEERFIEESLHEREE
and experience, understanding of local and global economies, REHESENFBETEZERRIE IS EREN
and knowledge of capital markets to the Group's business. 1% Z 09 &N S B g o

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable

continuous professional development programmes for all Directors

to hone and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Induction and training oA BB B 4

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is EHMERNTHIERTE ST EL2EFE B A
required to undertake an induction program to ensure that he WMRHEBELETE ERIER B 28
has a proper understanding of his duties and responsibilities. RASEXKZEREAEENE Exag
The induction program includes an overview of the Group's @BREF RETFTESSRENEHA EELE
business operation and governance policies, the Board meetings’ EEHNT ERETRBE FHEERT BE
procedures, matters reserved to the Board, an introduction of + _{HAEEENEEZESNEHLIROE
the Board committees, the Directors’ responsibilities and duties, UERAEESRAERABMREETER (M
relevant regulatory requirements, review(s) of minutes of the BFRE)-

Board and Board committees in the past 12 months, and briefings

with senior officers of the Group and site visits (if necessary).

+ABERERAT —T-AFER 89
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Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 of the Revised CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. During the Year, all Directors had participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by
ways of attending training and/or reading materials relevant to the
Company's business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
In addition, all Directors have been updated on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance their

awareness of good corporate governance practices.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions
against the Directors. Throughout 2015, no claim had been made

against the Directors and the officers of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chen Zhi, who acts as the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, is responsible in pioneering the Company's
distinctive business model and undertaking the main decision-
making role in the management of the Company’s overall
operations and overseeing the strategic development of the
Group. The Board will meet regularly to consider and review
the major and appropriate issues affecting the operations of
the Company. As such, the Board considers that the sufficient
measures have been taken and it will not impair the balance of

power and authority between the Board and the management.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed four independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. The Company has
received from each of its independent non-executive Directors
the written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, based on such confirmation,

considers all independent non-executive Directors independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, which may be terminated by not less than six months’
(in case of executive Directors) and by not less than 2 months' (in
case of non-executive Directors) notice in writing served by either
party on the other. The independent non-executive Directors have
been appointed for a term of three years and shall be terminable
by either party giving not less than two months prior notice in
writing. The Directors have power at any time and from time to
time to appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director
so appointed shall hold office only until the next annual general
meeting of our Company and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. In accordance with the Articles of the Company,
at every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being or, if the number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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Relationships and associations among the Directors

Ms. Chen Min is the sister of Mr. Chen Zhi, who is also the
chairman of the Company. Save as disclosed, there was no
relationship between members of the Board (including financial,

business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)).

Company secretary

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping detailed minutes of each
meeting of the Board or the Board committees including any
dissenting views expressed by the Directors, which should
be made available to all Directors for inspection. She is also
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures comply with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and advising the Board on
corporate governance matters. All agenda, relevant materials and
document are required to be sent out at least 3 days prior to the
intended dates of the Board meetings or meetings of the Board
committees. It is the responsibility of the Company Secretary to
send the draft minutes of the meetings of the Board or the Board
committees to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after the aforesaid meetings. Final versions of minutes of meetings
of the Board or the Board committees are also required to be sent
to all Directors for record. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board

procedures and all applicable laws are followed.
Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all
Directors updated on the Listing Rules, regulatory requirements, as

well as internal codes of conduct of the Company.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had confirmed that she

had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by the Directors of the Company of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set forth in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct for dealing in securities by the Directors
of the Company. Specific enquiries have been made with all the
Directors of the Company and all of them confirmed and declared
that they have complied with the required standards as set out
in the Model Code during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2014.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established on 8 November, 2010 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, all are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (Chairman), Mr.
Zhou Chang Ren and Mr. Cai Jianquan.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are:

- To make recommendations to the Board on (i) the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors; (ii) the audit fee and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and (iii) any questions of resignation or

dismissal of that auditor

- To review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards
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- To monitor the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and the Company’'s annual report and
accounts, interim report and quarterly financial highlights,
and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements

contained in those reports

- To review the adequacy and monitor the effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal control and

risk management systems.

- To review the financial reporting system, risk management

and internal control system.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management in
conjunction with the external auditor, the annual results and
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December,
2015, including the accounting policies and practice adopted by
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee
had performed their primary duties to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control procedures of
the Company. The Audit Committee has also held meeting with
the Company’s external auditors, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC") without the presence of executive Directors and
management, to discuss matters arising from the auditing
and report to the Board on material issues, if any, and make

recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the website of the Company and the

website of the Stock Exchange.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren (Chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi (resigned on
1 February 2016), Mr. Siuming Tsui (appointed on 29 January
2016) and Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry, the majority of which
are independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to evaluate and make
recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration
packages to the Directors and senior management which will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and

the Company as well as market trends and practices.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are more specifically set out in its latest
terms of reference, details of which can be viewed on the website

of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the

Remuneration Committee during the period under review:

(@) formulating and recommending the policy and structure of
the remuneration of the Directors and senior officers of the

Group to the Board;

(b) assessing individual performance of the Directors and senior

officers of the Group;

(c)  reviewing specific remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior officers of the Group with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives as well as individual

performances; and

(d) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on

compensation-related issues.

AN Az gk 04
1F EVnﬂ%%

FHESES
ARAN—F-—FF+—-—ANBRIFME
Be YHANAEEEATRNEEBESR
B-FMEZEeRE=aXE NASGCEE
(XF) BREEE(RZZ—RF_A—H#
) HmIBEE(RZT—R"F-—A=-+NH
BEZE)RERBRE KREBDRBILIERTT
EX-FHNZBEMNIERAERTHEZTLT
REEENFMAEAS AR ESSRME
BER BHFHME2REARARBRRNA
KRMiZBE RIEHEE -

ARmREMFMESSRHENER HE
TRE-FHZERRNRENEEIRER
MBREEESEAREL FEUEAL
uh M X P A ua B ] o

&
E\I
o9 W=

MREOEEHRE FMEZE g ETr TERS A
T

(@) BIFIAREEZERERBENFHIER
LR YREFSREES:

(b) FEAREE=LSEBENERRR:

(0 Z2REFENLEXBBERABEMARES
KRB A AEEEENSABENETE
FMEE R

(d) BABRAFMERRE YRESSRHN
=R

THERERAT —T—HAFFR

95



96

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SRERRE

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cai Jian Quan (Chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi (resigned on 1
February 2016), Mr. Shi Jianxiang (appointed on 25 February 2016
and resigned on 1 April 2016), Mr. Siuming Tsui (appointed on 6
December 2015), Mr. Wong Heung Ming and Mr. Ng See Yuen,
Henry (appointed on 20 February 2016), the majority of which
are independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee
selects and recommends the candidates for directorship shall base
on the criterion including professional knowledge, competence,

experience, independence and integrity.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee are more specifically set out in its latest
terms of reference, details of which can be viewed on the website

of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2014. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board of the Company which include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board that are relevant to the

Company’s business growth.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the

Nomination Committee during the period under review:

(a)

reviewing and evaluating the composition of the Board
with reference to certain criteria. These criteria included
qualifications required under the Listing Rules or any other
relevant laws regarding characteristics and skills of the
Directors, professional ethics and integrity, appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, as well as
ability to devote sufficient time to the work of the Board and
its committees and to participate in all Board meetings and

shareholders’ meetings;

reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of the
retiring Directors for reelection at the previous general

meeting; and

assessing independence of the Independent Non-Executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2015. The Nomination

Committee had performed their primary duties to review and

make recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and

composition of the Board,

including its diversity, based on a

range of perspectives with reference to the Company’s business

model and requirements, including but not limited to gender, age,

cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,

skills,

knowledge and regional experience. The Nomination

Committee considered that the current composition of the Board

is balanced in terms of diversity and is able to meet the objectives
of the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December,
2015 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company and the Group and in compliance with relevant
law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is
responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-
sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required

under the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed PwC as the Group’s external auditor. The
statement by PwC regarding their reporting responsibility to the
shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages

103 to 105 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration
paid or payable to PwC for audit services and non-audit services
amounted to RMB3,053,000 (2014: RMB3,600,000), RMB838,000
(2014: RMB856,000) respectively.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing their
design, operational adequacy, and effectiveness on an ongoing
basis to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the assets
of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group through the Audit

Committee.
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Corporate governance functions EERBAE
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate  EEEEEITRBELEBEITCEEASTHETT
governance duties as required under the Revised CG Code: FIEEE T -

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices (@) HIERBIARRANTCEESBRELS

on corporate governance; 1]
(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous (b) BILERAEEEERSABENE

professional development of the Directors and senior officers RFESHEER:

of the Group;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices (0 MIAMRERAQRGBBTETREEHRT

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; B E R ER

(d) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct (d) #HE BIARERBANEERESNT

applicable to employees and the Directors; and BT R

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code () MIAARABBETEEERTARL
and the Revised CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate BRI REERTA UREHAMEER
Governance Report. WMERHBWEER -

During the period under review, the Board considered the REEHE EFeCERATEEER

following corporate governance matters: H:

(i) review of the compliance with the CG Code and the Revised () BIEERETEEEARTIIREEM
CG Code; and ES =il Y

(i) review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and (i BRBZRZESRIASENANIEEE
risk management systems of the Group through the Audit K 2 fg B TR R AT A BICAK

Committee.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communications
with shareholders and continues to act in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. The Company keeps
shareholders and investors informed of its business performance
and strategies by adopting a transparent and timely disclosure
policy which complies with the Listing Rules and provides all
shareholders equal access to such information. The Company
also publishes all documents on the Company's website at

www.shifangholding.com.

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “"AGM") also
provides a forum for the Board to dialogue and interact with the
Shareholders directly. The Directors and the committee members

are available to answer questions during the AGM.

Notice of AGM, annual report, financial statements and related
papers were posted to shareholders of the Company for their
consideration at least 20 clear business days prior to the AGM.
AGM proceedings of the Company are continually reviewed in the

light of corporate governance best practices.
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Shareholders’ rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders
of the Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirements under Paragraph O of the
Revised CG Code which is effective from 1 April 2012.

(a) Convening of general meeting on requisition by

shareholders

General meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting

at general meetings of the Company.
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(b)

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date
of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (as amended from time to time)
or the articles of association of the Company. However,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request
the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting

following the procedures set out above.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the Company's

website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the

enquiries.

Constitutional documents

During the period under review, there had been no significant

change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_E
pwc

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ShiFang
Holding Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries set out
on pages 106 to 236, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
EHEERRER

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
RZFE—AF+=ZA=+—H

2015 2014
—E—FHF —ET—OF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B AR® TR ARETT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BE LEB 7 20,443 40,107
Intangible assets mILEE 8 1,500 18,150
Interests in associates REZE R AN 9 = 9,121
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE ke Rk
receivables E b U FRTE 11 22,907 25,294
44,850 92,672
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 13 5,583 6,560
Properties held for sale FIELEWE 12 51,527 78,191
Trade receivables — net ESRIWFE - 55 10 9,714 45,493
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE -ZE2 Rk
receivables H b e W FRIE 11 5,382 22,273
Amounts due from related parties FEU R E AN R 31(c) 522 24,364
Short-term bank deposits RHISRITIE K 15 = 5,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeSEEE 14 109,492 32,487
___ 182,220 214,368
Total assets BEE 227,070 307,040
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to equity holders AR FEFIFH ABILES
of the Company
Share capital (&N 19 86,295 72,687
Share premium f& 57 @ (B 19 636,180 556,440
Other reserves H i 20 54,971 68,671
Accumulated deficits Z5TE Al (636,683) (486,591)
140,763 211,207
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR M AR 21(a) 4,955 (4,876)
Total equity RREE 145,718 206,331
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

EHEERER

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
RZFE—AFF+ZA=+—H

2015 2014
—E—FF —E—mF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B AR®T R ARETT

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Amount due to a related party
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accrued expenses
Bank borrowings
Current income tax liabilities

Amounts due to related parties

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

&8E

FRBRE

FEf — R RBEEA LR
EEFEHEE

REBAEE
B 5 B3R
H 8 R R BT R X
RITHE R
BIHprE B E
e BEE A LR

maE

BERAEAR

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29
March 2016 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Chen Zhi
PR &

Director

EF

31(c) 688 688
18 360 1,475
______ 1048 2163

17 4,488 5,889
17 41,927 60,890
16 13,579 -
19,267 30,536

31(c) 1,043 1,231
80,304 98,546

81,352 100,709

227,070 307,040

REFGN T RF=ZA-TNLBH ALK
BT WHETNEERREFGESE:

Yu Shi Quan
RS

The notes on pages 111 to 236 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

Director

EF

FINE26 AN TR FYBHRERMNEZE

o

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BOtEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
BE —_FE—FaF+_A=+—HIFEF

2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—F
Note RMB’‘000 RMB'000
B 3T ARET T AREFIT
Revenue A 5 66,972 183,556
Cost of sales 8 5 B AR 23 (72,821) (137,204)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8) EH (5,849) 46,352
Selling and marketing expenses SHE M HF 23 (17,085) (29,515)
General and administrative expenses —MRITEAX 23 (88,767) (84,590)
Provision for impairment of TERT IR - RS R H ML
prepayments, deposits and FIB R ERAE
other receivables 23 (33,800) (126,097)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hidezs, (F5E) — %5 22 (15,231) (62,174)
Other income H b A 22 1,438 3,278
Operating loss KREFER (159,294) (252,746)
Finance income BB U 25 206 1,239
Finance costs & A 25 - (62)
Finance income — net AW F5E 25 206 1,177
Share of losses of associates JERES 2R BB 1R 9 (4,115) (5,191)
Provision for impairment of interests in  F B 45 /2 T) BV 4% 25 Bl (B B¢ 45
associates 9 (5,006) (46,026)
Loss before income tax BT SR AIE B (168,209) (302,786)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrissiEe, (FAx) 26 1,029 (4,318)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRAEBEERZHEHELE
for the year (167,180) (307,104)
Loss and total comprehensive loss U T&EELHERR
attributable to: EHEBHARE:
— Equity holders of the Company —AKRREHERFAA (163,792) (304,174)
- Non-controlling interests —JEfE Rt = (3,388) (2,930)
(167,180) (307,104)
Loss per share for loss attributable to ~ ANAGEZFE ABLEED
equity holders of the Company BREE
— Basic (RMB per share) —EARX(FRARE) 27 (0.1755) (0.3132)
- Diluted (RMB per share) —#E(BRARE) 27 (0.1755) (0.3132)

FINE236ENMEBHEVBRERNEZS

o

The notes on pages 111 to 236 are an integral part of these

D

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BOHERSER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
BE_—_F—hF+_A="+—HIFE

Capital Equity-based Non-
Share Share  redemption Capital Revaluation compensation  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve Teserves reserve reserve reserves deficits Total interests equity
HREAER
Ba  REE RABERE E5EE  ERRE NEMBRE  iRRE  ZHE4 B FEREE  ER4E
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i ARMTR ARBTn ARMTR ARETR ARMTn ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARETR ARMTR ARET:n
Balance at 1 January 2015 RZZ-RE-A-ANER 72,681 556,440 997 4,297 - - 26377 (486,591) 211,207 (4.876) 206,331
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Loss for the year ERfE - - - - - - - (163,792) (163,792 (3,388)  (167,180)
Total comprehensive income 2ENEEE - - - - - - - (163792 (163792 (3388)  (167,180)
Transactions with owners REEANRS
Disposal of equity interests in subsiciaries ~ HEHBARRAER 35 - - - - - - (13,700) 13,700 - 12,908 12,908
Issuance of ordinary shares EAEER 19 13,608 79,740 - - - - - - 93,348 - 93,348
Incorporation of a subsidiary with BERRERIRAI -
non-controlling interest i) I n - - - - - - - - - 420 420
Deregister of a subsidiary AE-ENEAAMER - - - - - - - - - (109) (109)
Total transactions with owners BEEANRHEE 13,608 79,740 - - - - (13,700) 13,700 93,348 13,219 106,567
Balance at 31 December 2015 RZE-BFTAZT-A0ER 86295 636,180 997 41,297 - - 12677 (636,683) 140,763 4955 145718
Capital Equity-based Non-
Share Share  redemption Capital ~ Revaluation compensation Statutory  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserves reserve reserve reserves deficits Total interests equity
HREBER
RE  ROEE REERSEE  BREE  ERRE OFMBE  ERHE  ZHER g3 FERER  ERLE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mg ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARMTR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2014 RoT-ME-A-BHEE 72,687 556,440 997 60,454 919 13,850 31,394 (233,880) 502,861 9,804 512,665
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Loss for the year EMEE - - - - - - - (3041 (304174 2,930 (307,104)
Total comprehensive income 2ENELS - - - - - - - (304174 (304,174) (2930 (307,104)
Transactions with owners HEEANRS
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREETRA - - - - - - 1,057 (1,057) - - -
Disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries i EHBAARAER 35 - - - (31,677) (919) - (6,074) 38670 - 70 70
Capital injection from non-controlling HBARFERRETE
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 700 700
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control 34 - - - 12,520 - - - - 12,520 (12,520) -
Lapse of share options 3 - - - - - (13,850) - 13,850 - - -
Total transactions with owners BEEANRSLE - - - (19157) 919 (13,8%) (5,017) 51463 1250 (1,750 0
Balance at 31 December 2014 RZB-BETZA=T-BM&HR 72,687 55,440 997 41,29 - - 26377 (486591) 211,207 (4876) 206331

The notes on pages 111 to 236 are an integral part of these FI1E236EMMEBILEVBERENEES

financial statements.

7 e

THERERAT —T—HAFFR

109



110

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
BE —_FE—FaF+_A=+—HIFEF

2015 2014
—E-HF —T-mEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B & ARBT R AR¥EF T
Cash flows from operating activities E& EZBAEHESHRE
Cash used in operations KEEBEAR® 29(a) (16,774) (50,777)
Interest received B W F B 25 206 1,239
Interest paid EF B (735) (62)
Income tax paid BEFTER (231) (5,798)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEB AR FE (17,534) (55,398)
Cash flows from investing activities REEZBFESHRESRE
Disposal of subsidiaries net of cash HERBAR  MNKRIRS 29(c) (2,736) (3,925)
Prepayment for acquisition of a Wi — B XA IR
property 11(ii) (15,470) (6,694)
Proceeds from disposals of HE®RVEEMSRIE
intangible assets - 14
Additions of property, plant and RNEWE BRERZE
equipment 7 (2,978) (1,667)
Additions of intangible assets REEBFEAE 8 = (20)
Release of term deposits with BERYIZ AR =ERA N L8
initial term of over three months TFHIER 15 5,000 45,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - KER&E
plant and equipment Fr 1S 3018 29(b) 3,804 566
Net cash (used in)/generated from wEES (FTA),/
investing activities TSR & F 58 (12,380) 33,274
Cash flows from financing activities BEEFBHFESESRE
Net proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE RIS RIA TR 15,435 -
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITER (1,864) -
Capital contribution from non- IR R R E
controlling interest shareholders - 700
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary %717 & i/ J& Fr 15 5018 % 48
shares 19 93,348 -
Net cash generated from financing BEESMERS FE
activities 106,919 700
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BRERREEEEBEEE M,
cash equivalents (CBY) B8 77,005 (21,424)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F¥MEE KRS EEEE
of the year 14 32,487 53,911
Cash and cash equivalents atend of EXRNBEERESZEIEE
the year 14 109,492 32,487

The notes on pages 111 to 236 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

ShiFang Holding Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the business of publishing and
advertising (the "Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands
on 9 December 2009 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (2009 Revision
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is PO
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman

Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
on 29 March 2016.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of ShiFang
Holding Limited have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS"). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical

cost convention.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures

(@)  Amendments to standards effective in 2015

The Group has adopted the following
amended standards for the accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015:

Amendments to Defined benefit plans:

IAS 19 employee contributions
Annual Annual Improvements
Improvement 2010-2012 Cycle
Project
Annual Annual Improvements
Improvement 2011-2013 Cycle
Project

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(a)

Amendments to standards effective in 2015
(continued)
Amendments to IAS 19 — Defined benefit

plans: employee contributions

Amendment to IAS 19 on contributions
from employees or third parties to defined
benefit plans. The amendment distinguishes
between contributions that are linked to
service only in the period in which they
arise and those linked to service in more
than one period. The amendment allows
contributions that are linked to service, and
do not vary with the length of employee
service, to be deducted from the cost of
benefits earned in the period that the
service is provided. Contributions that are
linked to service, and vary according to the
length of employee service, must be spread
over the service period using the same
attribution method that is applied to the

benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(a)

Amendments to standards effective in 2015
(continued)

Amendments from annual improvements
to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle, on IFRS 8,
‘Operating segments’, IAS 16, 'Property,
plant and equipment’ and IAS 38,
‘Intangible assets’ and IAS 24, ‘Related

party disclosures’.

o IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’

The standard is amended to require
disclosure of the judgements made by
management in aggregating operating
segments and a reconciliation of
segment assets to the entity’s assets

when segment assets are reported.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESFTHEME (F)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 RBE%E (&)
2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and 21287 BRRIEESS
disclosures (continued) (%)
(a)  Amendments to standards effective in 2015 (@) RZ-E—AFENA
(continued) BRI EET A (&)
e IAS 16, 'Property, plant and o PIREEAEAE16
equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible U EZE f% K
assets’ wiE RBERE
% A 385K Hﬁiﬁ;
BE]
Both standards are amended to clarify 1BE] M IB 4R §
how the gross carrying amount and EXREERERE
the accumulated depreciation are il (R B B 40 {A] B 12
treated where an entity uses the FHReER&EAR
revaluation model. mE-
e |AS 24, 'Related Party Disclosures’ . BResrERE
245% [FA@ A+ 8
%
The reporting entity is not required to WMEERBBARE
disclose the compensation paid by the ERER (ERHE
management entity (as a related party) EALT)RAERERE
to the management entity’s employee BEERESIN
or directors, but it is required to B 37BN - MEZE I FE
disclose the amounts charged to the EREREATRME
reporting entity by the management AR 75 1) ¥R E BB UK
entity for services provided. B H) &5

+ABERERAT —T-AFER 115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO MR

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)
(@) Amendments to standards effective in 2015
(continued)
Amendments from annual improvements
to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle, on IFRS 3,
‘Business combinations’, IFRS 13, ‘Fair value

measurement’ and IAS 40, ‘Investment

property’.

. IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

It clarifies that IFRS 3 does not apply
to the accounting for the formation of
any joint arrangement under IFRS 11
in the financial statements of the joint

arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)
(@) Amendments to standards effective in 2015
(continued)

° IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’

It clarifies that the portfolio exception
in IFRS 13, which allows an entity to
measure the fair value of a group of
financial assets and financial liabilities
on a net basis, applies to all contracts
(including non-financial contracts)
within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9.

o IAS 40, ‘Investment property’

It clarifies that the interrelationship
between IAS 40 and IFRS 3 when
classifying property as investment

property or owner-occupied property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(a)

(b)

Amendments to standards effective in 2015
(continued)

The adoption of these revised IFRSs has
not led to any significant changes in
the accounting policies applied in these
consolidated financial statements, and has
no material effect on the Group's results
and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods reflected in these

consolidated financial statements.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9
“Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
come into operation during the financial
year, as a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain
information in the consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(c)

Standards and amendments that are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted

by the Group
Amendments to
IAS 1
Amendments to
IAS 16 and
IAS 38
Amendments to
IAS 16 and
IAS 41
Amendments to
IAS 27
Amendments to
IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to
IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and
IAS 28

Disclosure initiative

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Sales or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Investment entities: applying

the consolidation exception
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(c)

Standards and amendments that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group (continued)
Amendment to  Accounting for Acquisitions
IFRS 11 of Interests in Joint
Operations

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
IFRS 16 Leases
Annual Annual Improvements
Improvement 2012-2014 Cycle

Project

The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new
standards and amendments to the existing
standards, but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new standards and
amendments would have a significant
impact on its results of operation and

finance position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)

Subsidiaries
Consolidation
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
The

Group controls an entity when the Group is

entity) over which the Group has control.

exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are

also recorded in equity.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements

of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2 FESTTHESE (&)

22 AHtUBEHER (A)

(a)

MEAR (&)
THRIZEFEZZ) 0] E 2 7]

B HED
SR IRIE R I 5 10 1 48

MR ARG AARRY SHE
w5 NERBARERA
NEEAFDETHRS - E
2 REN R B EEZH
[ R BF A B B & B A T IR
BHRHEAMENZERERA
B o MIFRIR i an B A eas
BB EE ARK e

B FHHE

A BT B8 R BBV 5 B TH A B AR
B AR - RABRER
BEMBERBEKA B RA
B R A RRE R R B AR
BARRe

=R DSy = NI RS S N0
BoMkEBBNBARES
K EHEN Mk EesE
X fin B S B A IR IR B R E
THBBRRENFEE (8
EEE)EA MM B HRERME
TR AN EREREER
TTRE R,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(b)

Structured entity

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company, its
subsidiaries, and structured entity where the
Company is deemed the primary beneficiary.
Fuzhou DingCe Culture Communication Co. Ltd.,
one of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
entered into contractual agreements with Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
where Fuzhou DingCe Culture provides consulting
services to Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, and is entitled
to (1) receive a substantial portion of the
economic benefits from Beijing BaiChuanDuKe;
(2) exercise effective control over Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe, and (3) have an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe when and to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. By virtue of the
contractual arrangements, Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
is a structured entity and deemed as subsidiary of
the Company under the requirements of IFRS 10

“Consolidated financial statements”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(b)

Structured entity (continued)

When assessing whether to combine a structured
entity, the Group evaluates a range of factors,
including whether (1) the activities of the
structured entity are being conducted on behalf
of the Group according to its specific business
needs so that the Group obtains the benefits
from the structured entity’s operations, (2) the
Group has decision-making powers to obtain the
majority of the benefits, (3) the Group obtains
the majority of the benefits of the activities of the
structured entity, and (4) the Group retains the
majority of the residual ownership risks related to
the assets in order to obtain the benefits from its
activities. The Group consolidates an structured
entity if an assessment of the relevant factors

indicates that it controls the structured entity.

Based on the contractual arrangements, the
Company consolidated Beijing BaiChuanDuKe's
results, assets and liabilities in financial

statements of ShiFang Holding Limited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control,
generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the
investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s
investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is

accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is

reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(c)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
If this

is the case, the Group calculates the amount

investment in the associate is impaired.

of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to ‘share of losses of associates’
for using equity method in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(c)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided to

the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The

CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources

and assessing performance of the operating segments,

has been identified as the Board that makes strategic

decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company’s functional and the Group's

presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within ‘general and

administrative expenses’.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(iy  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on

the dates of the transactions); and

(iiiy ~all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive

income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 25 ME-BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Leasehold 5 — 10 years or the remaining
improvements term of any non-renewable

lease, whichever is shorter
Machinery 5-10 years
Fixture, furniture 5 years
and equipment

Motor vehicles 5-10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘General and administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair

value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored

at the operating segment level.

BOFB R MIEE

2 FESTTHESE (&)

2.5

2.6

ME- BERRE (M)
AENFIBEERAEDEHES
4 SR T B - 3
NEES

WEEMNEmSBEBBEMETTYK
Bl &% AEEMNKRAESAREM
BEETK B2 (M:F2.7) °

HEEENKRaE BRI BLE
FISRIEREASEMETE IR
EHEERERN—REITHRHF
] AHER

BREE

B

WHEB A RIFMELNHE  BM
HEEAE RNRKE TR EMIEE
Pt s & 88 R O W B 0 M (R 5t
FIRAEEOEEBRAREBERD
PriiE Rl B R EEN R AEER
ER

SBEREN S HEBEHER

MEEesEERMKBZERE G

MR ER S ERSFEREEE

B -EokmEmSELxsd

ﬁh%ﬁ? %W?%W*Bféﬁﬁ H 1 %
E1T cHER
K]

THERERAT —T—AFFR

131



132

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of CGU containing goodwill is compared
to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense

and is not subsequently reversed.

Trademarks and licences

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown
at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks
and licences over their estimated useful lives of seven

years.

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (continued)
Computer software and web site
Costs associated with maintaining computer software
programme and web site are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique computer software and web site controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when

the following criteria are met:

o It is technically feasible to complete the computer
software and web site so that they will be

available for use;

o Management intends to complete the computer

software and web site, and use or sell them;

o There is an ability to use or sell the computer

software and web site;

o It can be demonstrated how the computer
software and web site will generate probable

future economic benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the computer software and web site are available;

and

o The expenditure attributable to the computer
software and web site during their development

can be reliably measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets (continued)

Computer software and web site (continued)
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part
of the computer software and web site cost include
the development employee costs. Other development
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not

recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Remaining computer software and web site costs
recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives and the terms of validity granted by

corresponding authorities, which are three years.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible
assets is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to
which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised as

an expense as incurred.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting

date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Properties held for sale

2.9

Properties are classified as properties held for sale

when their carrying amount is to be recovered

principally through a sale transaction and a sale is

considered highly probable. They are stated at the

lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs

to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered

principally through a sale transaction rather than

through continuing use.

Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans

and receivables. The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets

were acquired. Management determines the

classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

(a)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled
or expected to be settled more than 12
months after the end of the reporting
period. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group's loans and receivables
comprise ‘Trade and other receivables’,
and ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ in the
consolidated balance sheet (Notes 2.13 and
2.14).
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial

assets not carried at fair value through profit or

loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and

receivables are subsequently carried at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in

the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the

Company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(@ "loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that
there is objective evidence of an impairment loss

include:

° Significant financial difficulty of the obligor;

o A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments,

o The Group, for economic or legal reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
granting to the borrower a concession that

the lender would not otherwise consider;

° It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

° The disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RO SRR MR

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

° Observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of financial
assets since the initial recognition of those
assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets

in the portfolio, including:

(i)  adverse changes in the payment status

of borrowers in the portfolio; and

(i)  national or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on the

assets in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of
an instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHBEME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

21N EBMEERE (&)

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods comprises
newsprint paper and printing consumables. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.

If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for

impairment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits
held at call with banks with original maturities of three

months or less.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current

liabilities.

Trade payable are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the Company, its subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. The deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (continued)
Inside basis differences (continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a

net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

Full time employees of the PRC entities
participate in a government mandated
multiemployer defined contribution plan pursuant
to which certain pension benefits, medical care,
unemployment insurance, employee housing
fund and other welfare benefits are provided to
employees. Chinese labor regulations require the
Company to accrue for these benefits based on
certain percentages of the employees’ salaries.
Management believes full time employees who
have passed the probation period are entitled to

such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(d)

Employee leaves entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service payment as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date. Employee entitlements to sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until

the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

Equity-based compensation

The Group operates employee share option
scheme, under which the entity receives services
from eligible participants as consideration
for options to acquire ordinary shares of the

Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Equity-based compensation (continued)

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair

value of the options granted:

° including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’'s share

price);

o excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for

employees to save).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding

adjustment to equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Equity-based compensation (continued)
The cash subscribed for the shares issued when
the options are exercised is credited to share
capital (nominal value), net of any directly
attributable transaction costs. When the options
are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to

share capital (nominal value).

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be

small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Borrowings 220 B

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over

the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 FESTTHESE (&)

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities.
Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within

the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities as described below. The
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Publishing and advertising
The Group’s role in the provision of services on
publishing and advertising is that of a principal.
When deciding the most appropriate basis for
presenting revenue or costs of revenue, both
the legal form and substance of the agreement
between the Group and its business partners are
reviewed to determine each party’s respective role

in the transaction.

Hence, revenue from publishing and advertising
services is recognised on a gross basis when
services are rendered for the creation, production
and placement of advertising materials through

all media.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(d)

Barter transaction

When services are exchanged or swapped for
services which are of a similar nature and value,
the exchange is not regarded as a revenue

generating transaction.

When services are rendered in exchange for
dissimilar services, the exchange is regarded as
a revenue generating transaction. The revenue
is measured at the fair value of the services
received, adjusted by the amount of any cash
or cash equivalents transferred. When the fair
value of the services received cannot be measured
reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair value
of the services provided in a barter transaction,
by reference to non-barter transaction involving
similar services, adjusted by the amount of any

cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Online services

Revenue from online services is recognised when
the services, including electronic publications,
online advertisements and website maintenance
and technical services, are rendered. Revenue
from online services provided over fixed periods
is recognised on straight-line basis over the

respective period.

Marketing, distribution management,
consulting and printing services

Revenue from marketing, distribution
management, consulting and printing services
is recognised as the services are delivered to the

customers.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with

all attached conditions.

Government grants are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate. Government grants
relating to expenses are shown separately as other

income.

2.23 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over

the period of the lease.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's

shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in

the period in which they are incurred.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. The Group has not used any
derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk

exposures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk

(a)

(i)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally in the PRC.
Majority of recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in RMB and majority of
transactions are settled in RMB. Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalent balance denominated in
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD"). The Group does
not hold or issue any derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to
foreign currency risk.

As at 31 December 2015, if HKD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax loss for the year would have
been RMB4,805,000 (2014: RMB121,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of
HKD denominated cash and cash equivalent

balance.

Price risk

The Group does not hold equity securities
and is not exposed to equity securities
price risk. The Group is also not exposed to

commodity price risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BRRBERE (&)
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEREZE (&)
(a) Market risk (continued) (o) TiZEME (&)
(iif)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) Bz 2 RITIEE

T & & k2

The Group's interest rate risk arises from AEENFXRERKB

bank borrowings and bank deposits. Bank WITERRRITIEFR

borrowings obtained at variable rates 22 BEEHMIRITIER

expose the Group to cash flow interest FEAREEmHRESRE

rate risk which is partially offset by bank TR - J o R iE

deposits held at variable rates. As at 31
December 2015 and 2014, the Group did
not hold any financial assets nor financial
liabilities that are carried at fixed rates
which could expose the Group to fair value

interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rate risk on its variable rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the
balance sheet date and prepared assuming
the amount of bank borrowings and bank
deposits outstanding at each balance sheet

date was outstanding for the whole year.

At 31 December 2015,
had been 100 basis points higher/lower

if interest rates

with all other variables held constant,
the Group’'s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31
been RMB102,000 higher/lower (2014:
RMB38,000 lower/higher) mainly as a result

of higher/lower interest expense on the

December 2015 would have

bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b]

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on group basis. Credit
risk primarily arises from trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, short-term

bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

The trade receivables mainly represent the
advertising fee due from advertising customers.
The Group generally grants to its advertising
customers a credit period ranging from one
month to one year after delivery of the relevant
advertising services. The length of the credit
period the Group grants to its customers varies by
industry and is driven by credit periods granted
by its competitors. The Group grants customers
from industries such as real estate, automotive
and telecommunications as well as those
with national brand names and its long-term
customers with large orders longer credit periods.
For short-term customers with small orders, out-
of-province customers that do not have well-
known brand names, classified advertising
customers and secondary advertising agents,
the Group usually requests that the contractual

amount be paid in full prior to delivery of service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has a credit policy with established
procedures in place, which it reviews from time
to time. The Group’s credit management team
assigns internal credit ratings to customers after
evaluation of their creditworthiness through
assessment of their particulars including business
licences, certifications and credit rating reports
and considering factors such as operating status,
business condition, profitability, indebtedness
and assets. These internal credit ratings are used
to determine the credit-related clauses in the
sales contracts signed with customers. The Group
also prepares regular credit reports to update
its understanding of the customer’s operating
conditions and business information for better
risk management in relation to bad debts. In the
event the credit rating of a particular customer
drops after the Group’s review, it may adopt
measures such as settlement of its fee through
barter transactions, requesting the customer
to provide or procure a guarantor to provide
security or reducing the customer’s advertisement

publication volume.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group makes allowance for doubtful
accounts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade receivable, including
the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. During the
year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
assessed the recoverability of its trade receivables
and made impairment provision for certain trade
receivables where the recoverability has become
less than probable. Details of allowance for
doubtful trade receivables are set out in Note 10.
Determining the allowance involves significant
management judgements and estimates which by
definition, would seldom equal to actual results.
Any difference between management’s estimates
of the recoverability of trade receivables and the
amounts that the Group eventually recovers will
impact the Group’s consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers
with satisfactory repayment history and no recent
history of default. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still

considered fully recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's bank balances and short-term bank
deposits are placed with a number of major banks
in the PRC and Hong Kong. Counterparties’ credit
risks are carefully reviewed and in general, the
Group only deals with financial institutions with
low credit risk. The amount of counterparties’
lending exposure to the Group is also an
important consideration as a means to control
credit risk.

The deposits and other receivables mainly
represent the cash paid to (i) metropolitan
newspaper publishers for obtaining their exclusive
advertising rights to sell advertising spaces in
respective newspapers, and (ii) property developer
for acquisition of a property.

Management regularly reviews the utilisation
and realisation of these balances and follows up
on the disputes or amounts overdue. The Group
actively monitors the credit qualities and business
development of its debtors by taking into account
of their financial positions, relationships with
the Group, credit history and other factors. The
Group also assesses on a case-by-case basis
at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence exists for impairment of these
balances.

When objective evidence of impairment exists,
the amount of impairment loss is measured as
the short-fall of the expected cash receipts from
counterparties or the value in use measured
by discounted cash flow method as compared
to the carrying value of the deposits and
other receivables. As at 31 December 2015,
management had performed detailed assessment
and made a provision for impairment of deposits
and other receivables balances. Please refer to
Note 11 for details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements for
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
Group invests surplus cash in time deposits
and money market deposits with appropriate
maturities. The Group reported a net loss
of RMB167,180,000 and an operating cash
outflow of RMB17,534,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2015. As at the same
date, the Group held cash and cash equivalent
of RMB109,492,000 (2014: 32,487,000) (Note
14) and trade receivables of RMB9,714,000
(2014: 45,493,000) (Note 10) that are expected
to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk and to fund the Group's operations.

On 29 January 2015, the Group obtained
mortgage loans amounting to RMB15,470,000
to finance the Group’s acquisition of a property.
The mortgage loans were drawn on 27 February
2015, and the maturity of the mortgage term is
7 years with floating interest adjusted quarterly.
Additionally, the Group obtained a bank
borrowing facility of RMB20,000,000 on 6 March
2015, which was undrawn during the year ended
31 December 2015. The facility had expired on 5
March 2016. Details of the bank borrowings are
disclosed in Note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

BOFB R MIEE

3 HHERERE (&)

3.1 MEERREE (&)

Liquidity risk (continued) c) "BE=ERE (&)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TRIBRBEHEEBZESHT
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based HEIERAEE BAEEN
on the remaining period at the balance sheet cRBEE S /EETIEBA
date to the contractual maturity date. The A -RPERENSER
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BRIRBIREF S - ARALE
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within VRZEN K BN 21E A R E) A
12 months equal their carrying balances, as HESRESENEREAHR A
the impact of discounting is not significant. BmE HREARTAIWE
Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain TR H) FE 2 KB R IR REVERTT
a repayment on demand clause which can be B A THOWATRERS®R
exercised at the bank’s discretion, the analysis ST E A Be 8 2 KN A
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest XEPHRBER-
period in which the entity can be required to pay.
Less than Over
1 year 1 year Total
—FHUR —Ept mat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETFTT ARETTT
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-AF+ZA=t—H
Trade and other payables B REMEM KA 25,897 - 25,897
Bank borrowings BITER 13,606 - 13,606
Amounts due to related parties & B8 A + 8 1,043 688 1,731
40,546 688 41,234
At 31 December 2014 R-B-mFE+-A=t-H
Trade and other payables 25 REMEMNFTIER 24,872 - 24,872
Amounts due to related parties [E{+ B8 A £ 78 1,231 688 1,919
26,103

688 26,791
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings
divided by total assets, as shown in the consolidated

balance sheet.

During the year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from 2014, was to maintain the gearing
ratio below 40%. Gearing ratio as at 31 December
2015 was 6.0% (2014: zero).
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Financial instruments by category

BOFB R MIEE

3 MBERBRERE (&)
3.3 ZEABMAINERMIA

Loans and receivables

ERREWRRE
2015 2014
—E-HE —E—mF
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Assets as per balance sheet EERBRAMIINEE
Trade receivables and deposits and other & 5 BUKIBIA K IZ S &K &b
receivables & W R IR 13,792 59,506
Amount due from related parties FEUL RS E A T RUE 522 24,364
Short-term bank deposits RWHISRITER = 5,000
Cash and cash equivalents Be kB SEEER 109,492 32,487
Total #at 123,806 121,357
Other financial liabilities
at amortised cost
HttemBE REBHHE
2015 2014
—B-&F —E-mEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREF T
Liabilities as per balance sheet EEREBERMIINEE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E b E IR 25,897 24,872
Bank borrowings |ITER 13,579 -
Amounts due to related parties B BEEALTFA 1,731 1,919
Total #Et 41,207 26,791
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.4

3.5

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the following financial assets
and financial liabilities approximate their fair values
as all of them are short-term in nature: cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, trade and other payables, bank

borrowings and amounts due to related parties.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014,
there were certain deposits and other receivables
measured at value in use using discounted cash flow
method which is approximate to their fair values. See
Note 11 for disclosures relevant to deposits and other

receivables.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014,
there were certain properties held for sale measured
at fair value less cost to sell using direct market
comparable method which is approximate to their
fair values. See Note 12 for disclosures relevant to

properties held for sale.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

No disclosure of the offsetting of financial assets and
financial liabilities was made as there were no netting

arrangements in place during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

Recoverability of prepayments and deposits

The Group has made prepayments and deposits in
respect of exclusive agreements with newspaper
publishers and exclusive marketing and promotion
projects. Impairment loss arises where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the expected
future economic benefits to be generated from these
arrangements are lower than the carrying amounts of

these prepayments and deposits.

Management assesses the valuation of prepayments
and deposits based on financial projections reviewed
and approved by the Board. The projections make
assumptions about the economic benefit obtained in
connection with the prepayments and deposits made
to the respective newspaper publishers and property
developers. Difference between the actual and original
estimates will impact the carrying value of prepayments
and deposits. Details of the provisions for impairment

of prepayments and deposits are disclosed in Note 11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful accounts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such a difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and bad and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowances may
be required. Details of allowance for doubtful accounts

are described in Note 10.

Impairment of assets

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 36,
“Impairment of Assets” to determine when assets
are impaired, which requires significant judgement.
In making this judgement, the Group evaluates,
among other factors, the duration and extent to
which the recoverable amount of assets is less than
their carrying balance, including factors such as the
industry performance and changes in operational and
financing cash flows. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (a
CGU). The recoverable amount of the CGU has been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates, including
operating results, income and expenses of the business,
future economic conditions on growth rates and future

returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Changes in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of the assets is based could
significantly affect the Group's financial position and

results of operations.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group assesses whether interests in associates
have suffered any impairment whenever events of
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the interests in associates may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts of interests in
associates have been determined based on value-in-
use calculation or market valuations. These calculations
require the use of judgement and estimates, in
particular of future revenue or cash flows.

Changing the key assumptions, including discount
rates or growth rates assumptions could significantly

affect the recoverable amounts.

Revenue recognition for barter transactions

When services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar
goods or services, such as when the Group receives
the rights to sell or receive the proceeds of a sale
of real estate properties in exchange for advertising
services the Group provided to certain of the real estate
industry customers, the exchange is regarded as a

revenue generating transaction.

4 BRESMETRAER

(c)

(d)

SO B HRRME

(%)

EERME (&)
BEAWESEMERENEEZER
) 2 ) T S5 N 52 1 ) B S RO B AR
ERBEREATE-

REE QT ERRE
EHRBREEEMFERIRBE R
Al H) 48 o5 AR T S BR A) RE DA W ]
B AEESFERBE QA E

BRE R 2 R B EDDN
Al Y o] < B8 B IR R (BB RT B A
MG HEET ZEAETERTE
B B R Ah R R R R B R R
WASBE B RE

B RSIERERREFEEZREM
B HANEEREERNERT

288

ZEXZFHKRAER
BRHRBARBATRAE @RS
B (MAKEESHERMEN X
X WER 1 S 3 EE D 2E 0 PR AS SRR
MR R|AEERETEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(e)

(f)

Revenue recognition for barter transactions
(continued)

The revenue from such barter transactions is measured
at the fair value of the related real estate properties
received, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash
equivalents transferred. When the fair value of the
rights to the real estate properties received cannot be
measured reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair
value of the goods or services provided in the barter
transactions, by reference to non-barter transaction
involving similar goods or services, adjusted by the

amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
income tax provision and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination

is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE

Revenue from external customers are derived from the
provision of newspaper advertising services to advertisers in
the PRC, online services, including electronic dissemination
of publication and provision of online system development
services to newspaper publishers, and the provision of
marketing, distribution management, consulting and printing
services, and outdoor advertising services and activities. The
total sales amount of the Group’s five largest customers
is RMB13,082,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: RMB26,712,000). An analysis of the Group’s revenue

for the year is as follows:

BOFB R MIEE

PN

RENBEFHRARR AR EESER
FPREREESERS @ERE (21EH
MRYEE F 9 B R M AR R R A
ERFRAERE)  URRHEEHE D
BB HAREDRIRE - ARFINES R
ERES - HE_T-—AF+_A=1+—
BIEFE AEEBRARFMGHERE
B AR13,082,0000T (ZF—MF : A
R%26,712,0007T) - REEBEF AR A S
T

2015 2014
—E-EF —E-NmF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Newspaper advertising WEES
Online services MR

Marketing, distribution management,
consulting and printing services, and
outdoor advertising services and activities

Television and radio advertising

- HHER BAR
DR AR5 B 5 O o5
B R ED

BRREAES

34,820 134,469
491 338
31,661 46,867
- 1,882
66,972 183,556
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors have been identified as the CODM.
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by the CODM for the purposes

of allocating resources and assessing performance.

The executive Directors assess the performance of the
Group’s advertising, marketing, distribution management
and printing businesses from both geographic and product
perspectives. From a product perspective, management
takes into consideration of the economic benefits of
abovementioned businesses as a whole when executing a
centralised assessment of the performance as the CODM
considers they are mutually dependent and inseparable.
Geographically, management considers the Group's
businesses activities are included in a single reportable
segment in accordance with IFRS 8, “Operating segments”.

As such, no segment information is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

7 WME- -BERRHE

Fixture,
Land and Leasehold furniture and Motor
buildings  improvement Machinery ~ equipment vehicles Total
RE-
TREF HENEEE BE  KARRE RE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AR®FTr  ARETT AREFTR ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-mE-B-A
Cost A 3,776 14,245 49,283 11,791 24,109 103,204
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (283) (4,735) (28,679) (6,902) (7,459) (48,058)
Net carrying amount REE 3,493 9,510 20,604 4,889 16,650 55,146
Year ended 31 December 2014 HE-E-Qm&
TZR=t-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount FORAFE 3,493 9,510 20,604 4,889 16,650 55,146
Additions NE - 102 2 785 778 1,667
Disposals e (1,753) (22) - (1,123) (3,638) (6,536)
Depreciation (Note 23) & (W323) (69) (1,393) (4,610) (1,688) (2,410) (10,170)
Closing net carrying amount FREAFH 1,671 8,197 15,996 2,863 11,380 40,107
At 31 December 2014 R-E-ME+-A=t-AH
Cost KR 1,801 13,216 49,287 8,794 18,162 91,260
Accumulated depreciation 2ifE (130) (5,019) (33,291) (5,931) (6,782) (51,153)
Net carrying amount REFHE 1,671 8,197 15,996 2,863 11,380 40,107
Year ended 31 December 2015 ~ HZ-ZF-If
TZAZ+-BLEE

Opening net carrying amount FUREE 1,671 8,197 15,996 2,863 11,380 40,107
Additions RE - 1,418 972 437 151 2,978
Disposals HE (1,630) (157) (3,882) (348) (5,523) (11,540)
Depreciation (Note 23) & (Mi323) (41) (1,581) (4,811) (1,120) (1378) (8,931)
Provision for impairment (Note 23)  JR{E B (HiF23) - - 17) - - 17)
Closing net carrying amount FREAFE - 7,877 6,104 1,832 4,630 20,443
At 31 December 2015 R-B-1&+-B=1-H
Cost % - 12,778 38,447 6,769 8,611 66,605
Accumulated depreciation 2iE - (4,901) (30,172) (4,937) (3,981) (43,991)
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHESR - - 2171 - - 2171
Net carrying amount REFE - 7,877 6,104 1,832 4,630 20,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO RRME

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
Depreciation of the Group's property, plant and equipment
has been charged to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

M- BERRE (&)

AEBENME BERREBINED LTS
FRREHEEEERING

2015 2014
—E—FF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Cost of sales 58 AR
General and administrative expenses — M ERITHAX
Total “Er
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8 HEFVEE

Non- Other
Computer compete Customer intangible
Software agreement  Goodwill relationships  Trademark Web site assets Total
Hit
EREH THREHE HE  EFEf 53 [k EBREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETRT AR%ETR AR%Tn ARETR ARBTR ARET:
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-mE-B-A
Cost A 3,692 11,500 12,573 16,100 9,400 9,378 1,000 63,643
Accumulated amortisation REtEH (2,830) (10,223) - (15,920) (3,256) (8,948) (1,000) (42,177)
Net carrying amount ERFE 862 1,277 12,573 180 6,144 430 - 21,466
Year ended 31 December ~ BEZE-F-NE+=A

2014 St-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount ~ E/IEREF & 862 1277 12,573 180 6,144 430 - 21,466
Additions nE 20 - - - - - - 20
Disposals HE (108) - - - - - - (108)
Amortisation (Note 23) B (M3r23) (142) (1,277) - (180) (1,220) (409) - (3,228)
Closing net carrying amount ~ FRFEFE 632 - 12,573 - 4,924 2 - 18,150
At 31 December 2014 RZE-MmE

+ZA=1+-H
Cost KA 3,222 11,500 12,573 14,500 9,400 8,476 1,000 60,671
Accumulated amortisation  2iHE i (2,590 (11,500) - (14,500) (4,476) (8,455) (10000 (42,521)
Net carrying amount FEFE 632 - 12,573 - 4,924 21 - 18,150
Year ended 31 December ~ BE-Z-E%F+-A

2015 St-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount (1B F & 632 - 12,573 - 4,924 21 - 18,150
Disposals e (57) - - - - - - (57)
Amortisation (Note 23) B (M23) (103) - - - (1,221 21) - (1,345)
Provision for impairment B RE (M323)

(Note 23) (410) - (12,573) - (2,265) - - (15,248)
Closing net carrying amount ~ FRREFH 62 - - - 1438 - - 1,500
At 31 December 2015 R=Z-1f

tZR=+-H
Cost KA 3,112 11,500 12,573 14,500 9,400 8,476 - 59,561
Accumulated amortisation Rt EH (2,640) (11,500) - (14,500) (5,697) (8,476) - (42,813)
Accumulated impairment losses 2R E 5B (410) - (12,573) - (2,265) - - (15,248)
Net carrying amount REEE 62 - - - 1,438 - - 1,500

The amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to

“General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

o

BEEBHECNEHEERERMN—
fig R TR 32 ) F0BR
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

On 30 November 2015, other intangible assets were
disposed of along with the disposal of subsidiaries by the
Group (Note 35(a)).

Due to the acquisition of business from Fuzhou H-Brand
Estate Marketing and Planning Company Limited on 10
July 2011, the Group recognised intangible assets of
RMB36,570,000, deferred tax liabilities of RMB9,143,000
and goodwill of RMB12,573,000, with the total purchase
consideration of RMB40,000,000 fully settled in cash during
year ended 31 December 2011.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to a cash generating unit, Fujian Haobang Real
Estate Consulting & Agency Co. Ltd. (“Fujian Haobang”),
a subsidiary of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2015, management of the Group determined
that the provision for impairment of goodwill and trademark
amounted to RMB15,248,000 (2014: nil). The basis of
determining the recoverable amount of Fujian Haobang and

the major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount has been determined based on
a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
Directors covering a 5-year period, and at a pre-tax discount
rate of 20%. The cash flows beyond the 5-year period
are extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 3.0%.
This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth

forecasts in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

BREE (&)
R-ZE—RF+—A=1+H HtbEFEE
ECREASELHEWNBAR—HEE (I
i35(a)) ©

AEEBRZZ——F LA+ BWEEMNT
BEEZHREBRARMNER ALK
SEmRELEEAR36,570,0007T
EIEFIE B (EAR9,143,0007T R g2
AR¥12,573,0007T - REEREARE
40,000,000 EREE T ——F+=
A=+—RLEFEANRSEHZ -

AETRENS BEESEZAEEN
BRrAERFAFEREREERAA
(BRI BECELEM -RBEEZ
T-RAF+_A=+T—HLFE K&EE
ERERTHELEBRNREREBERA
R #15,248,0007T (—ZZT — P04 : &) -
TXHiEERETHBIKESENE
EREZHBERE:

e BEIREERBEEFETAE
EoWFEERARBLES M ENT
FHYRBAEMERSRERR UK
20% A BHRIREIR K - AFHURAR IR
BRI BRA3.0%H) Bl 18 & K HEH o 18
RERTDAGBEMEBITRERBARER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Management has performed sensitivity analysis for business
of Fujian Haobang by adjusting the revenue growth rate
5% more than or less than the based estimate. Based on
the sensitivity analysis, should revenue growth increase or
reduce by 5% over the base case, the recoverable amount of
Fujian Haobang CGU would be approximately RMB1,391,000

higher or lower than the current estimate amount.

BOFB R MIEE

BREE (&)
EEEDMERIBNEHETHRE
DM BRARREAEREREEME
NSO 5% o IR AR 5% R E 5 AT - i
WA R R BB I N SR 5% -
Al RReELEBMHITRE S RE
BRBFHEESFEENIR D DARE
1,391,0007T °

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES REE QTN ER
2015 2014
—E-RF —Z-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR¥T T
At 1 January Rn—HA—H 9,121 59,993
Retained interest in a former subsidiary »— R B
REE - 345
Share of post-acquisition losses FEAE W B 15 518 (4,115) (5,191)
Provision for impairment of interests in B A B B R RRUE B
associates (Note 23) (Mt3E23) (5,006) (46,026)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 9,121
On 30 November 2015, the Group's entire interests in AEDRBAEERE R-F—1F
Skybroad International Limited (“Skybroad”) and Beijing t—A=t+H -AEELE Eé‘Skybroad

HanDing Advertisement Co., Limited (“Beijing HanDing")
were disposed of to facilitate the streamlining of the Group's

structure (Note 35 (a)).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s interests in associates
represented its 34% equity interest in Skybroad and its 30%
interest in Beijing HanDing. The Group’s interest in Skybroad
included a quasi-equity loan of RMB680,000 to Skybroad,

which was unsecured and interest-free.

International Limited ( [ Skybroad | ) & it
RESEEARAA ([HERESR]) W2
MR (MFE35@)) °

RZZTE—WOF+_A=+—RH X&H
P B & X R ) M 25 48 H A Skybroad#y
34% MR AT = R E NI RE R H30%
25 o N EE B A Skybroad®) X B 4H T
Skybroad#) L # & 2 B ER A E B
AR #680,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

9

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate there may be
diminution in the associates’ value. In view of the decline in
revenue due to competition from incumbent competitors and
new entrants in the voice over internet protocol software
industry, management has assessed the recoverable amount
of the interest in Skybroad using the discounted cash flow
method. Impairment provision of RMB4,724,000 (2014
RMB46,026,000) was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2015 for the Group's interest in Skybroad. In
addition, an impairment provision of RMB282,000 (2014:
nil) was made during the year ended 31 December 2015 for
Beijing HanDing in view of the significant deterioration in

financial performance.

The impairment assessment includes assumptions of net
cash receipts generated from the business of Skybroad and
Beijing HanDing which are categorised into Level 3 within
the fair value hierarchy. The projection is based on significant
unobservable inputs which were reviewed and approved by

the Directors and are summarised as follows:

Unobservable inputs

9

Range of unobservable input

REBELATNER (&)
%‘Eﬂ%#ﬁfﬁﬁm R B

BEHIRER  NEEERNEE R
Tm’é SEMRE ERREEHBBEES
REBHTERARFHFRIMAZE
WBEFEERATES  ERENARE
i/mixfuﬂﬁskybroad%\ /) AT Ug B &
W-RBE-_T—AF+=-A=+—AL
FE K’il#ﬁﬁf‘skybroadﬂ’ﬁ%@\ R
AR E AR4,724,000C (ZF—
F: AR#46,026,0007T) ° o) - ZiE
RSP BERBEREER REEZ
—£¢+:)E]E+—E|JJ:¢T§’Z'§%E<@EJE
b ROE SRR ER B A R%282,0007T
(ZE—UF &) -

*/

SRE G B HE R 2R Skybroad I 1t FUZ & HY
EBELANR K FE (BAAAE
BRBEFNE=MR) EANLEEE
BN ENERTABRRE ABBAE
BE -t

Relationship of unobservable
input to value in use

FTABERARE FABERABBNEER FABERARBHEECAEENRR
Future revenue growth Growth of =1.0% to 3.0% The higher the revenue growth,
per annum the higher the value in use
RN K = FEE-1.0%E3.0% WAEDS ERAEBENRS
Discount rate 22.0% The higher the discount rate,
the lower the value in use
BRI = 22.0% BREDS EAEENRE

In determining the revenue growth rates and discount rate,
management has made references to the future and long-

term forecasts quoted by industry research reports.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 9 REELQTINER (&)
Management has performed sensitivity analysis for business EIEE B BLSkybroadH) ¥ #E T B E
of Skybroad by adjusting the revenue growth rate 5% more AT BRAEREFAERERELERE
than or less than the based estimate. Based on the sensitivity AN D5% © IRIFEZBUEE DT 4
analysis, should revenue growth increase or reduce by 5% IR ASE R R A G R NS 5% -
over the base case, the recoverable amount of the Skybroad BlISkybroadii & = &£ B /9 A] Yz Bl £ B8
CGU would be approximately RMB664,000 higher or lower HRRREESBE ML HODARKE
than the current estimate amount, respectively. 664,0007T °

Set out below are details of the associates of the Group as at TXEHNAEEBR T —WOF+= A
31 December 2014. They had share capitals consisting solely =+ HMEERARFE ZEHE AR
of ordinary shares, which were held directly by the Group; HRAE R S BERAN  WHAEEEE
the country of their principal place of businesses was in PRC. FAE MEFELXEWHMTEERAR

.

% of ownership

Country of Nature of the Measurement interest held as
Name of entity incorporation relationship method at 31 December
Rt=ZA=+—~H
ERsE A 8 A 3L B =X BEMEE FFRAE A EESE I
2015 2014

—E—HRF —ZT—MNF

Skybroad British Virgin Communication Equity - 34.0
Islands software

Skybroad HBRIHES AR R

Beijing HanDing The PRC Advertising Equity - 30.0

agent

IErESR i s RIE s

No information for summarised financial information of AR A E 2 NG A H & Skybroad - A 1t

Skybroad is presented as Skybroad was disposed of by the I & 2 51 Skybroad K B 5 B L 2

Group during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU SRR MR

10 TRADE RECEIVABLES — NET 10 EZEWERIE - FE

2015 2014

—E-hF —E—OF

RMB’‘000 RMB'000

AR® TR AREFIT

Trade receivables B 5 e WFRIE 25,462 83,904
Less: provision for impairment of B S REMBGRIERE B

trade receivables (15,748) (38,411)

Trade receivables — net B 5 EWRGTE - 58 9,714 45,493

The payment terms with customers are mainly cash on

delivery and on credit. The credit periods range from 30

days to 365 days after the end of the month in which the

relevant sales occurred. Aging analysis of the Group’s trade

receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

BEPFEREINNER RUARERA A
EEHHELEBEE S A REAN
F30HE3SATF - AEEMNE FENK
RERBEZARANOKRRI AT

2015 2014
—®¥-IfF —T-lF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR¥T T
1 - 30 days 1230H 2,402 8,739
31 - 60 days 31£260H 713 7,609
61 — 90 days 61290H 540 4,263
91 - 180 days 912180H 1,711 20,258
181- 365 days 181&2365H 4,021 19,901
Over 1 year —F U E 16,075 23,134
25,462 83,904

Less: provision for impairment of R B S EMCGRIB R E B
trade receivables (15,748) (38,411)
Trade receivables — net B S rWIE—F5 9,714 45,493

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are

denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of
RMB2,243,000 (2014: RMB6,380,000) were past due but
not impaired. These receivables relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history
of default and the repayment periods are consistent with
the Group’s practice. The aging analysis of these trade

receivables were as follows:

BOFB R MIEE

10 EZBWRIE -5 (&)

RZZE—RAF+ZA=1+—H BIRK
FIBAR¥2,243,0000L (ZF— WM&
AR#6,380,0007T ) 28 BB I ROF(E ©
ZEEWGRIE T A T ER N AR B XV A0 B
ZEBUEF  BENREREBIEG —
B ZEEHRUGRIBHRESTMAT :

2015 2014
—E-FF —E—MOF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETF T

Past due 1 — 30 days B ER1E30H 261 1,535
Past due 31 — 60 days B HEA31E60H 516 436
Past due 61 — 90 days 1 H861 290 H 302 519
Past due over 91 days BmE91H A |k 1,164 3,890
2,243 6,380

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of
RMB15,748,000 (2014: RMB38,411,000) were impaired
and provided for. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
the amounts of the provision charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income were RMB17,187,000
(2014: RMB1,842,000). The aging of these receivables based

on due date were as follows:

R-ZE—RAF+-_A=1+—H EFEK
FIAAR®15,748,0000T (—F— U4 :
AR #38,411,0007T ) B8 8 3 &1 12 #
W HE_T-—RAFT_A=+—HILHF
B Ref2ERmRNBRNBEESTER
AR®17,187,000L (ZE—F: AR
#1,842,0007T ) ° % F U FIAR IR 2 HA
HEVERE AT -

2015 2014
—E-0fF —E-MF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Past due 1 — 30 days BER1Z=30H 550 -
Past due 31 — 60 days #HEA31260H 334 2,091
Past due 61 — 90 days B HI61290H 1 1,717
Past due 91 — 180 days #MHEA912=180H 2,003 2,327
Past due 181 — 365 days #HI1812=365H 9,437 13,348
Past due over 1 year BHE—F L 3,413 18,928
15,748 38,411
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET (continued)

The provision was made as management has determined
that the ability of the debtors to repay the trade receivables
has deteriorated. This provision amount was determined in
line with the Group’s policies and historical practice, where
management has reviewed the relevant debtors’ current

creditworthiness and past payment history.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, trade receivables
of RMB1,072,000 (2014: nil) were directly written-off to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Management has tried reasonable efforts to collect the trade
receivables from those debtors and has determined that the

recoverability of these balances is not probable.

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

10 EZBWRIE -5 (&)

HREEERRZETE S RUFIANE
BARERENC T Bt -
BEzREsENEEEREBEBRMN
BEEGAET  MERECERBRAES
AR B E AR & KA 8% -

REE-FT—RAF+=-_A=+—H1I
FE B HERWHRIEAR1,072,0007T
(ZZ—WF: \) BEEREGHEEKRER
Wi - EREEERABRENNEREBLA
Wi [B] B 5 FE MR IE - I I BT 5% 5 A BRI
EF: 3PN

AEEEFRWRERERENZE SN
T

2015 2014

—E-RF —E—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARET T

At 1 January n—H—H 38,411 179,040
Provision for impairment of trade receivables & 5 i U R I8 R 1B B 4 17,187 1,842
Receivables written back JE Wk TR B B (1,541) (800)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE QA (3,053) (64,349)
Receivables written off JE Ui B i 6 (35,256) (77,322)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 15,748 38,411

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables
have been included in “General and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash. Apart from the trade receivables
with impairment provided, the remaining trade receivables

do not contain impaired assets.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 11 HARE -RERHEMER
RECEIVABLES FIE
2015 2014
—E—FF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Non-current portion FEREBBA
Long term prepayment (note (i) REAFE 8 (BYREG)) 138,000 173,000
Prepayment for acquisition of a property W kg —IEME MR IR
(note (ii) (B =X (i) ) 22,907 6,694
Deposits to newspaper publishers (note (iii)) BT RELRENZS
( B = (i) ) 30,000 92,000
190,907 271,694
Less: Provision for impairment R E B (168,000) (246,400)
Prepayments, deposits and FERRE -ZE R
other receivables — net Hh fE U EIE — 558 22,907 25,294
Current portion REBD
Prepayments to newspaper publishers and TE AT AR R 7 K LA RRIE
others (note (iv)) (Bt EGv)) 90,407 243,542
Deposits and other receivables (note (v)) =& I H i fE W R IE
(M3E(v)) 18,264 47,949
Receivable from Yueyang City Intermediate FEWERE T RARER
People’s Court (note (vi)) FRIA (BT EE(vi)) - 22,000
108,671 313,491
Less: Provision for impairment R E B (103,289) (291,218)
Prepayments, deposits and ERFRIE e Rk
other receivables — net HAth e UGB —F 58 5,382 22,273
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits

and other receivables were denominated in RMB.

(i)

Long term prepayment
As at 31 December 2015,
represented cash paid by the Group to one (2014:

long term prepayment

two) metropolitan newspaper(s) publisher in the PRC,
namely Southeast Express (2014: Southeast Express
and Lifestyle Express), in relation to the potential
establishment of joint ventures with these metropolitan

newspaper publisher(s).

Lifestyle Express had ceased publication from 30 June
2015 due to financial difficulties. The management
reviewed the recoverability of the long term
prepayment made to Lifestyle Express and write-off the
entire balance amounted to RMB35,000,000, of which
RMB31,400,000 had been provided for in prior years.
The management assessed the probability of recovering

the Group's investment costs to be remote.

In view of the continuous decline in advertising
revenue associated with the exclusive advertising
rights over the years, the management reviewed the
Group's ability to recover the carrying amount of the
long term prepayment made to Southeast Express
and determined a provision totaling RMB138,000,000
(2014: RMB123,000,000) should be made as at 31
December 2015. As at 31 December 2015, the entire

balance had been provided for.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

Prepayment for acquisition of a property

As at 31 December 2015, prepayment for acquisition
of a property represented the prepayment paid by
the Group to Xiamen Information Group Ltd. for the
purchase of certain commercial premises located within
Xiamen Software Park Ill. Total consideration for the
property is RMB22,164,000. The initial down payment
of RMB6,694,000 was paid by the Group to the seller
during the year ended 31 December 2014. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group made
a further payments of RMB15,470,000 which were
financed by mortgage loans on the property granted
by a bank to the Group. Details of the mortgage loans
are disclosed in Note 16. Ownership of the property
is expected to be conveyed to the Group before 31
December 2017 when construction of the property is
expected to be substantially completed. During the
year, the Group capitalised borrowing costs amounting
to RMB743,000 (2014: nil) on the prepayment.

11 BN RE

SO B HRRME

BEREMER

FE (&)

(ii)

WE—EYENBRNRE
W-E—RF+-_A=+—H %
B-IEYENEARBEEASER
BEVUNEMEBGE=MNETH
EMEMAEMEEEEARARQF
TREBENRIE - ZWENBRE
B ANREE22,164,0000 c AEEE
REBEZE_T—NF+_A=+—H
LFEREAXNERANRARE
6,694,000 - REBE_T— 1 F
TZA=+T—HILEFE KEEBEMU
—RBITHZYERAEB K LK
RBEEFRE-—TINREBEARE
15,470,0007C - BB E R F B R
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11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(iii) Deposits to newspaper publishers

As at 31 December 2015, deposits to newspaper
publishers represented cash paid by the Group to one
(2014: three) metropolitan newspaper publisher(s) in
the PRC, namely Southeast Express (2014: Southeast
Express, Lifestyle Express and Central Guizhou Morning
Post), pursuant to exclusive agreements between the

Group and the newspaper publisher(s).

Owing to the aforementioned reason in Note 11(i), the
management reviewed the recoverability of deposits
to Lifestyle Express and write-off the entire balance
amounted to RMB30,000,000, which had been fully

provided for in prior years.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
management reviewed the recoverability of deposits
made to Central Guizhou Morning Post and
determined the deposits to be uncollectible. The entire
balance amounted to RMB32,000,000, which had been

fully provided for in prior years, has been written off.

The Group assesses the recoverable amounts of the
deposits on each balance sheet date and the carrying
values of these amounts are written down immediately
to their recoverable amounts if recoverable amounts
are less than the carrying values. In view of the
continuous decline in advertising revenue associated
with the exclusive advertising rights over the years, the
entire deposits of RMB30,000,000 made to Southeast

Express have been provided for in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(iv)

Prepayments

Under the terms of certain (exclusive and non-
exclusive) advertising agreements with one (2014:
three) metropolitan newspaper(s), the Group has to
make prepayments for print media advertising to the
newspaper publisher(s). The amounts prepaid to these
metropolitan newspaper publishers can be utilised as

advertising costs in the coming 12 months.

Owing to the aforementioned reasons in Notes
11(i) and 11(iii), the management write-off the
entire balances for prepayments to Lifestyle Express
and Central Guizhou Morning Post amounted to
RMB68,376,000 and RMB49,198,000 respectively,

which had been fully provided for in prior years.

As at 31 December 2012, prepayment of
RMB33,780,000 was made to Shenyang Evening
News pursuant to the exclusive advertising agreement
between the Group and Shenyang Evening News.
The exclusive advertising agreement was terminated
on 26 July 2011. The management considered the
recoverability of the prepayment and probable outcome
of the pending litigation with Shenyang Evening News,

and a full provision was made in prior years.

Prepayment made to Shenyang Evening News and its
impairment provision were disposed of along with the
disposal of a subsidiary by the Group on 30 November
2015 (Note 35(a)).

In view of the continuous decline in printing revenue
associated with the advertising agreement over the
years, the entire prepayment totaling RMB83,927,000
made to Southeast Express have been provided for in

prior years.

11 BN RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(v)

Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables primarily include cash
paid to contracted business partners as deposits for
operation rights. The deposits are interest free and are
refundable upon the expiry of the agreements or on

request under mutual consent.

Owing to the aforementioned reason in Note 11(i), the
management write-off the entire balances for deposits
and other receivables to Lifestyle Express amounted to
RMB19,775,000, which had been fully provided for in

prior years.

Pursuant to the aforementioned exclusive advertising
agreement with Shenyang Evening News in Note 11(iv),
the Group also made a deposit of RMB10,000,000 to
Shenyang Evening News which had been fully provided

for in prior years.

Deposits made to Shenyang Evening News and its
impairment provision were disposed of along with the
disposal of a subsidiary by the Group on 30 November
2015 (Note 35(a)).

Management has assessed the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables, including those from
Southeast Express of RMB4,162,000 that had been
fully provided for in prior years, a further impairment
provision of RMB10,024,000 has been made for the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 11 BARE -ZERHEMER
RECEIVABLES (continued) MIE (&)
(vi) Receivable from Yueyang City Intermediate (vi] BREBHHPRARZERRE

People’s Court

On 30 September 2013, the Company and its former RZE-—=FNA=+HB A2

wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Fuzhou AoHai LREFZENB AR (2 %%ﬁaﬂlﬁ
Advertisement Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou AoHai”) and BESERAG ([BMNEE])R
Kunming AoHai Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Kunming ERARSESERAA([ERAR
AoHai"), received an enforcement judgement issued D)BEEEETHRARZER
by Yueyang City Intermediate People’s Court dated 22 b‘(\\:g —FNAAZ+=-ZHHEA
September 2013 which ordered for the deduction of BRMTHRES SEREMNRER
RMB22,000,000 out of the bank accounts of Fuzhou ERREMNETEREFHIBRARE

AoHai and Kunming AoHai in favour of Yueyanglin
Paper Co., Ltd.

On 17 February 2014 and 28 April 2014, the
Yueyang City Intermediate People’s Court and
Higher People’s Court of Hunan Province respectively
dismissed the appeal application by the Group against
the enforcement orders issued by Yueyang City
Intermediate People’s Court. An appeal application
was lodged to the Supreme People’s Court to dismiss
the above-mentioned enforcement judgement
and to refund the improperly drawn amount of

RMB22,000,000 to the Group (Note 36 (b)).

The management considered the above developments,
the amount drawn by Yueyang City Intermediate
People’s Court pursuant to the aforementioned
enforcement orders, and the probable outcome of
the pending litigation and determined to make a full
provision for the amount of RMB22,000,000 in prior

years.

Receivables and its impairment provision from Yueyang
City Intermediate People’s Court were disposed of
along with the disposal of a subsidiary by the Group on
12 May 2015 (Note 35(a)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

12 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

13

The Group's properties held for sale includes the following:

12 BEHEME

AEENFIFLEMEBIRATER

2015 2014

—E—FF —E—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREF T

Properties held for sale FIEHEWE 51,527 78,191

The properties in the PRC were received in exchange of
advertising services to real estates developers in the PRC. The
Group’s intention is to sell these properties and, accordingly,
such rights are recognised as properties held for sale upon
the completion of the advertising sales transaction if the

related property is ready to be sold.

Management assessed the fair value of the acquired
properties with reference to the market value of the
properties with the assistance of an independent property
valuer and made impairment provisions of RMB14,555,000
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
RMB1,828,000) (Note 23).

Cash flows associated with the disposal of properties held
for sale are presented under “Operating activities” in the
consolidated statement of cash flows. The gain/loss on
disposal and impairment loss of properties held for sale are
recorded in “General and administrative expenses” in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

REYETIRASEFESERERRR
EERGREEG - ARENE N RHEEX
EWE At BHREMETHLE ]
BERABINRERESHER SRR
FEHEME-

EEBEBUMEGEMAOBT 28
P EN T ETEZEMENRIAE
B REE-T—RF+=-A=+—H1t
FREAELRMER B AK14,555,0007T
(ZT—4F: AR¥1,828,0005t) (Mt
523) o

BRLERFLHENENRERERT
REHRAERERIELED] T-HE
FIEHEMEN kG BERFELE
MERREBECEESHE2EREER
B[ —RRRITHRAX ] Ae

INVENTORIES 13 &
2015 2014
—F-1% —FmF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ART T
Newsprint and printing consumables R A R EDRIE FE f 5,583 6,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

15

The Group's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in

the following currencies:

BOFB R MIEE

14 BERkAEEEHER

AEEMNBREESRBASEEERE AT
WA

2015 2014
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT

Cash at bank and on hand: RITMFHERE
Denominated in RMB IAR®EEE 13,385 30,002
Denominated in HKD LA TRt E 96,101 2,418
Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE 6 67
109,492 32,487
Maximum exposure to credit risk E=EERRB 107,643 29,066

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rate. The carrying amounts of the cash at

bank approximate their fair values.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

The effective interest rate for the Group’s short-term bank
deposits with original maturities of over three months for
the year ended 31 December 2014 was 3.3%. As at 31
December 2015, no placement of short-term bank deposits
was made by the Group (2014: RMB5,000,000).

15
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU SRR MR

16 BANK BORROWINGS

16 SRITIER

2015 2014

—E-EF —E—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT AR¥F T

Bank borrowings — current (Note (i)) RITIE SR —BIAR (P REG)) 13,579 -

The maturity of the above borrowings based on scheduled

RBE R =

Fﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁfk SR RN (S

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and JEZRKEEIKT afE R B HA B
excluding the repayment on demand clause is as follows: N

2015 2014
—E-HEF —T-lmEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBTT
Within 1 year —F A 2,229 -
Between 1 and 2 years —EmF 2,230 -
Between 2 and 5 years WERF 6,698 -
Beyond 5 years AFLAE 2,422 -
13,579 -

Note (i): B EEG) -

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
obtained mortgage loans amounting to RMB15,470,000
to finance the Group's acquisition of a property (Note
11(ii)). Transaction costs directly attributable to mortgage
loans amounted to RMB35,000. The mortgage loans
were drawn on 27 February 2015 and a further payment
of RMB15,470,000 was made by the Group to Xiamen
Information Group Ltd. for the property. The mortgage loans
are secured by the ownership rights of the property and the
personal guarantee of Zheng Bai Ling and Zhang Hui, a key
management and the spouse of a key management of a
subsidiary of the Group. Total consideration for the property
is RMB22,164,000, of which the initial down payment of
RMB6,694,000 was paid by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Note (i): (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the mortgage loans were classified
as current liabilities due to the related loan agreements
containing a repayment on demand clause which gives the
bank unconditional right to call the loans at any time. The
mortgage terms are 7 years and are denominated in RMB.
The mortgage loans are carried at quarterly adjusted floating
interest rate of 1.15 times the benchmark loan interest rate
as prescribed by the People’s Bank of China for loans of
a similar length. The effective interest rate for the year is

7.39% per annum.

BOFB R MIEE

16 RITER (&)

B aEC) (&)

RZF-—RAF+-A=1T—0 BR&F
RIBERNEBEERGAHE EESE
BIFF BT RTEGTENERERE
R BRZERBERNER/RDAE &
%Eiiﬁ?@i'L\A}\E@}(Eﬂﬁc’a%&%

RILEREE FRMNERTHEARR
ﬁ?’dﬁ?@ﬂiiﬁﬂﬁmiﬁmE’J%ﬁiﬁmﬂ%é
M1ISE BEFRBE-FRAERFNERL
7.39%

ﬂﬂﬂ}

The fair value of current borrowings approximates their BEER AR EBEERERmMSERS
carrying amount, the fair values are based on cash flows HAABEDERUNERMNEZARNR S
discounted using the effective interest rate and are within MEFE BRAANEEEBSRNEZ
level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. W&o
Note (ji): B 3E (i)
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: REBBUTRIERERME :
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T
Expiring within one year —FREIH 20,000
On 6 March 2015, the Group obtained a short-term bank RZZE—RAF=ZANE AEERBEH

facility under which the Group can draw borrowings of up
to RMB20,000,000 and each drawdown will require approval
from the bank. Each drawdown of the bank facility shall be
secured by the personal guarantee of Chen Zhi, executive
director of the Group, and/or certain assets held by a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, at the discretion of the
bank. The facility has expired on 5 March 2016.

RITRLE - Bt ARBE A REEBERRS
AR%20,000,0007T * FRIZEGEL R
Tt WAHRITEEREARSE BT
EEREMBEABRESAER—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

17 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 17 ESEMAFE HttEMAFIE
ACCRUED EXPENSES RESTAX

2015 2014

—E—FREF —E—JOF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade payables B ZEN IR 4,488 5,889
Other payables and accrued expenses: H A ER RIE R EFTF X
Accrued utility expenses and other liabilities ~— fEst AR &
Hi B & 4,757 736
Accrued salaries and welfare EatE e MEF 6,150 6,276
Value added tax and other taxes payable 128 i R L FE A R IR 4,940 7,755
Provision for legal claims EEREEE - 17,329
Other payables H b e 3RIR 15,681 12,032
Deposits from customers REEFHIES 971 6,215
Receipts in advance 8 % W BN B FIE 9,428 10,547
41,927 60,890
46,415 66,779
Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly cash on HEFGTONFIERETFELRERNER
delivery and on credit. The credit periods range from 30 days RAGERAR TR - EEBELERAE
to 365 days after end of the month in which the relevant e AR N T30BE365A -

purchase occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

18

ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued)

The aging analysis of the trade payables based on the invoice

date was as follows:

SO B HRR M

17 EZEMARIE - Htt BN KA
RFESBIX (&)
5 1014 3B R 15 B 5 B HI R0 BR B AT
mT:

2015 2014
= —FmF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

1 — 30 days 1£230H
31 - 90 days 31908
Over 90 days 90H A E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are all
denominated in RMB.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

521 1,294
1,087 702
2,880 3,893
4,488 5,889

AEEESERNFBENEAEEUAR
BEtE-

18 IEFEFRISH
BIEFSHEEATMT

2015 2014
—E-5F —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSHAR

Management expects the deferred income tax will be

recovered after 12 months of the balance sheet date.

360 1,475

EREBRMBEEABHRENEE BB
+ A A& E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 18 BB (&)
The movements on the deferred income tax liabilities are as BEEMSHEaEZEHMT :
follows:

Intangible assets

BREE
2015 2014
—E—FF —E—-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

At 1 January mn—H—H 1,475 2,157
Recognised in the consolidated statement of R &G 2 HE W R NFER

comprehensive income (Note 26) (Mf5E26) (1,115) (682)
At 31 December Rt+t—-—A=+—H 360 1,475
No deferred income tax asset has been recognised in RZE—RAF+ZA=1+—0 BEEH
respect of estimated tax losses of RMB84,166,000 as at AN E AR A8 g E A ER TR
31 December 2015 (2014: RMB101,192,000) as it is not R AR AT 578 R A A L TR B 1R - B S ok
probable that the relevant subsidiaries of the Group will ANER®84,166,000T (ZE—MF: AR
generate taxable profit to utilise the tax losses in the #101,192,00070) &Y {5 TR IE B B R
foreseeable future. Such tax losses have an expiry period of BIEFEMREE -ZEHBEENE R
five years. MAeRSF-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

19 SHARE CAPITAL 19 B
Nominal Equivalent
Number of value of nominal value
ordinary ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares shares premium Total
EER
LER#E LEREE SEAE R EE @At
HKS RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BT ARBTT AREFL ARBTT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at RZZ-R%R
31 December 2015 and 2014 “E-MEFTA
(Note (a)) =t+-BERAELIET

WE B (HEE)
2,000,000,000 0.1

Issued: ARG
Ordinary shares at 31 December 2014 RZE-ME
and 1 January 2015 +ZA=+-Bk
—Z-RE-A-HH
LRk 839,942,121 83,994,212 72,687 556,440 629,127
Net proceeds from issuance of BITLRARMGRIERE
ordinary shares (Note (b)) (M3 () 167,000,000 16,700,000 13,608 79,740 93,348
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-n%
+-ZA=z+—H 1,006,942,121 100,694,212 86,295 636,180 722,475
Notes: B 5T
(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 (@) ARATRZZFTAFF+_ANLBERE
December 2009 with an authorised share capital of HK$200 B Sk - VA FE MR /200,000,000
million divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each. T 9 /2,000,000,0000% & f% &
0.1 TTRIAR S °
(b)  The Company issued 167,000,000 shares at HK$0.7 each on by ARAR—_ZE—RAEF+-_A—BES
1 December 2015 (representing 16.6% of the total enlarged BRO.7AE LB M7 BB L E = 81T
ordinary shares issued) to 7 independent third parties. The 167,000,000/ 821 (FAEREEAD 3
related transaction costs of RMB1,912,548 have been netted TEBRBTEN16.6% ) - A HHKA
off against share premium. ANE#1,912,54870 B 48 B R 19 i (B K

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

20 RESERVES

The details of movement in the Group’s reserves are set out

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page

109:

(a)

Statutory reserves

The statutory reserves represent reserves of the PRC
incorporated companies which are set aside for
future development purpose in accordance with the
regulations in the PRC. The allocation is based on
certain percentages of these companies’ profit for the

year, as reported in their statutory financial statements.

Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the companies’
respective Articles of Association, each of the Group
companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for
the year, as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to a statutory common reserve fund
until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group
company’s registered capital. The statutory common
reserve fund can be used to make good previous years'
losses, if any, and to issue new shares to shareholders
in proportion to their existing shareholdings or to
increase the par value of the shares currently held by
them, provided that the balance after such issue is not

less than 25% of the registered capital.

Each of the Group companies is also permitted to
transfer a certain percentage of its profit for the year
as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations,
to a discretionary common reserve fund. The transfer
to this reserve is subject to approval at shareholders’

meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

20 RESERVES (continued)

21

(b) Capital reserves

Capital reserves primarily represent capital

contributions to certain subsidiaries of the Group

and the differences between the consideration

and proportionate carrying value of the subsidiary

disposed of where the Group still retains control of the

subsidiary.

(c) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve relates to the

redemption and cancellation of the Company’s own

shares.

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at 31 December 2015:

Place and date of

20 f&fE ()
(b) BEAXHE

EARBIBRAASEETHE
REIME R EEA L EHE R A
(AEBDRE BRI ) L PRk E

BzENER-

(c) RABEGHE

P 7 R [0 {6 g B 7K X B B [ % E 3K

REBDER-

21 MELQAE

TEBIARAR-FE—HET = A
S+—AMIENBLT:

Issued or registered/

Effective interest held as

Name incorporation/establishment  Principal activities Legal status paid up capital at 31 December
BRTAEMR/ Rt=B=t-H
8 AL/ RIBERAE  FEER ERA BAkx BENERER
2015 2014
ZE-1% —T-|mF
Directly owned subsidiary:
EREEHELR:
Dragon Soar Ltd. The British Virgin Islands, Investment holding Limited liability usD1 100% 100%
EABRAR 9 December 2009 REER company (E
RBRAES EREAAR
“ERAETZANE
Greatest Ocean Ltd. ("Greatest Ocean”) Hong Kong, Investment holding Limited liability HKD1 - 100%
FEERAR ([F8)) 29 August 2014 REER company BT
B EREAAR
ZZ-mENAZTAA
Hung Hing To Publishing Ltd. (“Hung Hing To") The British Virgin Islands, Provision of publishing and Limited liability UsD622,500 - 100%
BEEREIARAA ([BEE]) 13 December 2005 advertising services company 622,500% 7T
RBERAES RULRREERS AREERR
“ERRET-ATZH
YSOLDE Group Limited Samoa, 10 June 2015 Investment holding Limited liabilities UsD50,000 100% -
BREBARAA BETD REER company 50,0005 ¢
“E-RE5A+H EREAAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

21

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place and date of

21 WERA (&)

Issued or registered/

Effective interest held as

Name incorporation/establishment  Principal activities Legal status paid up capital at 31 December
BRAHER/ WtZA=Z+-H
£R EMAY/RUMGRAS  EEEE ER A BARAE BENERER
2015 2014
~E-I1f —T-|mF
Indirectly owned subsidiaries:
BMRRANELR:
Fuzhou DingCe Culture Communication Co. Ltd.  Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability USD200,000 100% 100%
BNSR U EEERAR 23 January 2013 advertising agency services  company 200,000% 70
REEM RELFTUNEERERY BREFAR
ZZ-=F-A=t=H
Fuzhou ShiFangCe Culture Media Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,030,000 - 100%
(“ShiFangCe") 2 November 2006 advertising agency services  company ARH1,030,000
BT AREEERAR ([T7%]) RERM RERTUNEERERY BREFAR
“2ERF+-AZH
Fuzhou AoHai Advertisement Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 - 100%
RNREESERAA 19 February 2008 advertising agency services  company ARH1,000,0007T
RERM REZHUEERERS EREARR
ZZZ\FZA+hA
Fuzhou ShiFang Printing Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of printing services  Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
BT FEBERAA 10 October 2012 RAELENRIRR 7% company AKH10,000,0007
REEM EREAAR
“E-ZEtATH
Fuzhou ShiFangYuan Advertisement Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
RETHIREEERAR 3 September 2002 advertising agency services  company AR 5,000,0007
RERM RERTUEERERY BREFARF
“ZTZFNA=H
Kunming ShiFang Real Estate Consulting & Kunming, the PRC Property marketing & agency  Limited liability RVB3,000,000 100% 100%
Agency Co. Ltd 19 July 2012 services company AR 3,000,000
ERTARBESHREBRAA FEER NEZHRRBRY BREFAR
“2-Z5tAt+AR
Kunming ShiFang Culture Communication Kunming, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. 23 November 2012 advertising services company AR 5,000,0007T
ERATAXIEREERAR FEER REZFUEERS BREFAR
“B-“#t-A-t=H
Guizhou ShiFang Printing Co. Ltd. Guizhou, the PRC Provision of printing services  Limited liability RMBS,000,000 100% 100%
EMTFEBERLA 16 October 2014 RUEDRIRR S company AR 5,000,0007C
FEEM AREARR
ZT-WETATAR
Fuzhou ShiFang HeQiang Electronic Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB2,000,000 51% 51%
Technology Co., Ltd. 2 December 2013 promotion and consultancy ~ company AR 2,000,000
BT HEREFREERAR FEEM services BREFLRA
“T-ZETZAZRE RERMHEERAARSE
Fujian DaFang Advertisement Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMBS5,000,000 100% 100%
REAFTEEERLA 27 January 2014 advertising services company AR 5,000,000
FEEM RERFUEERS AREARR
ZE-ME-ACT4LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place and date of

21 WERA (&)

Issued or registered/

Effective interest held as

Name incorporation/establishment  Principal activities Legal status paid up capital at 31 December
BRAHER/ WtZA=Z+-H
£R HMAY/RIBERAE  EEER ER A BARAE BENERER
2015 2014
-g-1f It
Indirectly owned subsidiaries:
BMRRANELR:
Xiamen DingCe Network Technology Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of software Limited liability HKD1,000,000 - 100%
("Xiamen DingCe") 18 September 2014 development, information company 1,000,000 7T
EMSRBENEERAR ([EMER]) HE RN technology and consultancy BRETAF]
“Z-mEAATIR services
RESHERE ERRRE
FARB
Liaoning AoHai Tian Yi Media Advertisement Shenyang, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - 70%
Co., Ltd. ("Liaoning AoHai") 17 March 2008 advertising services company AR H5,000,0007T
FERGR-REAEARAA ([BERE]) $EEB RE2 A EERS BREFAR
ZZE\FZA+tH
Kunming HanDing Printing Technology Consulting ~ Kunming, the PRC Provision of publishing and Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. 7 September 2012 printing services company ARH10,000,0007T
ERESDRIRITEAFRAT PERH AR R 2 ED R AR 75 BREFAR
“E-CHAALR
Shifang YaQi Culture Communication (Xiamen) Xiamen, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB2,000,000 - 100%
Co. Ltd. (“Shifang YaQi") 27 December 2004 advertising services company AR 2,000,000
THERXER (B ARAR ([TATHR]) REEM REE2HEERS BREFAR
“ERNET-A-TLA
Xiamen DuKe Information Science & Technology ~ Xiamen, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB11,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Duke") 24 February 2006 promotion and consultancy ~ company ARH11,000,0007
EFAEEEENRERAR ([EFMER]) PEEPM services AREARR
ZEERECACTNE RERMERRZARE
Guizhou Qianzhong Newspaper Industry Guizhou, the PRC Provision of publishing and Limited liability RMB4,000,000 100% 100%
Printing Co. Ltd. 3 June 2011 printing services company AR 4,000,000
ENBRREIBERAA FEEM HRA I e ED R AR 7 BREFLRA
—2——§3xA=H
Guizhou ShiFang HanDing Media Co. Ltd. Guizhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB10,000,000 - 100%
("Guizhou ShiFang HanDing") 20 October 2011 advertising services company AE#10,000,0007C
ENTFERERERAR([ENTHER])  HEEM RERFUEERSE BREERA
“E——%+AC+A
Fujian HaoBang Real Estate Consulting & Fuzhou, the PRC Property marketing & Limited liability RMB10,000,000 51% 51%
Agengy Co. Ltd. 5 April 2012 agency services company AEH#10,000,0007
BEHARERIREBRAR PEEM NELHERRERB AREERR
—Z-—fMARA
Fujian FangKe Network Technology Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB50,000,000 51% 51%
Corporation Ltd. 23 December 2011 advertising services & company ARH50,000,0007T
RREEBANERNERAA FEEM property marketing BREFAH
E-—-5+ZfAZ+ZH RERANBERBR
NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO MR

21

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place and date of

21 WERA (&)

Issued or registered/

Effective interest held as

Name incorporation/establishment  Principal activities Legal status paid up capital at 31 December
BRAHER/ R+=B=+-8
£R EMAY/RUMGRAS  EEEE ER A BARAE BENERER
2015 2014
~E-I1f —T-|mF
Indirectly owned subsidiaries:
BMRRANELR:
Guangxi ShifFang Culture Communication Co., Ltd. ~ Nanning, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB11,680,000 - 100%
("Guangxi ShiFang") 26 May 2012 advertising services company ARH11,680,0007
BETAXCEEERARA([EETA]) HERE RERFUEERY BREFAR
ZE-“ERACTRA
Liaoning ShiFang XinDa Culture Shenyang, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMBS,000,000 60% 60%
Communication Co., Ltd. 21 Nov 2011 advertising services company AR H5,000,0007T
BETSEEERERAA PEER REE2HEERS EREARR
“2——§+-A=1+-H
ShiFang YouLi (Xiamen) Network Technology Xiamen, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB1,000,000 - 51%
Co., Ltd. 25 April 2012 promotion and consultancy ~ company ARH1,000,0007
THEN (BN BERBRERAT PEEP services EREARR
ZE-ZEMACTRR RERWEERAARE
Fujian ShiFang KaiTai Advertisement Technology ~ Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. 6 December 2014 promotion and consultancy ~ company ARH10,000,0007
RRTIAFRERNEERAA FEEM services BREFAR
—Z-ME+=ARE RERMERREARS
Shenyang DaFang Technology Co., Ltd Shenyang, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB1,000,000 58% -
BEATHEERLA 27 January 2015 promotion and consultancy  company ARH1,000,0007
PEES services BREFAR
ZE-RF-A-ttR REBWEEREARS
Fuzhou QiHaoCangKu E-Commerce Ltd Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of trading, Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% -
BNtEAEETHEARAR 28 August 2015 wholesaling and AREERA AR #1,000,0007T
FEEM e-ecommerce services
ZE-TENAZTNE  RUEBE HERETHERE
Structured entities:
EREER:
Beijing HongXinTu Culture Communication Beijing, the PRC Provision of publishing Limited liability RMB30,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing HongXinTu") 2 July 2004 services company ARH30,000,0007
GRRBEXCEEERAA ([AREEE]) FELR RAE NIRRT BREFAR
“EEMELACH
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe Science and Beijing, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. 14 November 2006 promotion and consultancy ~ company ARH1,000,0007
GREEEENRERAA FELR services BREFAR

B ARy L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 21 BT (&)
(a) Material non-controlling interests () EXRFERER
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT
By subsidiaries: ZWEB AR :
Fujian Fangke Network Technology BEEEMEE KRG
Corporation Ltd. (“Fujian Fangke") BERAAR([EBEER]) 11,635 13,334
Liaoning Aohai EERE - (12,594)
Others H Al (6,680) (5,616)
4,955 (4,876)
Summarised financial information on BEERFEREZVME
subsidiaries with material non-controlling RANMBERBE

interests

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests
that are material to the Group. See Note 34 for

transactions with non-controlling interests.

TXHENEEHAEEMSBEAN
F) S 45 P M 2 ) 5 Y I8 8 R O B 7%
BB EFEERBERNZHR

MsE34 ©

THERERAT —T—

FFF R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 21 WEBAATR (&)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (continued) (o) EXRFEEZERER (F)
Summarised balance sheets for Fujian Fangke BEEENEEABERHME
2015 2014
—E-IF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Current: E
Assets BE 22,645 26,326
Liabilities BfE (5,029) (5,265)
Net current assets mEEEFE 17,616 21,061
Non-current: FEmE -
Assets BE 6,128 6,152
Net assets BEFE 23,744 27,213
Summarised statements of comprehensive income BEEENZHARAREE
for Fujian Fangke
2015 2014
= L —T-lF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥EF T
Revenue WA 22,837 26,821
Loss before income tax B FT 15 74 A S 18 (3.469) (2,980)
Income tax expense Fris®if = = (349)
Post-tax loss from FBICE FBHBIEEE
continuing operations (3,469) (3,329)
Other comprehensive income E b2 A= - -
Total comprehensive loss 2HEIBERE (3,469) (3,329)
Total comprehensive loss allocated to DEEIFERERED
non-controlling interests FHE BB (1,699) (1,631)
Dividends paid to non-controlling [RENEZ g F i) gs)

interests - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests (continued) (a)

Summarised cash flow statements for Fujian

Fangke

21 WERE (&)

BEARFERER (&)
BEEENRESRERUE
2015 2014
—B-IfF —ZT-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Interest received

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in
cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents

at end of year

The information above is the amount before inter-

company eliminations.

REZTDRBRERE
ks (R /FERe

B A B
EfFFH

reEs ()
FSRE 5
RETBMAESFRE
MEEHAABRESFR
RERBREEEEE
Gmi ) /48 58
FNNRERBEEFEER

FROFE MRS FEHEE

(2,761) 5,437
13 9
(228) (1,634)
(2,976) 3,812
(75) (76)

= (287)
(3.051) 3,449
5,993 2,544
2,942 5,993

FREHBRFARAEEHENS
B

THERERAT —T—HAFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU SRR MR

22 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/ 22 Htt R AR EMW
(LOSSES) (BH)
2015 2014
—E2-HF —T—NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Other income: Hpg A -
Sale of newsprint papers HETEAR - 523
Sale of scrap material 5 SR BE AR 74 135
Government grants (note a) Bs B (MisEa) 1,236 2,127
Sundry income LB PN 128 493
1,438 3,278
Other gains: Hibug s :
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QA= 17 315
________ N 315
Other losses: Hibgsia -
Provision for impairment of intangible assets & & E R E & (15,248) -
Provision for legal claims EEREREE - (17,329)
Provision for impairment of FEW 5 T A A A REBT
receivable from Yueyang City SKIBRERE (FEE11)
Intermediate People’s Court (Note 11) - (22,000)
Provision for administrative foreign HNEE #5 B 1T U 51 B e
exchange penalty - (23,160)
____(15.298) (62,489)
Other gains/(losses) — net HapeE  (5E) — 38 (15,231) (62,174)

Note:

GEE

(@)  The Group obtained and recognised as income government
grants of RMB1,236,000 (2014: RMB2,127,000) from the
Fujian, Guizhou and Kunming government authority for the
year ended 31 December 2015 as an incentive for the Group

to expand its business in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RRM

23 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Loss before income tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the

23 BEMEEATHMAX
W AT BLAT BB AEG (B A) A TR

following: Bz ARK:
2015 2014
—E-hF —E-MF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AR¥F T
Cost of newspaper advertising AR S RN
- Media costs — B BE K AN 41,824 95,208
Cost of marketing and promotion services EH R T ERBAAE 18,530 19,459
Cost of online services 4 AR P AN 60 165
Cost of television and radio advertising BELEEESHAR
— Media costs — R A - 916
Cost of distribution management, consulting 7 $5& I « 5438 &2 ED I AR 75
and printing services, and outdoor I RPFINEE R &
advertising services and activities: EED) D ENE
- Raw materials — R 5,461 9,822
— Media costs — g K 1,466 4,304
— Other costs —H MR 263 1,293
Depreciation (Note 7) e (ME7) 8,931 10,170
Amortisation (Note 8) B3y (f3E8) 1,345 3,228
Auditor’s remuneration Z B B 2 3,112 4,759
Operating lease charges in respect of BELHNEFH
land and buildings KREHEWE 5,241 6,108
Net loss on disposal of property, LEYE - BE REHED
plant and equipment (Note 29(b)) Er 8 F 5 (F3E29(b)) 3,934 90
Net loss on disposal of properties held for sale HEFEHEYE D
R FE 3,558 520
Provision for impairment of prepayments, TERIE - ke R EH M EI
deposits and other receivables (Note 11) FIEREREE (MsE11) 33,800 126,097
Provision for impairment of trade receivables, & 5 J& Uy 5% I8 i, (B # 1& -
net of trade receivables written back &2 S EKIERRE
(Note 10) (MFEE10) 15,646 1,042
Write-off of trade receivables (Note 10) i 55 2 5 HE YRR
(HMt3E10) 1,072 -
Provision for impairment of FREHEWERERE
properties held for sale (Note 12) (FzE12) 14,555 1,828
Provision for impairment of property, W WEREERERE
plant and equipment (Note 7) (FF3E7) 2,171 -
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss GNEE (URzs) B R IFEER (1,330) 35
Employee benefit expenses (including EERBNAX (BHEESE
directors’ emoluments) (Note 24) Be) (FizE24) 51,842 73,347
Business tax BN 2,825 3,039

THERERAT —T—HAFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO MR

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

24 EERAAX (BEES

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) <)

2015 2014
—E—EF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Salaries and other allowances e M HE e 46,424 65,528
Discretionary bonus [E=EAAN 856 1,562
Social security costs IR E A 2,475 3,180
Retirement scheme contribution RARFF B R 2,087 3,077
51,842 73,347

(a) Five highest paid individuals () EEESHFAL

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the five
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group included 4 directors (2014: 4 directors), whose
emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented
above and note 39. The emoluments paid/payable to
the remaining 1 individual (2014: 1 individual) during

the year ended 31 December 2015 were as follows:

BE_Z-HAF+_-_AR=+—H
FFE-AEELEERHEALE
EOR(ZE-0OF:WB)EF-
mENM A EXRMHFE39M 27
DR RR - REBEE—FT—RF
TZR=+—HILFE B &
MHET—R(ZFT—EF:—R)A
THB ST

2015 2014
—E-—ERF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Salaries and other allowances e M H ek
Social security costs HIREH

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,

the emoluments of the highest paid individuals of the

Group fall within the following bands:

SO B HRR M

24 BERAFEX (BRESEME)

(&)
(o) AERSHAL (H)
BHE_ZT-—AFR_ZT-—MOF+=
A=+—HLEFE AEEHESH
ATH &N F TIEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2015 2014
—E-5F —T—mF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,0007% T 1 1
25 FINANCE INCOME - NET 25 mEWE - FE
2015 2014
—E-EF —E-mF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ANREFIT
Finance income; B E W
— Interest income on short-term — R EIRIT R
bank deposits MewA 206 1,239
Finance costs: B & R
- Bank borrowings —IRITER 743 (62)
Less: amounts capitalised on B EEBREERTENR
qualifying assets (Note 11(ii)) FIE (MFE1130)) (743) -
Total finance costs mAKAR®E - (e
Finance income — net REWE— FRE 206 1,177

tTHERBRLAA —T-HFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO RRME

26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

26 BB

2015 2014
—ZE-8F —ZT-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETF T
Current income tax BIERFT 153X

Mainland China enterprise income tax PR REDERER
— Current tax — B ERRE 1E 19 1,519
— Under-provision in prior years - BAEFEREETR 67 3,481
86 5,000
Deferred income tax RIS (1,115) (682)
(1,029) 4,318

The Group is not subject to Hong Kong profits tax as it has
no assessable income arising in or derived from Hong Kong
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 26 FifSHiBX (&)

The taxation on the Group's loss before income tax differs AN B BR PG TR AT S 1B R B TE B ER AR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the AREERDEER B S 0 E 88 & F /Y
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the IO EMTFEER B ANES

consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as W

follows:

2015 2014
—E-8fF —ET-mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Loss before income tax br FT1S B R A 18 (168,209) (302,786)
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable REANSEREER
to profits of the entities in the respective ERER M B 7 B
jurisdictions STERTIE (42,052) (77,622)
Tax effects of: NTHEENHIELE:
— Income not subject to tax HEH A (303) (812)
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes — AR X 21,738 59,679
— Tax losses for which no deferred income —RERELERER
tax asset was recognised BEMTIAREE 19,521 19,751
— Effect of tax holiday —BEARANTE - (159)
— Under-provision in prior years - BAEFEREEIRE 67 3,481
(1,029) 4,318
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 25.0% (2014: MEFHBEAB K AE25.0% (ZF—
25.6%). The decrease was mainly caused by the increase in F:256%) METKEIZHNETE
profit before income tax of certain subsidiaries which were EREERCEMSHENNE RGN
entitled to lower applicable corporate income tax rates. B P15 B0 B e A1) 28 DN AT 2R o

+EERERAT —T-AEFH 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU SRR MR

27 LOSS PER SHARE

27 BRER

(a) Basic
Basic loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014 is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue,

including bonus element, during the year.

(a) B
BHE_Z-—LFR_F-—NF+=
A=+—BIEFENEREREE
TIRARRERFA AEIGEER
NERNE HTEBRMETHE
(BREAMNTR)FHE-

2015 2014
=F-1% —TmF
Loss attributable to equity holders of RARERFEEARLER
the Company (RMB’000) (AR®BFIT) (163,792) (304,174)
Weight average number of BT A F 9 &
shares in issue, including bonus (BREAFTxE) (TR)
element (thousands) 933,040 839,942
Basic loss per share (RMB per share) BREAXNEE
(BRARE) (0.1755) (0.3621)

(b) Diluted
Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares, including
bonus element, outstanding to assume conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For the year ended
31 December 2015, the Company had no dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For the year ended 31
December 2014, the Company’s share options granted
under the pre-IPO share option scheme were the sole
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares where the
effect of the assumed conversion of these potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year was anti-

dilutive.

28 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company since its

incorporation.
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BREEEE T RABEFTEIN
TEREMET 8 (BELLNT
RIURBZMBEEEEHEETEN
TaRERBAE - BE_T—T
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TEAEBEHEEYENTEBR -8
E_T-NFE+_A=Z+—AHLIHF
B ARRRBEERAREEAE
PRIt R BB A ——
HEBCH S E2NTBR MZ
ZEFERNFTEINN T BRER BT

RETRREEZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a)

29 BEREBRHE

BOFB R MIEE

Cash used in operations (a) XKFARS
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mF
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt AR TR ARBET T
Loss before income tax B FT ST Al E 18 (168,209) (302,786)
Adjustments for: BRI SR R
Depreciation e 7 8,931 10,170
Amortisation 5 8 1,345 3,228
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE -BE R
plant and equipment FENEETE 23 3,934 90
Net loss on disposal of HEEFEENEERTH
intangible assets 5 -
Provision for impairment of BREMIE H2Rk
prepayments, deposits and H i e IR R E R
other receivables 23 33,800 126,097
Provision for impairment of B 5 RN FIER ARG
trade receivables 10 15,646 1,042
Write-off of trade receivables WIS 5 EWRIE 10 1,072 -
Share of post-acquisition losses of FEAGEE & AR R BB
associates 9 4,115 5,191
Provision for the impairment of REERRINER
interests in associates RERE 9 5,006 46,026
Provision for impairment of FIELEMERERE
properties held for sale 23 14,555 1,828
Provision for impairment of property, 1% BB & & R E B
plant and equipment 7 2,171 -
Provision for impairment of B EERBERE
intangible assets 8 15,248 -
Provision for legal claims FEERBREE = 17,329
Provision for administrative HINBE 45 B 1T IR R 5
foreign exchange penalty - 23,160
THERERAT —T—AFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO RRME

29 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (continued)

(a) Cash used in operations (continued)

(a)

29 BERBRIE (&)

REXBFARE (H)

2015 2014
—E-IF —T-mF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5F AR TR ARBF T
Provision for impairment of JEW 15 T R A RERT
receivable from Yueyang FIERERE
Intermediate People’s Court 11 - 22,000
Finance income BE W 25 (206) (1,239)
Finance costs & B 25 - 62
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR RS 22 17) (315)
Changes in working capital: LEEE
— Trade receivables - B S REWIE 13,408 (7,977)
— Inventories -F5 977 226
— Prepayments, deposits and —ERRE - Ze Rk
other receivables Hofth & Y R IE (3,610) 4,101
- Amounts due from related parties —EWEEA T RIA 23,842 (4,497)
— Trade payables -B5EEHIA (968) 589
- Other payables and —EMERNKIER
accrued expenses JERT = 12,369 3,324
— Amounts due to related parties —ENEEATRIE (188) 1,574
Cash used in operations REEBRARS (16,774) (50,777)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

29 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (continued)

29 BERBRME (&

(b) Disposal of property, plant and equipment b) HEWE BERRE
In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal ReRERTPLHEME BB A&
of property, plant and equipment comprise: BTG FRIEELE:
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Net carrying amount (Note 7) SR FEE (M5E7) 11,540 6,536
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME - BWEREZHD
plant and equipment (Note 23) E 1855 (M5E23) (3,934) (90)
Total consideration from disposal of HEWE - WERZHED
property, plant and equipment R{EESE 7,606 6,446
Disposal of property, plant and ArEMBRARMmEE
equipment due to disposal of I EN
subsidiaries (Note 35) (HM$3E35) (3.802) (5,880)
Cash consideration from disposal of HEME - BE K
property, plant and equipment FENRERE 3,804 566

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

In the statements of cash flows, net cash outflow on

(c) HEMEBAT

ReRnEBXRPHENBRANRS

disposal of subsidiaries comprise: MR
2015 2014
= L —T-lF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Cash consideration received (Note 35) BB SR E (KIFE35) 30 489
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HERE K&
(Note 35) ReFEEEB (M5E35) (2,766) (4,414)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWNBAAINES
subsidiaries included in the cash flows MHEDFEE  FFARE
from investing activities EEMSRERE (2,736) (3,925)

THERERAT —T—AFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

29 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH 29 REREKRMEE (E)

FLOWS (continued)

(d) The principal non-cash transaction was the (d) FZIREXFABESEKZRE
reclassification of trade receivables of RMB7,226,000 AR#7226,000tEF DA AT
to properties held for sale as the customers opted to EHEME WHHREFEIEN
settle their balances by means of transferring their HEHYETASBEN TN EE L
properties to the Group. B4R o

30 COMMITMENTS 30 #&IE

(a) Operating lease commitments (o) REHEQYRIE
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under TR BBEEERANNBERERE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: BN

2015 2014
—E-IF —E-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Not later than 1 year —FUT 3,198 5,105
Later than 1 year and —FUAERAFNUAT
not later than 5 years 3,601 7,792
Later than 5 years HFELE 1,400 1,467
8,199 14,364
(b) Commitment for exclusive cooperative (b) BREEHGBERE
agreements
The future aggregate payments under non-cancellable TR BB B R & (Em=E N BI&
exclusive cooperative agreements are as follows: MEWT
2015 2014
—E-iF —E-mEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Not later than 1 year —FUT = 63,800

Later than 1 year and —FAERAFNLT
not later than 5 years - 227,000
Later than 5 years HFELE - 795,000
- 1,085,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be individuals
(being members of key management personnel, significant
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other
entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties
are individuals. Parties are also considered to be related if

they are subject to common control.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the related
party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms mutually negotiated between the

Group and the respective related parties.

31

SO BRI

BEALXRS
IAGHMBRERMS  HEALBEN
EASBERT S RE SRR ERNE
BHAKEBMEAZE (RZTFA)
ZATARRSERNEEFRE - BEA
TAUREA(BIEEZEBAE TER
%&/&ﬁ7MLﬁ)&E@E% i 7
BHEEALTREA RIBEEALITE

%ﬁﬂ%@Atiﬁ%%mﬁﬁ (oE=Ed
ERIBNARES THRSEEEA
+o

4

p=11]

ARBEERR REBEEALRSTY
HREEBEETZBARE RS HE
THEERRFET

DH
%
> F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31 BAEALXXRF (&)

(a)  The Directors of the Company are of the view that the
following companies/individuals were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2015:

ERAEERR/ UTRAEA
ARRBE_ZT—AF+t_A=1—
BULEFEREAEEETR S HIF
BREBOBEAL:

Name

BB A

Relationship with the Group
HEAEENER

Mr. Siuming Tsui

NS A
Mr. Chen Zhi

BRAESEA

Ms. Zheng Shou Ling
Brie +

China TopReach Inc.

R XIG R B R A A

Fujian ShiFang Digitial Technology Co., Ltd

RETHEBERMBER DA

Beijing Wangxin Gaoke Information
Technology Co., Ltd.

EREESRERRMABR AR

Fujian Lanting Network Technology
Holding Limited Company

REREHERE KD AR AR

Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu

SREAE S A

Mr. Hong Pei Feng

IR g K E

Mr. Yu Shi Quan

RATRESTE

Mr. Wang Ping
TFEAE

Mr. Chen Wei Dong
RIBR L

Ms. Chen Min
BREZ L

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Executive Director of the Company/Chief Executive
Officer of the Group'

ARARBMITES RNEBITHAR

Executive Director of the Company/Former Chief
Executive Officer of the Group?

ARBRRITESE AEEFERENTE?

Spouse of an executive director of the Group

REE-ZHRTESHEMD

Former immediate holding company?

AEEERATS

Controlled by an executive Director of the Group

HAEE - ZRITEFES

Controlled by an executive director of the Company

BARA —BMITEFEH

A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group

AEE-FHNBARNEEZRR

Former executive Director of the Company*

RRFHIHITE SR

Former executive Director of the Company?®

KRB RIMITE S

Executive Director of the Company/Chief Financial
Officer of the Group

ARRATES AEBEERVHBE

Former non-executive Director of the Company®

KRB RIFERITEFS

Non-executive Director of the Company

RRREHITES

Non-executive Director of the Company

RARFAITES



31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Name

BB S

B0t B R R
BEALRS (&)
(@) (@)

Relationship with the Group
BEAEBANER

Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang
AWML E

Liaoning Baixin Media Company Limited
EEAREERERAT
Ms. Chan Ching Vi
BREHE L

Mr. Pan Jian Ping

R EE

Ms. Chen Xiao Min
PR/ 2+

Ms. Zhang Yan Wen
REMEL T

Mr. Xu Kai Ning
AFFRESLLE

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling
Bt

Mr. Li Gang

5 &

Mr. Cai Jian Quan
BEEEE

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren
AELCEE

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry
EMAXE

Former non-executive Director of the Company’
RRBREATES

A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group
AEE-BNBARNEERR

Key management of the Group
AEBEXFEEEAE

Former key management of the Group®
REBERFEZEERABS

Key management of the Group
REEFEEEAR

Key management of the Group
AEBEXFEEEAE

Former key management of the Group
AEERFEEEAR

Key management of the Group
REEFEZEERAR

Former key management of the Group®
AEERFEEBEABS

Independent non-executive Director of the Company
RRARVBIFATES

Independent non-executive Director of the Company
RRARBIUIFFHITES

Independent non-executive Director of the Company

ARBEIFATES

The above names of certain related parties/companies
represented the best effort by management of the
Company in translating their Chinese names as they do

not have official English names.

FIETFREEAL RANEXH
MARARREEBEAERXHEE

hBEmEE RREABARL
BIEREXETE -

THERERAT —T-—HAFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RRME

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) (continued)

Notes:

1. Appointed as executive Director on 6 December 2015,

appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 29 January

2016.

2. Resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 29 January
2016.

3. Ceased to be an immediate holding company on 15 July
2015.

4. Resigned on 25 February 2016.

5. Resigned on 29 January 2016.

6. Resigned on 31 March 2015.

7. Resigned on 17 March 2016.

8. Resigned during the year.
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BEALXRS (&)

(&)

(a)

Wi :

R-ZZE-—RAF+-ARBERE
RITEE R_ZT—XRF—A
THNBERERITRAEH-

RZE—X"EF—A=Z+NBEE
BEHRITE

RZZ-—AFLtATHEATER
HEERAF -

R-ZE—RE-_A-+HBE

RZTB-—RE=ZATLHBEE-

REFEREHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31

(b)

Transactions with related parties:

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the following transactions were
undertaken by the Group with related parties during
the year ended 31 December 2015:

SO BRI

BEALRS (&)

(b) BREAEALETHNRS:
B BRELMIBDFRBEEIN
AEERBRE-Z—AF+ =5
=+ AIEEREEA LT
TRH:

2015 2014
—E-FF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Continuing transactions: RERXS:
Key management compensation FEZEERBABEHM

The amounts below represented expenses paid by the
Group on behalf of China TopReach Inc., a former

shareholder of the Company.

4,936 8,324

AT RIEEAEBRERAR B A
PRE P BRI RAE R A B8
s

2015 2014
—E—RF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Expenses paid on behalf of RER—BHEAL
a related party: B :

A former shareholder of the Company KRB — AR

- 5,450

= 5,450
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31 BAEALXRZ (&)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EEBAEALTFEMLEER
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the balances were RZE-—RFRZZF-—HF+A
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. =+—H #HAEEER 2ERE
2015 2014
—E-1F —T-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Amount due from a former WA AT
shareholder of the Company —BAIRRARIE
- non-trade -¥*ES - 20,444

2015 2014
= —FT-mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARET T

Amounts due from related parties ERBEATRE-FES

- non-trade
Non-controlling shareholders of REBERBERRD
subsidiaries of the Group FEE AR IR R 522 1,790
Key management of the Group REEFZEREAER - 2,130
522 3,920
522 24,364
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

31 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (continued)
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the balances were

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

31

BEEALRS (&)

(c) EBEATEENLGE (&)
R-E—REE-_ZF—NF+_H
—+—HB ZEESAEERRF 28

RARENRERE-

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%® T AREETF T

Amounts due to directors: ENEERE:
Mr. Chen Zhi PR ST A& 159 959
Mr. Siuming Tsui RANER S A 103 -
Mr. Yu Shi Quan REFRESLE 77 66
Mr. Hong Pei Feng T I 5 A 601 109
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu SR LA 43 47
Others HAb 60 50
1,043 1,231

The balances mainly represented the Directors’ fee

payable to the Directors.

%
@ o

FRBIBHEENEENESH

2015 2014
—®2-51% —T-mEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBF T
Amount due to a related party P —BRBEATRE
- non-trade (non-current portion) —¥EZ (FEREBBD)
A non-controlling shareholder of a & E—FEH B AR
subsidiary of the Group —HIEERR R 688 688

The balance due to a non-controlling shareholder is

unsecured, interest-free, with no fixed repayment term

and repayable upon mutual agreement between the

Group and the non-controlling shareholder.

e — % FR IR AR B0 A 2R A R
R R REREEERY  WHEERA
SERZ A IFEBRBIRNOBE HE

i yom
=

i

i

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

32

33

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and wages to the central pension scheme
to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet the

required contributions under the scheme.

The total contributions incurred in this connection for
the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately
RMB2,087,000 (2014: RMB3,077,000). No forfeited
contributions are available to reduce the contribution

payable by the Group in the future years.

STOCK OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by the
shareholders of the Company on 8 November 2010, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 8 November
2010 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any
Directors (whether executive or non-executive, including any
independent non-executive Director) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries; or (iii) any advisors, consultants, suppliers,
customers and agents to the Company or to any of its

subsidiaries (each an “Eligible Person”).
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33

iR k48 7 &

AEEEFERIHNMNBRARNEE R
b 77 T BT P M RO R SRR R & &I
KRB -BHMBARARREEELAF SN
TEMETEDHLRAFRRERE B
K AR R ARAR R 375 T R A o
EEBEMBRRNMARA RAKENK
EEMRANEBANEE - FAMBLRTS
REKREBEENE—FEDRETSE
AT A5 RE B SRR

HE-_FT—HAF+A=+T—H1
FE BRUEEEOHREEORAR
#2,087,000C (ZE—MHEF: AR
3,077,0007T )  8E 452 s it R AT AR 1R >
RIRFEE ARG B BT

B 43 2 R ST &
BREARBABRRR-_Z—ZF+—AN
ABBMEMARER ARAR_F—F
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FEEMME AR ERNES (RT3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 STOCK OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Board may, at any time within 10 years after the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme, make an offer to
grant options to any Eligible Person. The subscription price
for shares granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion

and shall be at least the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date on

which such offer is made; and

(iii)  the nominal value of shares of the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the listing date, being 73,216,512 shares, without
prior approval from the shareholders of the Company. The
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted, and yet to be
exercised, under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time. The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted under the Share Option
Scheme to each Eligible Person (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general

meeting.
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33 STOCK OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company. In
addition, if shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to a participant who is a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, or any
of their associates, in any 12-month period (i) represent in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares
in issue, and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company at the date of
each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant
of option must be approved by the shareholders of the

Company in a general meeting.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is RMB1.00.
The exercise period of any option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years from the
date of grant of the relevant option. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before the exercise
of the option except otherwise imposed by the Board. As at
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, no share option

had been granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-

35

CONTROLLING INTEREST
On 24 December 2014, the Group partially disposed of

30% equity interest in Liaoning Aohai reducing its equity
interest held to 70% as a result of Group restructuring for
no consideration. As a result, an amount of RMB12,520,000
(being the proportionate share of the carrying amount of
the net liabilities of Liaoning Aohai) has been transferred to
non-controlling interests. The difference of RMB12,520,000
between the decrease in non-controlling interest and the

consideration received has been credited to capital reserves.

On 31 December 2014, the Company acquired an additional
49% of the issued shares of Shenyang ZhuQin ShiFang
Media Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenyang ZhuQin ShiFang”)
at a purchase consideration of RMB2,381,000. The carrying
amount of the non-controlling interest in Shenyang ZhuQin
ShiFang on the date of acquisition was RMB2,381,000. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
RMB2,381,000 as a result of this transaction.

CONSIDERATIONS FROM DISPOSAL OF

SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2015
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into sale and purchase agreements with
independent third parties to dispose of controlling
equity interests in certain subsidiaries, namely Guangxi
ShiFang, Fuzhou Aohai, Greatest Ocean, Hung Hing To,
ShiFangCe, Xiamen DingCe, Liaoning Aohai, Guizhou

ShifFang HanDing, ShiFang YaQi and Beijing HongXinTu,

(together, the

considerations of RMB30,000 (the “Disposal”).

“Disposed Companies”) for total cash

The Disposal was completed during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

35 CONSIDERATIONS FROM DISPOSAL OF 35 HEMBLARAWRE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended (o) REBZE-Z—HFE+=-A=+—
31 December 2015 (continued) BLEEEHEHRBAR (&)
The aggregate net assets of the Disposed Companies at PEHEARNEERNFEEMLAE
disposal were as follows: W
2015
—E-5F
RMB’000
AR® T
Net assets disposed of: BEHEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE RFEE 3,802
Intangible assets mEAE 52
Properties held for sale FELREWE 6,830
Trade receivables — net B 5 W KRIE —F 6,975
Prepayments, deposits and TR FRIE - R K H e Y 5k IE
other receivables 9,569
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFHEER 2,766
Trade payables B 5 e RIE (433)
Other payables and accrued expenses E b AT 308 R BRI 2 (31,332)
Income tax payables ERAER (11,124)
Non-controlling interests R 12,908
13
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 22)  HEWE QA UL (H:F22) 17
30
Satisfied by: YRR
— Cash considerations —BaRE 30
— Non-cash considerations —FBRENRE -
30
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35 CONSIDERATIONS FROM DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2015 (continued)

SO B HRRME

35 HEMBLRAWNKE (&)

(a)

REBE-®-"F+=A=+-
-0 PRE )

2015
—E2-hF
RMB’'000
AR®BT
Net cash outflow arising on HEMBARMEENRSRE FEHE
disposal of subsidiaries
Cash consideration received BWEERE 30
Cash and cash equivalents disposed PHERe MRS EEEA (2,766)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARMNIIRE SR HFE stARE
included in cash flows from investing EBMBSRESRE (H:E29(0))
activities (Note 29(c)) (2,736)

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2014

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
entered into sale and purchase agreements with
independent third parties to dispose of controlling
equity interests in certain subsidiaries (“Disposed
Companies”) for total cash considerations of
RMB489,000 (the “Disposal”).

Disposal, 30% equity interest in Beijing HanDing was

As a result of the

retained by the Group and is accounted for as an

investment in an associate by the Group.

The Disposal was completed during the year ended 31
December 2014.

(b)
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BLEFEHENREB LA

REBEZ_ZT-—MOF+_A=+—
HIEFE ANEEEFIE=F7F]
VEEWZE WEHERETHER
A ([EHERA]) M ERRAE
moBBEeNRERAKKEA89,000
T([HESE]) ARETHES
B AKSEERBILRERN30%
PRARE R W2 ARSI AR —FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

35 CONSIDERATIONS FROM DISPOSAL OF 35 HEMBLARAWRE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended b) RBE=ZF-—HNFE+=ZA=1+—
31 December 2014 (continued) BLEEEHEHRBAR (&)
The aggregate net assets of the Disposed Companies at PEHEARNEERNFEEMLAE
disposal were as follows: W

2014
—E-mEF
RMB'000
AREEF T
Net assets disposed of: EHEREE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE RFEE 5,880
Intangible assets mLEE 94
Inventories rE 3
Trade receivables — net B 5 W RIE —F 6,478
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE - R & R A A FERIE
other receivables 11,808
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS FEMEER 4,414
Trade payables B 5 BN RIE (1,353)
Other payables and accrued expenses H Ath & A FRIA N B ET R X (23,160)
Income tax payables ERAER (3,715)
Non-controlling interests SRR 70
519
Fair value of equity interest of REBMREBILRESRAEZD
Beijing HanDing retained NABE (M)
by the Group (Note i) (345)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 22)  H &K B R & MUz (FiFE22) 315
489
Satisfied by: SRNDIE-E
— Cash considerations —BaRE 489
— Non-cash considerations —FBRENRE -
489
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BB HRRMEE

35 CONSIDERATIONS FROM DISPOSAL OF 35 HEMBARWRKE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended b) RBE=ZF-—HNFE+=ZA=1+—
31 December 2014 (continued) BLEEEHEHRBAR (&)
2014
—ZT-mEF
RMB’000
ARBEF T
Net cash outflow arising on HEMBARFMEENRESRE FE
disposal of subsidiaries
Cash consideration received BHReRE 489
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of PEHEReRASEMEIER (4,414)

Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRAR MRS R HFE 5t A

included in cash flows from investing KREESMEBEESMRE (MFE29())
activities (Note 29(c)) (3,925)
Notes: B 5T
(i) The fair value of 30% equity interest in Beijing HanDing ()  ANEBAMREILTERI0%KA
retained by the Group is determined based on the B R B ERRIR L O EG
proportionate share of the net asset value of the said P ARMEAEFEERE -
company.
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 37, “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which

requires significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it
is not possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any
contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed
could have a material impact on the Group's financial

position.

The Group reviews for any significant outstanding litigations
in order to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors
considered are the nature of the litigation, legal processes
and potential level of damages, the opinions and views
of the legal counsel, and the management’s intentions to
respond to the litigations. To the extent the estimates and
judgements do not reflect the actual outcome, this could
materially affect the results for the year and the financial

position.

(a) Lawsuits between the Group and Shenyang

Media Corporation

Regarding the judgement of first instance issued by
the Shenyang Intermediate People’s Court on 30
August 2012 in favour of Shenyang Media Corporation
against Liaoning Aohai, the Group made a provision of
RMB17,250,398 in the year ended 31 December 2014
after a series of attempts to appeal with unsatisfactory
results. To facilitate the streamlining of the Group's
structure, Liaoning Aohai was disposed of to an
independent third party of the Group on 30 November
2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Enforcement order issued by Yueyang City
Intermediate People’s Court against certain
Group subsidiaries
Regarding the two enforcement judgements issued by
Yueyang Intermediate People’s Court on 22 September
2013 in favour of Yueyanglin Paper Co., Ltd. against
Fuzhou Aohai and Kunming AoHai, the Group made
a provision of RMB22,000,000 in the year ended 31
December 2014 after a series of attempts to appeal
with unsatisfactory results. To facilitate the streamlining
of the Group’s structure, Fuzhou AoHai and Kunming
AoHai were separately disposed of to independent
third parties of the Group, on 12 May 2015 and 31

December 2013 respectively.

37 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company issued 200,000,000 shares at HK$0.8 each on
19 February 2016 (representing 16.6% of the total enlarged
ordinary share capital issued) to 2 third parties. Proceeds
from the share issuance amounted to HK$160,000,000
(approximately RMB134,730,000).

On 22 February 2016, the Group entered into a movie
investment agreement (the “Agreement’) with Shanghai
Hehe Film Investment Co., Ltd., pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to acquire 55% of the target income right
of a movie, Ip Man 3, for 30 years. The consideration for
the target income right amounted to RMB110,000,000 or
equivalent HK$ translated at central parity rate published by
People’s Bank of China. The consideration has been satisfied
by HK$131,168,000 (approximately RMB110,451,000) on 23
February 2016.
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BB HRRMEE

38 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 38 ARFINEEEBREREE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )
2015 2014
—E—-hF —E—-mF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARET T AREFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B R RKIEE 21 = 4,767
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables AR RIER
H b e W 5k IR 149 314
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L BT BB N B FRIB 20,968 206,746
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEeEEER 94,566 1,660
___ 115683 208,720
Total assets wWEE 115,683 213,487
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to KATERIFEAEWN
equity holders of the Company =
Share capital AR 86,295 72,687
Share premium &% 15 % (8 636,180 556,440
Equity-based compensation reserve VA B e A B
B 1 a = -
Accumulated deficits 25T Al a (624,218) (456,307)
Total equity RREE 98,257 172,820
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables H h FE T 5RI8 241 240
Amounts due to subsidiaries XN NGIE ] 17,185 40,427
17,426 40,667
Total liabilities wmesE 17,426 40,667
Total equity and liabilities EnkEaEEE 115,683 213,487
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BB HRRMEE

38 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 38 KRAAIMEEEBERRRAE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 28 (&)
(continued)
Note a: Reserve movement of the Company Msta : RNRRIAFEEE

Equity-based

Accumulated compensation

deficits reserve

LBR#E

RERHN

e FN e

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBFTT

At 1 January 2014 RZZE—NHE—HA—H (220,462) 13,850

Loss for the year FNEE (249,695) -

Lapse of equity-based compensation LA BR 4 7 EE T A 8 B 2 13,850 (13,850)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZ-Z—NF+_A=+—HK

—ZE—RF—HF—H (456,307) -

Loss for the year FNEE (167,911) -

At 31 December 2015 R-_FE—RAF+-_A=+—H (624,218) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 30 EENERER (T8 (2F

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION kBl) (38622F ) 383k -
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES RE (HEEENRER) RO
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (5£622CGE)REAR LWHRA
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT RENKE)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EERTHAHNHE
The remuneration of every Director and the chief FEEFRITHAZNFHET 0
executive is set out below: ™
For the year ended 31 December 2015: BE-Z-AF+t=HA
=E+—HLEFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

AEARE (FRRAMAENELR) EEFRENBHEAIRGHHE

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director's

other services

Remunerations i connection

paid or with the

Employer's receivable  management

Estimated contributionto i respect of  of the affairs

money  a retirement accepting of the Company

Discretionary Housing value of benefit office or its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other henefits scheme as director  undertaking Total

HES

BREE

LY

KELESH

iR ABEZES  FRENERL

RfEAN THE BUEAE  BESAD
Name #2 e e BELL HERE HHEWEE EER  BUNEHH EhHme @3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTR  ARETR ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR

Executive Directors §178%
Mr. Chen Zhi (Former Chairman 54 (M E B3

and CEO, Note (a)) BEHTE M) - 1,220 - - - - - - 1,220
Mr. Hong Pei Feng (Note (b)) &% 4 (H3()) - 536 - - - - - - 536
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (Note () R4 (M) - 536 - - - 12 - - 548
Mr. Yu Shiquan RFERE - 734 - - - 9 - - 743
Mr. Siuming Tsui (CEO, Note (d))  #/\BA %&£

(THER W) - 103 - - - - - - 103

Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Chen Wei Dong (Note (&) BfER %4 (M) 90 - - - - - - - 90
Ms. Chen Min Rt 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wang Ping (Note (f)) TG4 (KED) 30 - - - - - - - 30
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTEE

Directors
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren BELCEE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry — EREEE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Cai Jianguan BRErE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Zhou Xu Xiang (Note (g)  BIA% £ (i) 16 - - - - - - - 16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
(continued)
(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014
(Restated):

Certain of the comparative information of Directors’
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2014
previously disclosed in accordance with the predecessor
Companies Ordinance have been restated in order to

comply with the new scope and requirements by the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

30 EENmRER (FE (AF
B (58622F) 5383k

QF (HBEESNEER) RH

(B622CE)REBLEMRAY
RENKE) (&)

(A) EBRTBARNHE (&)

BE-F-OF+=7
=+—BLFE(SE) :

SERTARIR AT (R BRGI) Pt ERE
E-E-MNE+-_RA=+—-HLF
EMEFEMENE TAEL&RER

ETEY - AETEE (REHEDD

(%6225 ) W F SO0 MR E

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
FEARE (TRRALALENELR) EZARENRBO AR URME:

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director's
other services
Remunerations  in connection
paid or with the
Employer's receivable  management
Estimated  contributionto inrespectof  of the affairs
money a retirement accepting of the Company
Discretionary Housing value of benefit office  or its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme as director  undertaking Total
HES
BHER
FRFARA
HELXEH
RINET AERES  MREOHER
EftiEfln HE 1L ERAE REEHL
Name i e ¢ BBEL EREY AHEREE EEHR RUNEM e @3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETTR AEETT ARETT ANEETR ARETT AEETT ANEETTR ARETT AEETT
Executive Directors HiES
Mr. Chen Zhi (Former Chairman [R5 %4 (A E#
and CEO, Note (a)) ERATE Mi@) - 1932 - - - - - - 1932
Mr. Hong Pei Feng (Note (b)) g% 4 (HizE(b)) - 1,440 - - - - - - 1440
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (Note (<) R4 (i (0) - 1,005 - - - 12 - - 1,017
Mr. Yu Shiguan RiFEEE - 833 - - - 8 - - 841
Non-executive Directors FU7ES
Ms. Chen Min Rt 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wang Ping (Note (f)) TTAE (M) 120 - - - - - - - 120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HRRMEE

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 30 EENERER (T8 (2F

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION kBl) (38622F ) 383k -
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES RE (HEEENRER) RO
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (8622GE)REABLTRA
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT RENEKE) (&)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(continued)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EERITHREAINHE (&)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE-Z-—NF+=A
(Restated): (continued) =E+—BLEFE (KE5):

(%)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
REARE (TRRANANENEL ) EFMRENRBEAHELMBE:

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director's

other services

Remunerations in connection

paid or with the

Employer's receivable  management

Estimated ~ contributionto i respectof  of the affairs

money a retirement accepting of the Company

Discretionary Housing value of benefit office  or its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme as director  undertaking Total

HEE

BHER

FRFARA

HELEZH

BIER HEREF  AREMER

EfpENE HEH  BUBAL  REEAS
Name # e e [yl EREY  AHEREE EIHR  EENEH  RUOB @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETT  AR¥TR  ARETR  AR¥TRT  ARMTR

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE

Directors
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren BECERE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry  EREA %4 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Cai Jianquan BERAE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan (Note (h))  £E 5 (Hz() 60 - - - - - - - 60
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BB HRRMEE

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(continued)

30 EENmRER (FE (AF
B (58622F) 5383k
QF (HBEESNEER) RH
(B622CE)REBLEMRAY
RENKE) (&)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EERTHARZNMS (&)
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014

(Restated): (continued)

BE-_ZT-HmE+=A
=+-RLFE(REZ):
(%)

X

Notes:

(a)

Resigned as CEO of the Company on 29 January 2016
and resigned as Chairman of the Board on 25 February
2016

Resigned on 29 January 2016

Resigned on 25 February 2016

Appointed on 6 December 2015, and appointed as CEO
of the Company on 29 January 2016

Appointed on 1 April 2015

Resigned on 31 March 2015

Appointed on 19 November 2015, re-designed as

a non-executive Director on 20 February 2016 and
resigned on 17 March 2016

Resigned on 9 June 2014

(a)

RZTE—XNEF—A=Z+NHEE
ARBEBHAITE RZT—~F
AT+ hABBIESESER
RZTE—R"F-—AZ+ThBEE
RIEBE—-RE-A-+HABIE
RZE—AF+-_A~BEZ
F-RZZF—R"F-—A=-+hHE
ZEBRRRITHREBE
R-E—RAFNA—BEZE
RZE—RF=ZA=+—HET
RZE—RF+—A+NLBEZ
- RZZE-—R"F_AZTHAE
IFRITEERR_T—XF=HA
+EBET

R-Z—WFERANABE

THERBRLAA —T-HFFR
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BB HRRMEE

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(continued)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the Directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2014: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the Directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2014: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available directors’ services (2014: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There is no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of Directors, bodies corporate
controlled by and entities connected with all Directors
of the Company as at 31 December 2015.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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RG> (58622F) 5383k
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RENKE) (&)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

EERNKERN
FABEEEC WS EKRERE
ARAKEN (=T —mF &) -

EEZRILERER
FA-HBEEEC WK KRR
EARILEREN (=T —mF:
&) -

RRMEERBEOE=FX
R E
RNEE-_ZT—HAFE+-_A=+—
HIEFE ARaMERRRES
REMEAMNE=ZAZHRE(ZZ
—POF £ o

EBEUNES ZZEESEH
WEABBRZEESHNEE
ERASHEANER EEXEK
Hith X B HWER
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